

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

Leader Strategies to Reduce Sales Personnel Attrition

Nicole Lea Hawkins *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Advertising and Promotion Management Commons</u>, and the <u>Marketing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Nicole Lea Hawkins

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Yvette Ghormley, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Brenda Jack, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2016

Abstract

Leader Strategies to Reduce Sales Personnel Attrition

by

Nicole Hawkins

MAM, Bellevue University, 2009

BS, Bellevue University, 2006

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

February 2016

Abstract

Because sales are the primary revenue generators for insurance companies, reducing attrition of sales agents is essential to organizational success. The purpose of this single descriptive case study was to explore strategies that 6 Nebraskan sales leaders within the insurance industry used to reduce attrition. Participants had experience in sales leadership and the attrition of sales personnel and were able to provide insight into the unique perspectives on attrition in the insurance industry. Participants met the following criteria: (a) manage an insurance sales office or organization or (b) held an insurance sales leadership position for at least 1 year and (c) are actively employed in the insurance industry. Data were collected from interviews with sales leaders, focus groups with sales representatives, and documentation from organizational websites for data triangulation. The expectancy theory framework guided the data analysis process. The data analysis process involved using thematic analysis which allowed coding data that related to the expectancy theory and research question. Data analysis also included the uncovering of repetitive themes and patterns and synthesizing results. Five themes emerged from data analysis: (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates. Organizational leaders may apply findings in other, similar settings to strategize community growth initiatives encouraging young people entering the workforce to stimulate local economies. Other possible benefits include reduced customer issues and claims.

Leader Strategies to Reduce Sales Personnel Attrition

by

Nicole Hawkins

MAM, Bellevue University, 2009

BS, Bellevue University, 2006

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

February 2016

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my daughter, Maya, for giving me the opportunity to show you that you can do anything in this life if you set your mind to it. I hope always to set a positive example for you and support you throughout your adventures the way my mother supported me. To my mother, Karen, thank you for the continuous encouragement you have provided throughout my life. You have never stopped believing in me. Thanks to my furry baby, Asia, for being my late night homework pal. You are the greatest best friend anyone could hope for.

Acknowledgments

I am so thankful for the support and guidance I have received throughout the doctoral study process. First, I want to thank my family for believing in me and encouraging me. Thank you for your support. Next, I am so appreciative of the guidance provided by the Walden Faculty: Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, Dr. Yvette Ghormley, Dr. Pamela Smith, Dr. Gene E. Fusch, Dr. Brenda Jacks, and Dr. Freda Turner. Your wisdom throughout my journey has been invaluable, and I will take it with me forever. Last, and certainly not least, I wish to thank all of the individuals who participated in this study. I definitely couldn't have completed this work without you. Your contributions were invaluable, and the time each of you spent to share your perspectives shows you care about this industry as much as I do. You were the inspiration for this study, and I am grateful for the opportunity to have established relationships with each and every one of you!

| List of Tables x |
|--|
| Section 1: Foundation of the Study |
| Background of the Problem |
| Problem Statement |
| Purpose Statement |
| Nature of the Study |
| Research Question |
| Interview Questions |
| Conceptual Framework |
| Operational Definitions |
| Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations |
| Assumptions |
| Limitations |
| Delimitations |
| Significance of the Study |
| Contribution to Business Practice |
| Implications for Social Change10 |
| A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature |
| Expectancy Theory |
| Leadership19 |
| Followership |

Table of Contents

| Attrition | |
|---|----|
| Transition | 41 |
| Section 2: The Project | |
| Purpose Statement | |
| Role of the Researcher | |
| Participants | |
| Research Method and Design | 46 |
| Research Method | |
| Research Design | |
| Population and Sampling | |
| Ethical Research | |
| Data Collection Instruments | 51 |
| Data Collection Technique | |
| Data Organization Technique | |
| Data Analysis | |
| Reliability and Validity | 60 |
| Reliability | |
| Validity | |
| Transition and Summary | 62 |
| Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change | 63 |
| Introduction | 63 |
| Presentation of the Findings | 64 |

| Emergent Theme 1: Leadership |
|---|
| Emergent Theme 2: Organizational Commitment72 |
| Emergent Theme 3: Compensation and Rewards78 |
| Emergent Theme 4: Training and Development90 |
| Emergent Theme 5: Candidate Selection Process |
| Findings Related to Expectancy Theory 110 |
| Findings Related to Business Practices113 |
| Applications to Professional Practice117 |
| Implications for Social Change119 |
| Recommendations for Action121 |
| Recommendations for Further Research124 |
| Reflections126 |
| Summary and Study Conclusions128 |
| References |
| Appendix A: Interview Questions |
| Appendix B: Letter of Cooperation |
| Appendix C: Consent Form – Sales Leaders |
| Appendix D: Consent Form – Sales Representative |
| Appendix E: Confidentiality Agreement |
| Appendix F: Focus Group Questions |

List of Tables

| Table 1. Leadership, Sales Leaders | 66 |
|---|----|
| Table 2. Motivation, Sales Leaders | 67 |
| Table 3. Leadership, Sales Representatives | 69 |
| Table 4. Motivation, Sales Representatives | 69 |
| Table 5. Culture and Engagement, Sales Leaders | 73 |
| Table 6. Culture and Engagement, Sales Representatives | 74 |
| Table 7. Communication, Sales Leaders | 75 |
| Table 8. Communication, Sales Representatives | 76 |
| Table 9. Compensation and Rewards, Sales Leaders | 80 |
| Table 10. Compensation and Rewards, Sales Representatives | 80 |
| Table 11. Salary and Commissions, Sales Leaders | 81 |
| Table 12. Salary and Commissions, Sales Representatives | 83 |
| Table 13. Incentives, Sales Leaders | 84 |
| Table 14. Incentives, Sales Representatives | 85 |
| Table 15. Employee Benefits, Sales Leaders | 87 |
| Table 16. Employee Benefits, Sales Representatives | 88 |
| Table 17. Training and Development, Sales Leaders | 91 |
| Table 18. Training and Development, Sales Representatives | 93 |
| Table 19. Mentorship, Sales Leaders | 94 |
| Table 20. Mentorship, Sales Representatives | 94 |

| Table 21. Candidate Selection, Sales Leaders | 97 |
|--|-----|
| Table 22. Candidate Selection, Sales Representatives | 98 |
| Table 23. Interviewing, Sales Leaders | 99 |
| Table 24. Interviewing, Sales Representatives | 101 |
| Table 25. Right Fit, Sales Leaders | 102 |
| Table 26. Right Fit, Sales Representatives | 105 |
| Table 27. Candidate Understanding, Sales Leaders | 106 |
| Table 28. Candidate Understanding, Sales Representatives | 106 |

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organizational leaders seek to retain sales employees and reduce attrition (Alao & Adeyemo, 2013; Amine, Chakor, & Alaoui, 2012; Murphy & Li, 2012). Insurance industry sales leaders experience sales personnel retention issues such as compensation, marketing, management, training, growth opportunities, and quota expectancies (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Insurance sales leaders face challenges in finding replacement talent with fewer individuals entering the insurance workforce; however, leaders can build sales talent by retaining productive sales employees (Mayer, 2013). Insurance firms can increase retention and stability by making attrition solutions a focus of the company (Messah & Kubai, 2011).

Bass and Avolio (2010) identified leadership as a means to develop the workforce and create a competitive edge. Insurance sales leaders who revise organizational expectations will create sustainable programs to improve employee performance and increase retention (Sadri, Weber, & Gentry, 2011). Although many leaders operate in one critical area within an organization, insurance sales leaders have the complex role of managing product, pricing, marketing, sales, servicing, and research (Boles, Dudley, Onyemah, Rouziès, & Weeks, 2012). Insurance sales leaders have a broad scope of responsibility within the organization in addition to coaching sales personnel to high performance. Leaders with an extensive range of responsibility require a multitude of leadership capabilities to balance generating profits and managing staff performance (Murphy & Li, 2012). Insurance sales leaders who increase the motivation of sales personnel may affect a salesperson's decision to leave the company and decrease organizational attrition rates.

Background of the Problem

Insurance sales personnel attrition is an ongoing problem for organizational leaders (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Honan (2013) reported that 71% of insurance agents terminate employment within the first 2 years, which causes an attrition issue. Messah and Kubai (2011) stated that the retention rate is approximately 14% for insurance agents employed for 4 years or more. Bakker (2013) and Carpenter (2011) observed that the following factors increase attrition: (a) mobile propensities, (b) competitive position, (c) human resource management practices, and (d) job mobility. As the attrition rates rise, organizational costs increase (Messah & Kubai, 2011).

Low employee productivity leads to decreased performance and output (Doan, Rosenthal-Sabroux, & Grundstein, 2013). If a sales representative leaves the organization, customers might pursue other services or products through another company, resulting in a loss of revenue (Laddha, Singh, Gabbad, & Gidwani, 2012). Insurance sales leaders who improperly allocate resources may miss opportunities to improve employee retention (Doan et al., 2013). Carlson et al. (2012) determined indirect attrition costs include operational disruption and demoralization of the organizational membership. Some insurance sales leaders focus on annual attrition rates without addressing causes to reduce employee losses (Doan et al., 2013). Numerous researchers have determined why employees leave companies; however, few scholars have focused on insurance sales personnel attrition (Deconinck & Bachmann, 2011; Long, Ajagbe, Nor, & Suleiman, 2012; Swider, Boswell, & Zimmerman, 2011).

Problem Statement

Insurance sales leaders encounter a loss of knowledge and a decrease in competitive advantage because of employee attrition (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Employee attrition rates average 26% for the insurance industry (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2014). The general business problem was insurance sales leaders are unable to reduce high attrition rates. The specific business problem was some insurance sales leaders lack strategies to reduce attrition.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single descriptive case study was to explore the strategies that sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. The study took place in Nebraska. The target population consisted of 6 insurance sales leaders from 6 insurance agencies. I conducted interviews with participants to gain perspectives on how leadership approaches to reducing sales personnel attrition may contribute to social change by improving insurance services. My study may also provide leaders with strategies to improve organizational efficiency and sustainment, culture, and knowledge management.

Nature of the Study

Researchers choose from three methods when conducting a study: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed-methods. A qualitative method is a process of seeking to understand *how* or *what* (Bernard & Bernard, 2013) and provides the opportunity to

explore a social phenomenon (Rowley, 2012). Qualitative inquiry was appropriate for this study to assess viewpoints and foster a broad scope of descriptive information. Quantitative research provides an understanding of *how much* (Yin, 2014), whereas the mixed-methods approach is a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods (Sinkovics & Alfoldi, 2012). The purpose of the study was to explore how and what rather than how much; as a result, I did not select a quantitative or mixed-methods approach for the study.

Researchers also choose the study design (Chenail, 2011). The five most common qualitative designs are (a) case study, (b) grounded theory, (c) phenomenological, (d) narrative, and (e) ethnography (Knoblauch, 2013). Yin (2014) defined a case study as an investigation of why and how people implement decisions, and with what result. In case study designs, investigators research programs, processes, individuals, or groups bound by time and activity (Bernard & Bernard, 2013). The objective of this study was to investigate leadership strategies and perspectives over a defined period; for this reason, the qualitative single descriptive case study design was appropriate. The grounded theory design was not appropriate because the approach requires new theory development; I did not need to establish a new theory, but rather to learn from perspectives on existing approaches. Phenomenology involves the collection of a large sample over a brief period (Moustakas, 1994), which was beyond the scope of the study because a broad cross section and a large participant pool were not available. The narrative design involves collecting life stories (Bernard & Bernard, 2013), which was not pertinent to my study. Investigators use an ethnographic design as a long-term process to study a group of

individuals linked by common beliefs, values, or traditions (Knoblauch, 2013); my intent was to explore sales leader perceptions, not a specific culture.

Research Question

The following central research question guided the study: What strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition? I designed the interview questions to elicit responses that would answer the central research question.

Interview Questions

- 1. What is the state of sales personnel attrition within your organization?
- 2. What attributes affect attrition of sales personnel within your organization?
- 3. What strategies do you employ to reduce attrition?
- 4. What is your perspective on the strategies applied in your company to reduce attrition?
- 5. What strategies do you employ to increase employee engagement?
- 6. What is your perspective on the effect motivation has on sales personnel attrition in your organization?
- 7. What strategies do you employ to increase the motivation of sales personnel within your organization?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework guiding the study was the expectancy theory (ET). Vroom (1964) established ET in 1964 to describe how an individual's actions relate to the result of the perceived gain. Vroom introduced motivation as a means for leadership to manipulate the work environment. Motivational systems include (a) participative management, (b) self-managed teams, (c) just-in-time training, and (d) pay contingent on performance (Romzek, 2012). Leaders can increase or decrease employee motivation through the use of various workplace factors (Lunenburg, 2011). Vroom develped the theory based on (a) force, (b) valence, and (c) expectancy (Hunter, 2012). Individuals apply an amount of effort known as a motivational force when pursuing an action. Valence refers to the degree to which an action's outcome motivates a person; expectancy is the probability of achieving the outcome (Romzek, 2012).

The practice of ET transcends to the relationship between a leader and subordinates; insurance sales leaders can use motivation to manipulate individual performance (Hunter, 2012). Employees engage with organizations through (a) psychological contracts, (b) perceived organizational support, (c) trust, and (d) leader-member exchange (Tekleab & Chiaburu, 2011). Insurance sales leaders might increase employee engagement through motivation. Sales leaders need to understand the effect leadership actions can have on employee engagement (Evans, McFarland, Dietz, & Jaramillo, 2012; Gruman & Saks, 2011). Leaders who focus on employee engagement may affect (a) employee performance, (b) attrition rates and costs, and (c) organizational processes and efficiencies.

I used ET to develop the conceptual framework for this study. I explored strategies sales leaders can use within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. The relationship between ET and leadership styles is notable because leaders use motivation as part of the standard leader-follower relationship (Bitektine, 2011). The issue of leadership motivation as an attrition factor related to understanding whether leadership might affect the attrition of sales personnel. Insurance sales leaders might increase motivation using leadership styles by adjusting the insurance sales leadership style to match the follower needs (Turner, 2012).

Operational Definitions

Dysfunctional attrition. Dysfunctional attrition occurs when organizations encounter the loss of productive employees (Carlson et al., 2012).

Employee engagement. Employee engagement is the relationship between the employee and the organization in which employees connect with others and perform work at a satisfactory level (Gruman & Saks, 2011).

Employer groups. An employer group is a company with two or more employees who acquire insurance for their employees (International Risk Management Institute, 2011).

Full range leadership. Full range leadership is a combination of transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership attributes (Bass & Avolio, 2010).

Functional attrition. Functional attrition is a type of attrition that results in organizations replacing unproductive employees with productive employees (Carlson et al., 2012).

Involuntary attrition. Involuntary attrition is the movement of employees across the company's membership boundary and includes employee dismissal, retrenchment, or death (Carlson et al., 2012).

Laissez-faire leadership. Laissez-faire leadership is a leadership style in which a leader does not interfere and gives employees the freedom to work in their way (Chaudhry & Javed, 2012).

Organizational commitment. Organizational commitment is the employee's desire to remain a member of the business and an individual's belief in the company's value system (Tuna et al., 2011).

Organizational commitment behaviors (OCB). Organizational commitment behaviors are positive employee behaviors that surpass expectations; the employee takes action beyond normal work roles (Chiang & Hsieh, 2012).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

An assumption is a statement understood to be true; however, it is not provable (Mushtaq, 2012). Four assumptions affected this study. First, I assumed that participants could articulate experiences related to the phenomenon. Second, participants would answer interview questions honestly and truthfully. Third, I was capable of capturing, analyzing, and understanding participant responses. Fourth, patterns and themes would emerge from participant responses, which I could identify and categorize.

Limitations

A limitation is a condition beyond the researcher's control, which might restrict the study (Wahyuni, 2012). I identified four limitations in the study. First, I used a small population of 6 participants, which limited the generalizability of results. A small population size prevents generalization of the research findings to a broader population (Yin, 2014). Second, limiting the research breadth by exploring the perspectives of sales leaders. Third, varying degrees of leadership experience limited the study. Fourth, my skills and abilities as the main instrument for data collection limited the depth and richness of the data collected. The researcher is the primary instrument in the data collection process, which makes the data collection limited by the researcher's experience and knowledge (Yin, 2014).

Delimitations

Delimitations are the boundaries of the study (Bernard & Bernard, 2013). I limited the study population to sales leaders of insurance organizations located in Nebraska. Six sales leaders from 6 sales agencies composed the limited population. The study also included six sales representatives engaged in focus groups on the topic. The use of interviews as the secondary instrument for data collection may have resulted in the unintended exclusion of useful information that could have been acquired through other means.

Significance of the Study

The study is of value to insurance businesses because personnel attrition affects the employee, the organization, business partners, and the customer base. Insurance sales leaders might encounter organizational disruption in work processes, low productivity, knowledge gaps, and a decrease in competitive advantage because of attrition (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Some insurance sales leaders are aware of the effect leadership behaviors have on sales personnel attrition; however, others are not aware of the problem (Schwepker & Good, 2012).

Contribution to Business Practice

My study contributes to business practices by providing strategies to reduce attrition, which may benefit leaders, sales representatives, and customers. Leaders who focus on reducing attrition may identify ways to improve organizational efficiency, culture, knowledge management, and sustainment (Pryor, Humphreys, Taneja, & Toombs, 2011). Sales representative consistency might also improve business retention, which may lead to improved benefits and service (Honan, 2013). According to Mosley and Patrick (2011), when leaders and followers have a positive relationship, the business prospers in terms of agility and flexibility. Industry leaders might benefit from the study through the sustainment of viable employees and sales personnel, which increases the retention of accounts. Through sustainment and an increase of business with critical accounts, insurance companies may increase retention (Schwepker & Good, 2012). Sales representatives who remain with the current employer have broader knowledge of the carrier culture and product portfolio (Schwepker & Good, 2012). Maturity within the business strengthens relationships within territories (Schwepker & Good, 2012). Sales representatives might benefit from increased job satisfaction, career development, and career stability. Sales representatives with stable jobs may experience increased stability in their personal lives, which may positively influence their families and surrounding communities (Schwepker & Good, 2012).

Implications for Social Change

My findings of the strategies insurance sales leaders apply to reduce attrition may affect social change by improving the services provided by insurance carriers. Insurance customers rely on an insurance policy to protect their homes, families, and health (Potter, 2013). For example, an individual purchases a long-term disability policy for protection in case of a long-term injury or illness. Insurers protect customers by providing funds for unexpected events (Schwepker & Good, 2012). Leader strategies to reduce attrition in the insurance industry might increase retention of key accounts and decrease business attrition. Providing critical accounts with consistency in sales representatives may lead to dependable customer benefits and improved service (Schwepker & Good, 2012). The end user of the product might benefit by acquiring continuous coverage from the same company, resulting in fewer claims issues and less time spent on new coverage enrollment (Schwepker & Good, 2012).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Because sales are the primary revenue generators for businesses, reducing attrition of sales agents is essential to organizational success (Berry-Stolzle & Eckles, 2011). I reviewed a broad range of literature to assist in my exploration of the central research question: What strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition? My review included sources from the Walden University Library, including the following databases: ABI/INFORM Complete, Academic Search Complete, Business Source Complete, Emerald Management Journals, ProQuest Central, PsycINFO, SAGE Premier, and ScienceDirect. Search terms included the following: *attrition cost, employee attrition, expectancy theory, full range leadership, impact of attrition, leadership, motivation, multifactor leadership questionnaire, organizational turnover, sales personnel attrition, sales personnel turnover, sales turnover, turnover*, *transactional leadership*, *transformational leadership*, and *turnover cost*. The 111 works in the literature review included 106 peer-reviewed articles (95%), one dissertation (1%), and four seminal business books (4%). Ninety-seven out of 111 works (87%) had been published between 2011 and 2015.

Attrition of sales personnel could result in loss of knowledge, loss of competitive advantage, and attrition costs affecting organizations (Berry-Stolzle & Eckles, 2011; Jackson, Meyer, & Wang, 2012; Laddha et al., 2012). Honan (2013) noted that attrition of sales personnel in the U.S. insurance industry is 71% for new hires and 60% for tenured sales representatives. Sales agent challenges include remote management, nonroutine roles, broad responsibilities, and high levels of pressure. Palrecha, Spangler, and Yammarino (2012) argued that managers receive inadequate management and leadership training. Messah and Kubai (2011) and Shaw (2012) argued that employee attrition increases costs and disrupts organizational processes. Dimaculangan and Aguiling (2012) asserted that leadership may provide a solution to reduce attrition within organizations. My review of the literature substantiated the need to explore strategies insurance sales leaders can use to reduce attrition.

I used ET as the conceptual framework for the study and provided background on ET in the literature review. Organizational leaders who understand the effect leadership has on reducing attrition may help provide organizational solutions to benefit leaders and followers. I began my literature review with ET as the basis for leader and follower exchanges. Next, my review of sales leadership included the many elements of the leadership style. In addition, my literature review included a section on followership as related to establishing leader and follower relationships. My summary contained (a) turnover models, (b) attrition costs, (c) the effect of attrition, (d) employee intentions, and (e) sales personnel attrition and retention.

Expectancy Theory

Vroom (1964) established ET to describe how an individual's actions occur as a result of perceived gain. Vroom developed the theory based on (a) force, (b) valence, and (c) expectancy (Hunter, 2012). According to ET, individuals apply effort when pursuing an action in expectation of gaining a reward (Romzek, 2012). ET may influence the actions sales leaders take to increase motivation. Insurance sales leaders might apply ET strategies to increase sales personnel motivation, which may increase sales performance and reduce attrition. For example, sales leaders provide sales personnel with compensation and rewards based on performance; therefore, sales personnel apply effort with an expectation to gain financial rewards. Vroom (1964) introduced motivational systems as a means for management to manipulate the work environment. Motivational systems include (a) participative management, (b) self-managed teams, (c) just-in-time training, and (d) pay contingent on performance (Romzek, 2012). Leaders can increase or decrease employee motivation through the use of various workplace factors (Lunenburg, 2011).

Hunter (2012) posed that motivational systems underly effective leadership, performance, and organizational transformation. Employees establish motivation through relationships and situations occurring within the organization (Hunter, 2012); motivation is intrinsic or extrinsic (Dysvik & Kuvaas, 2010; Rizwan & Mukhtar, 2014). Emotions affect motivations, and motivations affect the decision-making process and satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the outcomes (Hunter, 2012).

Individual influences. Dysvik and Kuvaas (2010) conducted a cross-sectional survey of 400 organizations in multiple industries and found that intrinsic motivation has an effect on attrition. Intrinsic motivation is an employee's perception of the environment and potential outcomes (Rizwan & Mukhtar, 2014). On the other hand, goal orientation is how the individual interprets and responds to situations (Dysvik & Kuvaas, 2010). Dysvik and Kuvaas (2010) determined that mastery-approach goals are related to attrition when moderated by intrinsic motivation; however, when motivation is high, goals are irrelevant. Dysvik and Kuvaas found that changing the moderation factor causes employees who have high levels of goals to look for opportunities. Leaders who understand employee behaviors may adjust the approach for employee types.

Individuals may possess behaviors that affect the dynamics of relationships and performance. In a study of 380 frontline service employees, Dewettinck and van Ameijde (2011) found that employees who perceive empowerment from leadership were more inclined to remain with the organization. Dewettinck and van Ameijde offered that employee attitudes relate to the employee's intention to stay. Leaders may decrease employee attrition by emphasizing employee commitment, satisfaction, and loyalty. Employees may exert self-efficacy and means efficacy to strive for higher performance (Walumbwa, Cropanzano, & Goldman, 2011). Leaders might reinforce positive individual behaviors and attitudes through positive leadership and organizational factors. **Organizational influences.** Rizwan and Mukhtar (2014) observed that employee satisfaction influences employee turnover. Rizwan and Mukhtar identified workplace environment and employee empowerment as critical factors relating to employee satisfaction. Miao, Evans, and Shaoming (2009) also noted that individuals find motivation in extrinsic forms, and outcomes drive personal behaviors; therefore, sales managers must incorporate challenging goals. Leaders who seek to increase employee satisfaction also increase employee productivity, devotion, and sincerity (Hunter, 2012). Sajjad, Ghazanfar, and Ramzan (2013) determined that motivation was directly correlated with reduced attrition. Employees demonstrate signs of motivation through client service, teamwork, and attitude (Sajjad et al., 2013).

Employees who fully engage in an organization contribute to the organization's success and competitiveness. Personal attitudes, behaviors, and performance affect the employee's ability to identify with the organization (Gruman & Saks, 2011). The employee's level of engagement drives individual and organizational factors (Chiang & Hsieh, 2012). Employees with an increased level of motivation affect organizational factors such as (a) organizational performance, (b) productivity, (c) retention, (d) financial performance, and (e) shareholder return (Gruman & Saks, 2011). Gruman and Saks (2011) identified management relations and supportive supervisor roles as means to increase employee engagement.

Leadership and motivation. Gangwar, Padmaja, and Bhar (2013) observed that leadership behaviors fall into two categories: decision-making and motive or orientation toward work. Leaders can affect employee motivation through leadership style (Gangwar et al., 2013), and the leadership style should align with employee needs (Buble, Juras, & Matic, 2014). Leaders experience multiple dimensions of leadership orientation: (a) self, (b) employees, (c) organization, and (d) situations (Gangwar et al., 2013); therefore, leaders should understand how leader orientation affects leadership styles and employee behaviors. Organizational leaders might increase company success through leadership, followership, and employee motivation and engagement (Buble et al., 2014; Fowers, 2012). Arbak and Villeval (2013) argued that leaders have various motives for leading. Leaders serve organizations by guiding employees to achieve goals; leader reasoning can fall into three categories: (a) predisposition for kindness, (b) desire for social ranking, (c) or expectation of reciprocation (Arbak & Villeval, 2013). Despite leadership motives, effective leaders may affect employee motivation, which might influence organizational performance.

Bass and Avolio (2010) defined leadership in terms of (a) traits, (b) behaviors, (c) influence, (d) interaction patterns, (e) role relationship, and (f) occupation of an administrative position. In addition, Bass and Avolio identified a correlation between transformational leadership and motivation. Motivation is a behavior that drives individuals to achieve organizational and individual goals, and transformational leaders encourage or influence the motivational behavior. In contrast, Gillet, Gagne, Sauvagere, and Fouquereau (2013) defined motivation in terms of intrinsic and extrinsic factors. Gillet et al. determined that intrinsic factors have a stronger correlation with leadership style than extrinsic motivation. Individuals experience intrinsic factors through achievement of work, recognition, and advancement (Houkes, Janssen, de Jonge, &

Bakker, 2014). Alternatively, individuals encounter extrinsic motivational factors from work conditions, supervisor relations, salary, and company policies (Houkes et al., 2014).

Leadership, motivation, and attrition. Pepe (2010) identified perceived supervisor support (PSS) and job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and attrition as motivational factors. As leaders look to retain quality employees, leaders must understand the relationship between PSS and attrition. When employees increase the perception of PSS, organizational commitment and job satisfaction increase, which decreases attrition (Pepe, 2010). Dawley, Houghton, and Bucklew (2010) determined that PSS and perceived organizational support (POS) directly correlate to attrition with job fit as a partial mediator. Leaders may contribute to POS through organizational rewards for job performance and employee contributions. Employees who understand and value the organization and vision become emotionally attached, thereby increasing organizational commitment (Pepe, 2010). When employees perceive that leaders value the employee's work and well-being, PSS increases, thereby increasing POS and decreasing attrition (Dawley et al., 2010). Leaders should provide high levels of employee support to ensure PSS and POS.

Managers are communicators and ambassadors for senior management and the intermediaries between senior leaders and employees. Managers with a high level of leader-follower exchange see an increase in the employee's perception of providing input into the decision-making process (Farndale, Van Ruiten, Kelliher, & Hope-Hailey, 2011; Lugonja, 2011). Followers who have an opportunity to influence the organizational decision-making process express higher levels of organizational commitment and trust in

senior leadership (Dewettinck & van Ameijde, 2011). In turn, managers who increase trust and employee perceptions of senior management also increase employees' commitment to the organization.

Leaders who demonstrate a high level of organizational support and psychological empowerment increase performance and organizational citizenship behaviors (Chiang & Hsieh, 2012). Kraimer et al. (2011) presented that organizational support relates to reducing attrition; however, a positive correlation exists only when career opportunity is high. Employees perceive the relationship with leaders as part of organizational support (Kraimer et al., 2011). Han and Jekel (2011) determined that high exchange between leaders and followers correlates with low attrition intention. Managers and leaders who form relationships with employees increase job satisfaction and lower attrition.

Employees and leaders should have an established level of trust in the leaderfollower relationship (Nunkoo & Ramkissoon, 2012; Schneider & Schroder, 2012). An insurance sales leader demonstrates transactional leadership by providing rewards, and in turn the salesperson performs a job (Walumbwa et al., 2011). When one individual no longer reciprocates within the relationship, the relationship is broken. A transactional leader bases follower relationships on the contingency of give and take (Walumbwa et al., 2011). For example, leaders establish a bond of trust with followers (Chiaburu et al., 2011). If the insurance sales leader breaks the established trust, the follower is reluctant to continue the role of following the leader's vision or mission (Nunkoo & Ramkissoon, 2012). Correspondingly, sales personnel might consider leaving a company if they are not provided with motivation and vision to inspire a higher level of performance (Messah & Kubai, 2011).

Salesperson motivation. Moberg and Leasher (2011) compared motivation in multiple cultures and determined that sales employees in Western cultures find higher motivation in achievement, relationships, and power than those in Eastern cultures. Moberg and Leasher found that salesperson motivation correlates with job performance. In a similar study, Phani (2010) determined that sales personnel find motivation in attainable goals that correlate with corporate goals. Phani presented an attainable goal is one in which 70% of the individuals can obtain the goal. Sales personnel build trust with a manager who shares the same values, respect, and organizational commitment (Phani, 2010). Employee trust may increase individual motivation and decrease attrition.

Leadership

Sales leadership. Sales leaders demonstrate behavior-based control using high levels of directing daily activities and rewarding outcomes based on performance (Chaffin, 2012). In contrast, sales leaders displaying outcome control encourage and base sales rewards on sales and financial results (Mishra, 2014). Sales leaders must understand the sales employee's value to the organization and emphasize communication and coaching rather than analyzing quotas and overseeing daily tasks (Boyatzis, Good, & Massa, 2012; Mishra, 2014). Salespeople may adjust individual behaviors according to the sales leader's behaviors; therefore, the sales leader's skills and behaviors affect sales performance and the sales unit's effectiveness (Campbell, 2012). Palrecha et al. (2012) noted that the lack of formal sales management and leadership training is a continuous issue for sales leaders.

Full range leadership. Leaders practicing full range leadership use a range of leadership styles, which provides organizational leaders the opportunity to increase organizational efficiency and establish a mutually satisfying relationship with followers. Burns established the themes transformational, transactional, and laissez-faire elements in 1978; however, Bass founded full range leadership in 1985 (Avolio et al., 2010). Bass and Avolio (2010) segment full range leadership into the following leadership styles (a) transformational, (b) transactional, and (c) laissez-faire or passive/avoidant. Leaders exhibit various behaviors, which fall into eight categories ranging from no leadership to transformational (Avolio et al., 2010). Transformational leaders produce a change in follower attitudes, performance, satisfaction, and efficiency. Leaders who balance transformational and transactional leadership may increase organizational effectiveness (Bass & Avolio, 2010). Bass and Avolio (2010) expanded on past leadership paradigms such as (a) autocratic, (b) democratic, (c) directive, (d) participative, (e) task, and (f) relationship-oriented leadership. Bass and Avolio broadened the traditional leadership styles, providing a range of leadership ideas and linking each style with a defined outcome. According to Bass and Avolio, the three expected results of the full range leadership are extra effort, effectiveness, and satisfaction. Full range leaders might meet employee expectations through understanding follower needs.

Transformational leadership. Transformational leaders are influential to followers, look beyond self-needs, and excel for the organization's best interest. Tharmin

(2012) established transformational leadership as (a) idealized influence, (b) inspirational motivation, (c) intellectual stimulation, and (d) individual consideration. Conversely, Avolio et al. (2010) later separated idealized influence into idealized attributes and idealized behaviors. Transformational leaders promote high performance through positive leadership and influencing follower behaviors. Farahani, Taghadosi, & Behboudi (2011) represented that transformational leadership results in follower inspiration, awe, and empowerment. Dike (2012) and Lee, Cheng, Yeung, and Lai (2011) confirmed transformational leaders have followers who exert exceptionally high effort, high commitment, and willingness to take risks. Employees receiving empowerment are likely to commit to the organization (Dike, 2012). Conversely, Zacher and Jimmieson (2012) suggested training management in transformational leadership as a way to increase follower commitment and motivation. Zacher and Jimmieson (2012) used 61 employees to evaluate learning goal orientation as a mediator of transformational leadership, organizational citizenship behavior (OCB), and sales productivity. Zacher and Jimmieson determined transformational leadership correlates with OCB and sales productivity with learning goal orientation as a moderator.

Organizational commitment is an influencing factor of leadership. Farahani et al. (2011) engaged insurance experts to examine the relationship between transformational leadership and organizational commitment. Farahani et al. used emotional intelligence as a moderator for the two variables. Farahani et al. indicated a positive correlation between organizational commitment and transformational leadership. Farahani et al. also defined a relationship between emotional intelligence and transformational leadership and

organizational commitment. Farahani et al. highlighted the need for effective leaders and positive cultures through building transformational leaders. According to Farahani et al. the results could differ if conducted in other countries and provinces besides the Qazvin province. In contrast, Dimaculangan and Aguiling (2012) presented ethics, organizational fit, and organizational commitment as employee factors, which influence the termination decision-making process. Dimaculangan and Aguiling (2012) used a sample of 387 salespeople to determine if transformational leadership and the factors of ethics, organizational fit, and commitment directly decrease the salesperson's intention to terminate employment. Sales personnel and other employees encounter influential factors during the attrition intention process (Aydogdu & Asikgil, 2011; Trese, 2011). Transformational leaders may provide a solution to attrition issues at the individual and organizational levels.

Transformational leaders influence organizations and employees and employee behaviors affect leaders. Lee et al. (2011) associated transformational leadership with organizational components such as (a) team performance, (b) sustainability, (c) organizational commitment, (d) culture, (e) motivation, and (f) values. Lee et al. argued leadership styles and team performance are important in determining the quality of service in a team setting. Lee et al. collected data from 192 employees within 32 operational teams in 15 retail banks in Macau, China to investigate if variables of a team affect team performance (Lee et al., 2011). The variables examined include cohesion, team leader job satisfaction, and competence (Lee et al., 2011). Lee et al. found one dimension of transformational leadership and two dimensions of team performance significantly affect service quality. Employee's influence transformational leaders through cultural values, ethical ideologies, value orientation, and positive and negative influences (Smith, 2011). Smith (2011) found similar results in a sample of 135 voluntary undergraduate students and concluded young marketing employees hold ethical ideologies, and personal, cultural values ultimately influence transformational leadership (Munir, Rahman, Malik, & Ma'Amor, 2012; Smith, 2011). Transformational leaders may have a direct effect on employee job satisfaction.

Transactional leadership. Leaders should focus on each follower independently and assist in developing employees to the highest potential. According to Skipton Leonard, Lewis, Freedman, and Passmore (2013) transactional leadership is targeted toward reward and consequence as an effort to gain a following. On the other hand, Bass and Avolio (2010) revealed that transactional leaders possess the behaviors of (a) contingent reward, (b) active management by exception, and (c) passive management by exception. Bass and Avolio ascertained transactional leaders do not create, change, or transform followers or companies. Transactional leaders accept the standard goals and culture of the organization (Skipton Leonard et al., 2013).

Transactional leaders set standards and expectations and through contingent rewards relay what a follower receives if successfully meeting the desired results. Dimaculangan and Aguiling (2012) defined the following transactional-based behaviors: (a) recognition, (b) informal rewards, (c) approval, and (d) contingent on a highperformance level. Relatedly, Bass and Avolio (2010) determined constructive transactional leadership results in an agreement to accomplish goals and ties rewards or consequences to the achieved results. Bass and Avolio clarified transactional leadership in a corrective form provides standards. Leaders acting in a passive form allow mistakes to occur before taking action, while active form leaders proactively monitor for errors. Passive avoidant leaders avoid confrontation and decision-making until problems escalate to an unavoidable level (Pryor et al., 2011). Leaders practicing active management by exception evaluate performance and trace issues back to job completion to determine the cause (Skipton Leonard et al., 2013). Conversely, Williams (2014) evaluated the idea of self-serving leadership behavior causing negative consequences and predicted highpower leaders' self-allocations align with effective leadership beliefs; whereas, performance information influences low-power leaders.

Hetland, Hetland, Andreassen, Pallesen, and Notelaers (2011) found a positive relation between transactional leadership and motivation and an adverse correlation between laissez-faire leadership and motivation. Alternatively, Gregory, Moates, and Gregory (2011) determined a positive relationship between transactional leadership, laissez-faire leadership, and motivation (Gregory, Moates, & Gregory, 2011). Chaudhry and Javed (2012) conducted a descriptive a questionnaire on 278 Pakistani employees within the private and public banking industry. Chaudhry and Javed evaluated the effect of transactional and laissez-faire leadership on employee motivation and identified a leadership style consistent with accelerating global organizations. Leaders maintain a responsibility to set goals, move the business forward, and achieve objectives. Leaders affect productivity, follower attitudes, and attrition. Leader qualities affect attrition within businesses (Chaudhry & Javed, 2012). According to Chaudry and Javed, transactional leaders lead personnel by providing rewards for employee efforts. Alternatively, employees who break rules or or fail to perform well, receive punishment. The manager's role can either prosper or depress a subordinate's motivation. Chaudhry and Javed defined motivation as the desire and persistence to obtain goals. Chaudhry and Javed revealed a high correlation between transactional leadership and motivation; however, transformational leadership was not as instrumental. Chaudhry and Javed also noted laissez-faire leadership results in low motivation because of the lack of engagement with management. Laissez-faire leaders lack commitment to managing or choose a non-action approach. In contrast, expert employees may not require constant management; therefore, leaders trust subordinates to self-manage and control the decision-making process (Gregory et al., 2011). Laissez-faire leaders may provide support and answer questions, which allows subordinates the freedom to make decisions and act on their own.

Leadership and employee performance. Leaders recognize the affect empowerment and organizational identification have on employee performance (Zhu, Sosik, Riggio, & Yang, 2012). Zhu et al. (2012) sampled managers to understand follower characteristics in correlation with transformational and transactional leadership. Zhu et al. determined a positive relationship between transformational and transactional leadership and follower psychological empowerment and organizational identification. Employees commit to organizations if a level of organizational identification is present (Zhu et al., 2012). In contrast, Hargis et al., (2011) presented transformational and transactional leaders practice learned behaviors, which affect employee commitment and organizational performance (Hargis et al., 2011). Hargis et al. used the multi-factor leadership theory, leadership tenets, to focus on individual, group, and organizational behaviors. Hargis et al. (2011) found transformational and transactional styles transition across industries; however, businesses should customize behavioral-based leadership programs. Hargis et al. used dominance and relative weights analysis to focus on the effect of team efficacy, cohesion, and job performance. Hargis et al. demonstrated transformational leadership as the main contributor to team potency and cohesion and leadership effectiveness. Hargis et al. found transactional leadership significant in performance and effort. Leaders who consistently practice transformational behaviors may enhance transactional behaviors. Effective leaders might present both behaviors and have a broad range of styles at their disposal.

Leadership and employee engagement. Leader views and level of engagement affect followers. Bushra et al. (2011) and Shah et al. (2011) determined a correlation between transformational leadership on employee outcomes and the mediation of empowerment as a factor in transformational leadership, organizational commitment, and innovativeness. Comparably, Groves and Larocca (2011) conducted a study of 122 organizational leaders and 458 employees to determine consistent, and specific, values, which influence followers and follower beliefs. Groves and Larocca found transformational leadership linked to followers and their views and recommended additional studies and education in management to encourage engagement. Leaders may increase employee motivation, satisfaction, organizational commitment, and organizational fit through practicing a transformational leadership style along with possessing a balance in transactional leadership.

Leadership challenges. Leaders face challenges with remote employees. Liang, Chan, Lin, and Huang (2011) determined social distance affects job satisfaction and task performance. Liang et al. conducted a questionnaire on 266 employees to assess the effect of social distance on leadership styles in relationship to job satisfaction and task performance. Leaders might also negatively affect an employee's level of trust and motivation based on geographic location, which demonstrates the effect a leader has on employee satisfaction. Berber and Rofcanin (2012) presented evidence of followers demonstrating behaviors similar to the behaviors portrayed by leaders within the organization. Employees at any organizational level might display leadership characteristics. In contrast to Liang et al. (2011), Berber and Rofcanin (2012) provided support that the laissez-faire leaders effectively manage remote employees. Leaders use a laissez-faire leadership style for increased flexibility and organizational responsiveness, which allows non-management and empowerment of employees (Berber & Rofcanin, 2012).

Followership

Followers play a vital role at every level of the business. Yung and Tsai (2013) suggested the success of prominent leaders creates a base of loyal, capable, and knowledgeable followers. Leaders who treat followers as valued employees within a parallel belief system, produce enriched individuals and companies (Yung & Tsai, 2013). Followers should possess a high level of organizational understanding to identify how motivation contributes to organizational success. Mosley and Patrick (2011) provided a model predicting similar results, which demonstrates the individual, dyad, and organizational success. Through a holistic approach to leadership, leaders may positively affect the trust, behaviors, and cultural characteristics of subordinates. Mosley and Patrick built the model on the foundational elements of leadership, fit, perception, trust, motivation, performance management, and culture theories. Mosley and Patrick presented multiple case studies and literature reviews, which support leadership actions affecting follower behaviors and perceptions. Leaders and followers increase the ability to adapt to change by creating mutual respect and an interactive relationship. Conversely, Zacher and Jimmieson (2012) suggested training management in leadership strategies to increase follower learning goal orientation. Zacher and Jimmieson evaluated learning goal orientation as a mediator of leadership, organizational citizenship behavior (OCB), and sales productivity. Participants included 61 casino employees. Zacher and Jimmieson determined a correlation between leadership, OCB, and sales productivity with learning goal orientation.

Followership is a determinant element of the leader-follower relationship. Kottke, Pelletier, and Agars (2011) conducted two qualitative studies to define confidence as a new followership variable. The construct of confidence determines if followers support leadership (Kottke et al., 2011). Kottke et al. included themes of leadership, followership, and organizational change to understand employee views on leadership. Students completed 381 surveys to validate the Top Leadership Direction Scale (TLDS) and 293 employees from multiple industries provided individual level validation of the construct (Kottke et al., 2011). Kottke et al. suggested future scholars seek to understand leadership from the follower's viewpoint. Followers must support a leader's vision for the organization or employees will lack engagement and confidence (Kottke et al., 2011). Conversely, Inyang (2013) provided a contrasting view of leadership and the effect on followership. Inyang conducted a qualitative survey and in-depth critical and contextual analysis of literature to explore the dark side of leadership. Participants provided input to determine causes of leadership derailment and strategies to overcome derailment (Inyang, 2013). Inyang found leadership derailment is prominent in organizations and leaders, followers, situational, and environmental factors are the cause. Leader failures cause organizational disruption and loss of reputation. Followers affected by leader derailment may suffer from low morale and low productivity. Leaders might experience restricted career progression (Inyang, 2013). Inyang determined leader derailment remedies of (a) coaching, (b) development, (c) feedback, and (d) self-awareness. Whereas, Hernes and Braenden (2012) explored followership by seeking employee responses to unsatisfactory management behaviors. Participants from various organizations contributed to qualitative interviews to provide insight into manager behaviors and employee reactions to unsatisfactory events (Hernes & Braenden, 2012). Hernes and Braenden provided that employees may exhibit attrition behavior when managers exhibit imperfect behaviors.

Leaders who empower followers might see increased engagement and decreased attrition. Mendes and Stander (2011) addressed leadership empowerment behaviors as a means to improve retention. Mendes and Stander determined leader empowering behavior, role clarity, and psychological empowerment correlate to work engagement. Allio (2013) discussed that followers have a responsibility to remain informed and exercise courage in challenging situations. Mendes and Stander noted work engagement predicts an employee's intentions to leave an organization; therefore, scholars should focus on leadership and followership in tandem, and the leadership process should acknowledge the psychology of followers.

Attrition

Leadership styles have long been a topic of interest in the area of attrition and retention. Bass and Avolio (2010); Hassan, Fuwad, and Rauf (2010); and Bushra, Usman, and Naveed (2011) are examples of researchers who have conducted studies on various leadership styles. Pradeep and Prabhu (2011) researched employee behaviors about leadership programs; however, no scholars have explored the sales person's view on leadership style as a solution to the attrition issue.

Long et al. (2012) examined the topic of attrition to discover individual and organizational influences. Other scholars have built models around the human capital theory and data mining to assist with sales representative retention studies (Alao & Adeyemo, 2013; Davieson, 2011). Although some researchers have provided a deeper understanding of the causes and solutions to attrition, the research on sales personnel attrition is scarce (Alao & Adeyemo, 2013; Davieson, 2011). Davieson (2011) discussed leadership styles as the leading cause of attrition.

Attrition models. Employee attrition has been an area of scholarly interest for decades and stemmed the build of multiple turnover models. March and Simon's (1958) examined job satisfaction and opportunities; birthing the job attitude period. March and Simon used the process model for turnover to evaluate the performance and termination decision-making process of employees. Long, Yusof, Kowang, and Heng (2014)

expanded on the original attrition study by March and Simon. Mobley (1977), Griffeth and Hom (1988), Hom and Griffeth (1991), and Hom and Kinicki (2001) demonstrated support for March and Simon's theory by conducting various turnover studies (Deconinck, & Bachmann, 2011; Zhang, Fried, & Griffeth, 2012). Conversely, Long et al. (2014) determined turnover research primarily concentrates on the macro level issues.

Mobley (1977) introduced the intermediate linkages model. Mobley created a sequential model that evaluates an employee's intention to terminate employment at each stage of the psychological process. Mobley set the foundation for organizational commitment and job satisfaction research. Griffeth and Hom (1988) used the Mobley turnover theory to survey 244 nurses on factors related to attrition. Conversely, Griffeth and Hom found a lack of evidence for the explanatory constructs and no correlation between turnover factors and theory. As a result, the Griffeth and Hom altered the model to demonstrate an employee's intention to quit takes place prior to the plan to search.

Bryson and MacKeron (2013) and Deconinck and Bachmann (2011) identified various job characteristics that affect attrition. Bryson and MacKeron (2013) and Lunenburg (2011) attributed job satisfaction to job characteristics and work well-being in comparison to turnover. On the contrary, Saeed et al. (2013) evaluated attrition related variables such as (a) compensation, (b) job characteristics, and (c) development. Bryson and MacKeron, Lunenburg, and Saeed et al. asserted that job characteristics influence organizational commitment, which affects the attrition rate. Conversely, Deconinck and Bachmann (2011) applied the foundational models to specific behaviors and sectors to evaluate attrition about to organizational commitment in the sales industry. Zhang et al. (2012) revealed progressive research on turnover models that identifies issues beyond nonattitudinal causes. Consistent with Zhang et al.'s theory, Kazi, Aziz, and Zadeh (2012) researched the organizational causes of attrition. Kazi et al. identified the organizational causes of attrition as (a) firm stability, (b) pay level, (c) industry, and (d) work situation. Kazi et al. offered strategies to decrease attrition should involve increasing employee loyalty through human resource programs and ensure competitive pay.

Attrition costs. Organizational leaders incur several attrition costs associated with employee terminations. Messah and Kubai (2011) categorized attrition into direct and indirect costs. Leaders should identify associated attrition costs and evaluate the effect on the organization. Davieson (2011) determined direct attrition costs account for (a) recruiting and hiring employee replacements, (b) hiring temporary employees, and (c) new hire training and development. Relatedly, Hausknecht and Holwerda (2012) stated attrition costs are significant in terms of training, recruitment, and advertising. Messah and Kubai presented indirect attrition costs as harder to quantify and less understood. Indirect attrition costs include (a) a reduction in productivity, (b) resource reallocation, (c) reduced competitive advantage, and (d) consumer loss (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Honan (2013) discussed intangible effects on organizations. During an attrition situation, employees encounter relationship issues and loss of morale and organizational leaders see a decline in business sustainability (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Other individuals then need to fill the vacant role, thereby creating a further disturbance. Employees may have unclear perceptions of the cause attrition, which may result in the demoralization of

remaining employees and deteriorating employee attitudes or morale (Carlson et al., 2012).

Insurance companies incur direct and indirect costs when failing to prevent attrition. Insurance sales leaders in the United States invest an average of \$65,000 to \$215,000 annually in developing new sales representatives (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Experienced sales personnel can earn progressively more than new sales representatives could, thereby increasing the risk companies face in turnover costs (Messah & Kubai, 2011). When an employee terminates employment, the employee replacement cost affects the company's bottom line (Messah & Kubai, 2011).

Leaders facing higher attrition rates may also deal with the disruption of organizational systems and loss of control. Shaw (2012) revealed that attrition rates cost organizations in terms of safety and revenue. Shaw determined the loss of human and social capital results directly affects profitability and performance. Relatedly, Messah and Kubai (2011) offered that sales leaders who disregard attrition rates incur expenses associated with the rebuilding of territories and relationship building. Messah and Kubai (2011) identified attrition as an evident issue within insurance companies; however, the causes have not been determined.

Effect of attrition. Employees who leave the organization create issues beyond attrition costs (Bosse, 2011). According to Arokiasamy (2013) senior managers, human resource professionals, and psychologists find the effect of attrition is a major challenge to organizations and is the most costly. Arokiasamy conducted a qualitative study to determine reasons for attrition and the effects on productivity. Arokiasamy classified

causes of attrition into two categories: organizational and job factors. Arokiasamy noted organizational practices and procedures as organizational factors and salary and advancement as job factors. Conversely, Nelson and Daniels (2014) determined managers and supervisors have a direct relationship to attrition. Managers associate productivity issues and customer service levels with attrition rates (Nelson & Daniels, 2014; Von Hagel & Miller, 2011). Similar to Arokiasamy (2013), Nelson and Daniels administered a questionnaire to employees to analyze the correlation between (a) employee tenure, (b) perceptions, (c) job satisfaction, and (d) employee intentions to quit. Nelson and Daniels determined a relationship between attrition and the perception of job satisfaction and the need for leaders to implement solutions for attrition issues.

Leaders might have the resources and tools needed to prevent or reduce attrition. Gardner, Wright, and Moynihan (2011) recommended leaders use human resource systems to reduce voluntary attrition through tracking and managing individual, group, and organizational outcomes. Gardner et al. conducted a study of 62 food distribution business units. Participants included surveys of 20 human resource managers and 1748 employees. Gardner et al. viewed attrition as a collective phenomenon to determine collective affective commitment as the mediator for motivation and empowerment enhancing practice and aggregate voluntary attrition. Gardner et al. found a correlation between human resource practices and voluntary attrition; however, collective affective commitment is not a mediator of the relationship. Conversely, Marschke, Preziosi, and Harrington (2011) argued companies should channel resources toward employee retaining initiatives rather than attrition causing issues. Organizational leaders should focus on defining retention strategies to prevent attrition proactively. Bhatnagar evaluated four models using multilevel modelling (MLM) and structural equation modeling. Bhatnagar conducted a qualitative study that included a sample of 312 knowledge workers within multiple Indian organizations. Bhatnagar (2013) found psychological contract, rewards, and recognition increase innovation and decrease attrition while acting as mediators for perceived supervisor support, innovation, and attrition intention.

Employee intention process. Employees make attrition decisions based on various individual and organizational factors. Chen, Ployhart, Thomas, Anderson, and Bliese (2011) determined the affects job satisfaction has on employee attrition intentions. Chen et al. conducted a meta-analysis of over 100 empirical studies to understand the employee decision-making process (Chen et al., 2011). Chen et al. documented the negative relationships between job satisfaction, attrition intentions, and attrition. The higher level of fit an employee has with the company and the stronger the connection with others; the greater the sacrifice when the individual decides to leave the company (Jacobs, 2012; Lobburi, 2012). Sacrifice is leaving something of value as related to work (Zhang et al., 2012), whereas, fit equates to embeddedness affecting retention. Likewise, Zhang et al. (2012) revealed leaders maintain responsibility for attrition preventative measures which include (a) onboarding, (b) career planning, (c) development, and (d) work-life balance. Leaders may see an increased need to improve employee satisfaction and organizational commitment because of increases in attrition. Correspondingly, Aydogdu and Asikgil (2011) examined questionnaires on 100 production employees and

82 service employees to understand organizational influences on attrition intention. Aydogdu and Asikgil presented job satisfaction and organizational commitment as the primary influencers on attrition intention. Aydogdu and Asikgil determined lower job satisfaction results in higher attrition intention and attrition had a negative relationship with job satisfaction and organizational commitment.

Leaders might seek to reduce attrition intention by increasing job satisfaction and organizational commitment. Valentine, Godkin, Fleischman, and Kidwell (2011) dispersed a self-report questionnaire to 781 healthcare and administrative employees and a comparative sample of 127 sales and marketing employees. Valentine et al. determined a correlation exists between group creativity and organizational ethics with an increase in job satisfaction; therefore, high ethics and job satisfaction result in lower attrition. Valentine et al. recommended leadership create ethical work environments and promote group creativity. Conversely, Yucel (2012) evaluated employee attrition intention through job satisfaction and organizational commitment. Participants included 188 Turkish manufacturing employees. Yucel found increased job satisfaction produces high levels of employee commitment and decreased attrition intention. Employees demonstrating a lack of commitment could lead to resentment, absenteeism, or attrition intention (Banks et al., 2012; Du Plooy & Roodt, 2013). Banks et al. (2012) confirmed a lack of commitment and presence of resentment contributes to inequity. Inequity is the employee's exchange with the company, which may lead to absenteeism or attrition intention (Banks et al., 2012; Waldman, Carter, & Hom, 2012).

Leaders might improve attrition by allowing employee job control and decreasing job stress factors. Cuyper, Mauno, Kinnunen, and Makikangas (2011) examined the relationship between perceived employability, job control, and attrition intention. A sample of 1314 university workers and 308 hospital workers. Cuyper et al. found a correlation between perceived employability and attrition intention when a lack of job control exists. Similarly, Chen, Lin, Lien (2014) surveyed 255 Taiwanese bank employees to develop an attrition plan model. Chen et al. found role conflicts, role ambiguity, and role overload positively affects job stress. Chen et al. determined high levels of job stress increase the intent to terminate employment.

Sales personnel attrition and retention. Sales organizations are the front end of the insurance business (Potter, 2013). Sales employees within the insurance sector provide valuable services and products to society to protect individuals in time of need; sales representatives sell directly or through an intermediary (Potter, 2013). Examples of insurance products include (a) property and casualty, (b), life, (c) employee benefits, and (d) medical and health. Sales managers train to be sales representatives and learn products and processes. However, few receive little to no management training; as a result, no guidance exists on how to increase employee satisfaction and reduce attrition. Boles et al. (2012) examined sales attrition and the integration of variables in a multilevel framework. Participants included representatives from multiple nations. Boles et al. developed a model that future scholars may use to examine factors influencing salesperson retention and attrition. The multilevel framework is a four level integration in which each entity of salesperson, team environment, sales manager, and organization influences the next (Boles et al., 2012). Boles et al. demonstrated the effect management has on sales personnel attrition and the employee decision-making process. Conversely, Messah and Kubai (2011) conducted a quantitative study of three life insurance agencies in Nairobi to examine the influences of retention for insurance agents. Messah and Kubai used a stratified random sampling technique to collect 129 questionnaires from insurance agents. Unlike Boles et al., Messah and Kubai determined factors contributing to sales personnel retention. Messah and Kubai also determined management has a significant relationship to sales representative retention.

As scholars have ventured into understanding prior research, the subject of sales force attrition has become an increased concern (Berry-Stolzle & Eckles, 2011; Schwepker & Good, 2012). According to Schwepker and Good (2012), retaining sales personnel is a priority in research. Few theories exist based on the actual causes of attrition among sales employees in the insurance industry (Davieson, 2011); however, determining attrition causes are vital to the sustainment of organizations (Berry-Stolzle & Eckles, 2011).

Sales agents continue to leave organizations at a rate exceeding service industry norms. Honan (2013) determined a new hire attrition rate of 71% in a study of 62,500 insurance sales representatives from 25 companies. Honan identified an additional 60% of experienced sales agents left. New hires represent agents with less than 2 years of experience, and experienced agents represent the population of sales representatives who remain with an employer 2 to 4 years (Honan, 2013). Likewise, Campbell (2012) presented that 25% of sales agents would retire or change careers within the next 5 years.

Campbell surveyed 1500 agents to understand insurance carrier attributes, industry issues, and company ratings. Campbell and Honan ascertained sales leadership and management is a contributing factor in reducing sales personnel attrition and increasing retention.

Sales employees who possess behaviors such as creativity, performance, and job satisfaction are less inclined to experience high attrition (Boles et al., 2012; Poloski Vokic, 2011). Sales representatives encounter complicated scenarios requiring instant decision-making skills, making situations hard for managers to set routine management control techniques and set organizational strategies (Schwepker & Good, 2012). Pathak and Tripathi (2010) noted an insurance industry standard attrition rate of 14-38% for insurance sales personnel. Pathak and Tripathi (2010) examined the sales employee lifecycle through integration with Maslow's Need Hierarchy to determine reasons to join an insurance company, factors in job satisfaction, and termination influencers. Participants included 350 employees who worked in or left insurance companies. Pathak and Tripathi surveyed participants using 23 variables influencing decision-making processes and job satisfaction. Pathak and Tripathi determined safety and security, social and esteem, and personal work style as influencers to join insurance companies. Pathak and Tripathi's found stress, career advancement, and work environment as reasons for leaving employment. Conversely, Alao and Adeyemo (2013) provided a quantitative look at employee attrition using a data-mining method, including 22 years of historical data. Alao and Adeyemo included a variety of elements such as (a) sex, (b) state or origin, (c) length of service, (d) rank, (e) salary, and (f) reason. The participants of the study

represent an institute for higher learning and incorporate results from over 309 employee records. Alao and Adeyemo introduced a framework for future research, a software solution, and insight to employee attrition.

Jackson et al. (2012) determined high performers who voluntarily leave a business, create a loss of competitive advantage. In addition, the loss of sales representatives creates a burden for the company leadership (Deconinck & Backmann, 2011). Exiting sales representatives might take existing accounts and customers (Boles et al., 2012). Clients who retain business with the organization might become dissatisfied in the disruption of service (Boles et al., 2012).

Some leaders fail to understand why sales employees choose to leave the current company (Murphy & Li, 2012). Pradeep and Prabhu (2011) stated leadership styles influence the behaviors and success of followers. Employees function at higher levels when the leader and follower have mutual respect, trust, and cultural values (Pradeep & Prabhu, 2011; Saeed et al., 2013). Andert, Platt, and Alexakis (2011) discerned leaders do not earn respect or influence followers with titles or positions, rather through exerted behaviors.

Sales leaders may identify causes of attrition and build strategic initiatives to reduce sales personnel attrition. Sales representative attrition affects (a) training, (b) strategies, (c) competitive advantage, and (d) the bottom line (Honan, 2013). Sales leaders should establish trust with followers to understand follower decision-making processes and build better relationships. Sales leaders base follower relations on a reward and consequence system (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Leaders who integrate motivational properties should provide a vision and inspiration to sales personnel (Avolio et al., 2010). Leaders providing a full range leadership style may increase employee and organizational performance.

Through the literature review, I demonstrated scholarly acknowledgment of the need to explore what strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. The findings in the literature review supported a qualitative method as a means to explore sales personnel perspectives. Section 2 of this study contains further justification for the research method, design, and process for research.

Transition

In Section 1, I discussed (a) the background of the problem, (b) the problem statement, (c) the purpose statement, (d) nature of the study, (e) research question, (f) conceptual framework, (g) operational definitions, (h) assumptions, limitations, and delimitations, (i) significance of the study, and (j) the literature review. I explored what strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. In Section 2, I expand on (a) purpose statement, (b) role of the researcher, (c) participants, (d) research method, (e) research design, (f) population and sampling, (g) ethical research, (h) data collection instruments and technique, (i) data organization, (j) data analysis, and (k) reliability and validity. In Section 3, using the conceptual framework and central research questions as guides, my purpose is to provide the findings of the study.

Section 2: The Project

In this qualitative single descriptive case study, I explored strategies sales leaders can use within the insurance industry to reduce attrition. Sales leaders provide insight on strategies to increase organizational efficiencies (Murphy & Li, 2012). In this section, I describe the use of interview data from leaders, focus group data from sales representatives, and documentation to triangulate the study. The findings of the study might assist sales leaders in reducing attrition.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single descriptive case study was to explore the strategies that sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. I conducted the study in Nebraska. The target population consisted of 6 insurance sales leaders from 6 insurance sales agencies. I used interviews with participants to gain perspectives on how leadership approaches to reduce sales personnel attrition may contribute to social change by improving insurance services. My study may also provide leaders with strategies to improve organizational efficiency, culture, knowledge management, and sustainment.

Role of the Researcher

The researcher, as an instrument, understands the case study process and collects data (Yin, 2014). My role as a researcher was to collect interview data from participants and focus group participants along with archival documentation and then analyze the data sources and report accurate findings. Throughout the study process, I maintained the ethics and standards defined in the Belmont Report. Members of the National

Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research enacted the Belmont Report, which provides guidelines for conducting research: (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (Fiske & Hauser, 2014). I live in the area of study and work within the insurance industry; however, I did not have knowledge of personal or business relations with study participants. In addition to my experience in the insurance industry, I have conducted multiple qualitative semistructured interviews and built various models to increase sales performance and productivity of individuals and teams. Yin suggested following a case study protocol to reduce bias and increase reliability. Comparably, Wahyuni (2012) noted that following an interview protocol reduces bias. Bernard and Bernard (2013) argued that interviewers mitigate bias by remaining *open-minded* and acting as investigators. Hence, to mitigate bias and ensure a consistent process, I remained *open-minded* and followed a case study protocol and an interview protocol.

Participants

I used purposeful sampling to select participants who met particular characteristics. Torrence (2013) suggested that purposeful sampling assists in gaining specific information from the population most likely to have the information. Likewise, Wahyuni (2012) recommended that cases be selected based on the study criteria and the ability to answer the research questions. Suri (2011) argued that a strength of choosing purposeful sampling is the selection of individuals who can provide perspective on the research topic and align with the research question. For this reason, I used purposeful sampling to draw participants from the candidate pool of individuals meeting the criteria to participate. Sales leaders met the following criteria to participate in the study: (a) manage an insurance sales office or organization or (b) held an insurance sales leadership position for at least 1 year and (c) are actively employed in the insurance industry. Sales representatives met the following criteria to participate: (a) actively sell insurance, (b) have at least 1 year of experience in the insurance industry, and (c) are employed by an insurance organization. Yin (2014) suggested that an extensive screening of candidates can ensure a fit for the case study criteria. Bernard and Bernard (2013) argued that case study participants should have experience with the research question. Merriam (2014) recommended the development of participant criteria to ensure participants have knowledge of the topic. Therefore, I aligned the research question with the participant selection criteria and interviewed only participants who met the criteria.

Upon IRB approval (IRB Approval # 05-21-15-0177883), I gained access to participants. Plummer and Simpson (2014) recommended using networks to identify gatekeepers in the field of interest. Close, Smaldone, Fennoy, Reame, and Grey (2013) recommended using social media to obtain access to participants. Conversely, Crowhurst (2015) argued that the decision-maker must find interest in the research topic, and the researcher must build a relationship with the gatekeeper. Therefore, social media was instrumental in identifying organizational contacts. Through LinkedIn[®] I prospected within insurance companies. Symon and Cassell (2012) asserted that gatekeepers must find interest in the research topic. Symon and Cassell also recommended an opportunistic approach that involves a clear design and participant selection process. I e-mailed decision-making individuals within each organization and explained the study, study design, study benefits, and the participant selection criteria. If the gatekeeper allowed access to the organization, the contact returned a signed letter of cooperation from the organization (see Appendix B). The decision-maker established a candidate list of insurance sales leaders and sales representatives meeting the defined criteria. I e-mailed each candidate the study information requesting his or her participation in the study.

Yin (2014) encouraged interviewers to establish working relationships with participants by building trust; however, the interviewer must refrain from influencing the interviewee. Seidman (2013) stated that interviewers must maintain professionalism and a degree of distance throughout the study process to allow interviewees to speak independently. Conversely, Maxwell (2013) argued that the interviewer and interviewee should collaborate during the interview process. To establish a working relationship with participants, I described myself, the purpose of the study, the criteria to participate, confidentiality, and expectations of participants. Participants who met the criteria from the primary participant group and the secondary focus group received an informed consent form (see Appendix C and Appendix D) via e-mail describing the study. The informed consent form included the required disclosure information noted in the Belmont Report (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). Participants then sent me an e-mail with the words I Consent. I built further rapport with participants through personal introductions, semistructured interviews with sales leaders, a focus group with sales representatives, and expressing my interest in understanding each participant's perspective.

Research Method and Design

The following central research question guided the study: What strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition? The research question functioned as a tool to identify the most appropriate research method and design (Yin, 2014). In this section, I provide the description of and rationale for selecting a qualitative single descriptive case study as the format for conducting the study.

Research Method

I chose the qualitative method for the study. A researcher selects from three research methods: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed-methods (Yin, 2014). Quantitative research is a method of analyzing empirical evidence with statistical instruments to prove or disprove a hypothesis (Stanley, 2011). The intent of the study was to gain knowledge from shared perspectives not intended for statistical analysis, rather for descriptive and inferential purposes; for this reason, the quantitative methods did not apply to the study. A qualitative method is a process of seeking to understand the phenomenon by exploring lived experiences, or perspectives (Yin, 2014). Qualitative inquiry involves a broad range of techniques including interviews, review of documentation and literature, physical artifacts, and recordings to acquire rich, thick description of the perceived events (Hoon, 2013). I was the primary instrument for data collection and semistructured interviews and focus groups along with documentation served as secondary data collection instruments, which made a qualitative approach suitable for the study. A mixed-methods approach includes the examination of how much of the phenomenon exists (Stagnor, 2014), and involves statistical data and personal interviews to gain a deeper understanding

(Deconinck & Bachmann, 2011). The intent of my study was to uncover unknown perspectives; on the contrary, the quantitative research seeks to measure known phenomenon; therefore, a mixed-methods approach was not appropriate.

Research Design

I used a single descriptive case study design for the study. Qualitative researchers select a design that might lead to a better understanding of the phenomenon investigated (Tufford & Newman, 2012). The five most common designs include (a) grounded theory, (b) phenomenological, (c) narrative, (d) ethnography, and (e) case study (Knoblauch, 2013). Yin (2014) noted that researchers select a design based on the central research question, the scope of the researcher's control, and the timing of events. The grounded theory design involves investigation of an unknown topic for the purpose of developing a new theory (Patton, 2011). The intent of my study was to learn from perspectives and not develop a new theory; for this reason, grounded theory was not appropriate for the study. Phenomenology involves exploring the lived experiences of a phenomenon resulting in participant reflection rather than perspective (Moustakas, 1994). The phenomenological approach requires a large sample of at least 20 participants (Moustakas, 1994). My study involved perspectives rather than lived experiences related to the phenomenon; as a result, a phenomenological approach was not appropriate for the study. The narrative approach explores an individual's life story, capturing a broad range of experiences and perspectives over time (Knoblauch, 2013). The purpose of my study was to gain a deeper understanding of participant perspectives rather than researching life stories; therefore, the narrative design did not fit the needs for this study. Ethnographic research is used to

understand diverse populations and cultures (Knoblauch, 2013). The ethnographic approach involves observation or engagement within a cultural setting to gain exposure and understanding of the observed group (Knoblauch, 2013). The population selected for my study was not culturally unique; for this reason, an ethnographic design was not appropriate. Yin asserted that a case study involves investigating perspectives of an event or phenomenon. A qualitative single descriptive case study was an appropriate design for the study to enable me to gain a deeper understanding of the research topic. Yin suggested using 6-10 individuals within each specified group interviewed; however, interviews must continue until the data reaches saturation. Barratt, Choi, and Li (2011) recommended using 4-10 cases as a lower number to gain deeper exploration into the data. Merriam (2014) argued that in both purposeful sampling and case study research, researchers set a minimum sample number, and data collection should continue until redundancy. To ensure saturation in the case study, participant interviews continued until repetition occurred with no new information resulting from the interviews. I reached saturation after interviewing 6 insurance sales leaders and 6 focus group participants.

Population and Sampling

The population for the study was 6 insurance sales leaders from 6 insurance agencies in Nebraska, United States. Sales leaders met the following criteria: (a) manage an insurance sales office or organization or (b) held an insurance sales leadership position for at least 1 year and (c) are actively employed in the insurance industry. Sales representatives met the following criteria: (a) actively sell insurance, (b) have at least 1 year of experience in the insurance industry, and (c) are employed by an insurance organization. Torrence (2013) suggested that purposeful sampling assists in gaining specific information from the population most likely to have the information. Likewise, Wahyuni (2012) selected cases based on the study criteria and the ability to answer the research questions. Suri (2011) argued that a strength of purposeful sampling is the selection of individuals who can provide perspective on the research topic and align with the research question. For this reason, I used purposeful sampling to draw participants from the candidate pool of individuals meeting the participation criteria. Yin suggested using between 6 and 10 individuals within each specified group interviewed; however, Yin asserted that interviews must continue until the data reaches saturation. Barratt et al. (2011) recommended using 4-10 cases because a lower number allows deeper exploration of the data. Similarly, Merriam (2014) argued that in both purposeful sampling and case study research, researchers set a minimum sample number, and data collection continues until redundancy. Bernard and Bernard (2013) argued that a researcher should continue collecting samples until reaching the point of redundancy to ensure saturation. Interviews included 6 insurance sales leaders, which allowed for saturation of the information. Six insurance sales representatives participated in the focus groups; three focus groups provided the data needed to achieve saturation. Saturation occurs when the addition of new participant dialogue adds no new information (Kisely & Kendall, 2011). Member checking with sales leader participants and the focus group participants ensured accurate interpretation of the information. To ensure confidentiality, I conducted interviews at any place convenient to the participants and held the focus groups via teleconference to ensure confidentiality.

Ethical Research

Ethical practices are critical to studies involving human subjects (Yin, 2014). Goldblatt, Karnieli-Miller, and Neumann (2011) revealed that ethical standards in research protect participants. Bernard and Bernard (2013) asserted that participants should remain protected from harmful consequences resulting from vulnerability and exposure of contributing to the study. To ensure compliance with ethical standards and protect participants from harm or foreseeable risks, I complied with Walden University policies and the requirements of the Institutional Review Board (IRB). I obtained approval from the IRB prior to contacting potential participants. Individuals who agreed to participate and who met the criteria for participating received an informed consent form (Appendix C and Appendix D). Participants provided an e-mail response with the words *I Consent* prior to setting an interview date and time. Participants could withdraw from the study at any point in the process. To withdraw from the study, a participant would notify me by written request via e-mail. Participation in the study was voluntary, and participants did not receive incentives for participation.

Goldblatt et al. (2011) suggested protecting the integrity of the research by implementing strategies to secure personal information. Seidman (2013) noted that research data should be confidential and must remain in a secure location to protect participant information. Correspondingly, Wahyuni (2012) recommended using a password-protected computer for digital files and a locked filing cabinet for hard copies of data. Hence, I stored the collected data in a password-protected database accessible only to me; data will remain in a locked cabinet for 5 years to protect participant confidentiality. I safeguarded the identity of participants by assigning codes to identify sales leader and focus group participants (P1-P6; FG1-FG6) and did not use organization names in the data collection and analysis.

Data Collection Instruments

I applied several data collection principles to conduct the study. The first principle is to establish sources of evidence to use within the study (Yin, 2014). The second principle includes the use of multiple sources of evidence, a case study database, and a chain of evidence (Yin, 2014). Preparing a thorough strategy and following an established process ensures reliable and valid data (Goldblatt et al., 2011).

Instruments required to conduct this study included (a) the researcher, (b) semistructured interview technique, (c) focus group, (d) recorder, (e) telephone, and (f) documentation. As the researcher, I was the primary data collection instrument, and the semistructured interviews were the secondary instrument for the study. Yin (2014) identified the researcher and interviews as the most vital sources of evidence within the case study. To engage in a face-to-face, semistructured interview technique, I developed open-ended interview questions for sales leaders (Appendix A). I designed the insurance sales leader questions based on the literature, to understand the perspectives of leaders in insurance agencies, and to align with the research question.

Gupta (2011) defined that focus groups involve 5 to 8 participants who can offer opinions on a common topic and cautioned the mediator should keep participants focused on preventing off the topic conversation from occurring. Whereas, Bernard and Bernard (2013) suggested using a focus group to gain a secondary group's opinion to the research question. Rea and Parker (2012) argued that holding focus groups at a location convenient to participants and in a private environment such as teleconference, fosters open communication. I held focus groups with sales representatives via teleconference to gain viewpoints from a group that was separate from the leader interviews. Focus groups provided an opportunity to gain perspectives from sales employees. Sales representatives were able to validate sales leader perspectives and offer insight on gaps in leader strategies. I held the focus groups at times convenient to the sales representatives, thereby more than one group was necessary to accommodate schedules. In addition, smaller focus groups allowed participants to speak openly and provided every participant the opportunity to answer each question. The study included sales representative focus group questions designed to align with the research question and provided a means to triangulate data (Appendix E).

I recorded interviews after participants provided consent. Once interviews concluded, a professional transcriptionist transcribed the data. The transcriptionist signed a confidentiality agreement (see Appendix E) to protect the identity of participants and the study. Participants were assigned an alphanumeric code for identity protection.

I engaged in member checking with participants to enhance reliability and validity. Member checking is the process of providing participants a summary of the themes and findings for review, to ensure correct interpretation of the information (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Harper and Cole (2012) defined that member checking provides a process for quality control for qualitative interviews. Similarly, Houghton, Casey, Shaw, and Murphy (2013) presented member checking may assure the researcher is rigorous in a case study. As part of member checking, each participant received an email summary to share my interpretations of the data collection and ensure the accuracy of the participant responses. I provided the participants time to review the results and provided contact information for participants to e-mail or call with questions or to schedule a review over the phone. Participants provided an e-mail response with *I Agree* if the findings and themes were reasonable and appeared accurate and credible. All participants confirmed the interpretations were reasonable, accurate, and credible.

Data Collection Technique

I used stringent protocols throughout the data collection process. Yin (2014) recommended following an interview protocol to ensure confidentiality, consistency, and reliability. Relatedly, Pedrosa, Naslund, and Jasmand (2012) defined that case study researchers should incorporate an interview protocol to provide quality and credibility. Jacob and Furgerson (2012) argued the interview protocol is a procedural guide for use throughout the interview process. Once the IRB provided approval to conduct research, I followed my interview protocol precisely and located prospective insurance companies through LinkedIn[®]. Decision-making individuals received an e-mail request to establish a candidate list of insurance sales leaders and sales representatives. Potential participants received an e-mail to request participation in the study. The e-mail described the following: (a) interview process, (b) purpose of the study, (c) the benefactors of the study results, and (e) an Informed Consent Form and description of participant involvement. I used the interview protocol to ensure consistency throughout the interview process and followed distinct steps from start to finish for each interview and the focus groups.

Sales leaders met the following participation criteria: (a) manage an insurance sales office or organization or (b) held an insurance sales leadership position for at least 1 year and (c) are actively employed in the insurance industry. Sales representatives met the following criteria: (a) actively sell insurance, (b) have at least 1 year of experience in the insurance industry, and (c) are employed by an insurance organization. If a participant met the criteria, the next step was to explain the consenting process, confidentiality, interview protocol, time commitment for the interview, and the participant rights to withdraw. I also explained the interview documenting process including the use of a recording device, procedures for safeguarding personal information, and invited any questions about the research process.

If the insurance agency sales leader or sales representative agreed to participate in the study, an e-mail was sent with a copy of the informed consent form. I did not require permissions to recruit insurance company leaders who were the sole decisionmakers for the agency, however, provided a Letter of Cooperation to the decision-maker to ensure permission to conduct interviews with participants when needed. Once participants sent an e-mail confirmation with the words *I Consent*, I contacted participants individually and arranged sales leader interviews at a time and place suitable to the participant; whereas, focus group participants chose from designated teleconference dates and times.

Wahyuni (2012) suggested cleaning data by applying specific coding. Likewise, Yin (2014) stated researchers should remove participant identification from the data collection and replace with codes to maintain the confidentiality. Bernard and Bernard

(2013) argued participant codes need be logical and applicable and cannot identify individual participants. Participants received a code to protect their identity throughout the research period (for instance, P1 or F1). The list of participant names and corresponding codes will remain locked in a cabinet in my home office. Two days before the scheduled interview with participants, participants received a courtesy reminder, verifying the scheduled appointment. My interview preparations involved gathering my recording device, pen, and notebook. I introduced myself to the participant and invited any questions before commencing, then began the face-to-face semistructured interview technique, recorded responses and took notes on observations. Wahyuni (2012) discerned that semistructured interviews provide flexibility for the participant to expand on perspectives or offer examples for richer understanding. Bernard and Berndard (2013) argued structured questions lack the flexibility afforded by semistructured, open-ended questions. Yin (2014) suggested the semistructured interview technique negates the need for a pilot test as the interviewer can adjust questions and gain understanding directly from the participant. Accordingly, I used a semistructured interview technique and did not conduct a pilot test.

I requested additional documentation from participants, which included brochures and web links to use for data triangulation. Participants removed names and personal identifiers from the documentation prior to sharing with me to ensure individual confidentiality. I conducted and recorded the focus group conference calls. Glogowska, Young, and Lockyer (2011) suggested recording focus groups or interviews via teleconference improves information verification. I provided a participant coding on the interview and focus group recordings and my research notes for confidentiality.

Once the interview and focus group processes concluded, interviews were transcribed. The transcriptionist signed a confidentiality form (see Appendix D) to ensure shared information remained confidential. Merriam (2014) advised hiring a transcriptionist as the process of transcribing recordings is time-consuming. Wahyuni (2012) recommended outsourcing to a professional transcriptionist is ideal for researchers. Jacob and Furgerson (2012) argued interviewers check for a correct interpretation of transcribed research data. Therefore, I chose to hire a transcriptionist to transcribe the recorded interviews and the focus group sessions. Next, I listened to the recordings, while reading the transcripts to ensure correct transcription and understanding of the materials and conducted data analysis on the information.

I conducted member checking to ensure the validity of participant responses. Member checking entails contacting participants to ensure correct interpretation of the information (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Harper and Cole (2012) noted member checking provides quality control for qualitative research. Comparably, Galletta (2013) presented member checking as a process in which researchers test the interpretation of participant responses. I provided participants with a copy of my interpretation of the interview or focus group (as applicable) to review and requested participants confirm if my analysis was reasonable. The interview participants and focus group members confirmed my interpretations of the data as accurate and credible.

Data Organization Technique

As the interviews and focus groups proceeded, I kept copious notes of any observations, contributions, and gestures. Yin (2014) stated research notes contribute to the data collection process. Martin and Meyer (2012) offered researchers data organization increases a study's reliability and validity. Whereas, Bright and O'Conner (2007) revealed that researchers increase reliability and validity by conducting manual and computer analysis. I maintained the data, including interview notes, tape recordings, the participant code list, and transcribed data in a case study database, which remains on a password-protected computer and in a locked cabinet accessible only by me. Following the research, I placed the database information on a flash drive and stored the information in a locked cabinet. I will maintain sole access to the data for a period of 5 years. Proper recording, analysis, storage, and destruction, ensures the integrity of the study (Goldblatt et al., 2011).

Data Analysis

Yin (2014) stated the process of investigating a case study includes the central research question, a series of semistructured interview technique questions supporting the central research question, and the conceptual framework. Goldblatt et al. (2011) defined case study data analysis as reliant upon the precision applied in collecting and interpreting the data collection. Wahyuni (2012) argued a data analysis protocol provides a systematic approach to analyzing the data and uncover emerging themes. Accordingly, I conducted the data analysis through the lens of the conceptual framework; the ET, to

explore what strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition.

Nvivo[®] is a system for cataloging, analysis, and organization (Sinkovics & Alfoldi, 2012). I imported the interview transcripts, notes, and documentation into Nvivo10[®] for storage, coding, mind-mapping, identifying themes, and analysis. My information is secure within Nvivo10[®] with password protection. Additionally, I backed up data onto a password-protected external hard drive.

Next, I completed the thematic analysis process. Vaismoradi, Turunen, and Bondas (2013) defined the thematic analysis as a process researchers use to identify, analyze, and report findings. Harper, Thompson, and Joffe (2011) presented thematic analysis is identifying patterns within data sets to decipher meaning. Stake (2013) argued thematic analysis allows drawing inferences from raw data. Hence, I used the research question and conceptual theory, ET, to guide the process of logically segmenting and recombining the data to formulate conclusions.

I read the data multiple times and noted meaningful insights, which related to the research question or conceptual theory. Mackey and Gass (2011) recommended using code sets in Nvivo[®], so the software can automatically check the data for the codes based on the predefined information. Davidson and Jacobs (2008) presented that Nvivo[®] is a system that allows for organization of the data collection, quick information searches, and categorization based on code and theme. Yin (2014) argued that software can ease the process of organizing and sorting data; however, the researcher should conduct data analysis rather than relying solely on tools. Hence, I conducted a manual data review to

uncover themes and code the data, then used Nvivo[®] for the organization, counts, and categorization.

Vaismoradi et al. (2013) identified coding as a critical step in data analysis. Harper et al. (2011) presented researchers use coding to locate matching words and phrases within the data set. Wahyuni (2012) argued researchers should prep the coding stage with an initial code set, which should contain a/an (a) code, (b) label, (c) definition, (d) example, and (e) hierarchical numbering. I conducted the coding process by manually reviewing the transcripts and annotating words or phrases that aligned with the research question and ET. Themes emerged from the dismantled text, which I categorized and grouped to develop an initial set of codes in Nvivo10[®]. I ran a data scan and data check. The data scan highlighted the words or phrases that matched the defined code set; whereas the data check provided frequency counts and the context surrounding the coded words. Using Nvivo10[®], I built a mind-map, which allowed grouping the codes into clusters, comparing clusters, and searching for themes.

Next, I applied the defined theme names and groupings within mind-mapping accordingly. Once in a mind-map, analysis of the themes began which involved comparing the themes, studying the outputs for meaningful patterns, and looking for the frequency of codes or code combinations. When relevant, participant quotes from actual data assisted with clarifying patterns or themes. Yin (2014) revealed synthesizing the results of the case is the most challenging and vital part of the case study. Whereas, Stake (2013) suggested presenting results systematically to ensure accurate interpretation of the findings. Vaismoradi et al. (2013) argued the case study report should incorporate a final analysis and reference back to the research question. Accordingly, I synthesized the results of the thematic analysis of the case using passages or quotes from the data to clarify each theme and presented the interpretations of the integrated meaning of the case. Lastly, I generalized the results and established the findings presented in Section 3.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability

Reliability refers to the ability to repeat research procedures and gain similar results (Ali & Yusof, 2011). Dependability is the ability to establish repeatability of research steps (Ali & Yusof, 2011). Thomas and Magilvy (2011) recommended increasing dependability by creating a pathway of procedures to follow in the event other researchers apply a case study design. To ensure dependability in my study, I followed Thomas and Magilvy's (2011) protocol for establishing an audit trail explaining each step in developing the purpose of the study, selecting participants, collecting and interpreting data, and establishing and describing findings. Establishing an interview protocol assisted me in ensuring reliability. Thomas and Magilvy (2011) indicated an interview protocol provides a template for others to repeat the interview process, increasing the reliability of the study. Other strategies I applied to increase repeatability included ensuring alignment between the business problem and central research question and protecting participant information. Goldblatt et al. (2011) suggested protecting participant confidentiality through proper storage and destruction of data.

Validity

The validity of a qualitative study stems from the credibility, transferability, and confirmability of the activities undertaken (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Study credibility requires an accurate depiction of participant perspectives (Yin, 2014). I ensured the credibility of the study through the application of member checking with participants; as a result, ensuring a correct report and accurate interpretation of the information. Member checking is a process to review the interpretation of the data collection for accuracy (Thomas & Magilvry, 2011). To member check, I reviewed my data analysis with each participant and provided each participant a copy to check for a correct interpretation and requested affirmation of accuracy and credibility.

Transferability refers to the ability to generalize results to other agencies or industries (Thomas & Magilvry, 2011). Yin (2014) suggested choosing a small population and sample to limit the transferability of results. I used a relatively small sample size of 6 insurance sales leaders to identify behaviors reflective of the agencies investigated and to reduce reliance on the generalizability of the research outcomes. Confirmability refers to the ability of others to confirm the accuracy of the results (Thomas & Magilvry, 2011). I conducted the study in accordance with established case study protocols to ensure others can confirm the procedures. Established procedures for case studies include triangulation and saturation of data (Yin, 2014).

According to Denzin (2012), triangulation is the use of multiple data sources when investigating a research question to provide further understanding. Denzin and Lincoln (2011) also recommended four types of triangulation: (a) data, (b) theoretical, (c) investigator, and (d) methodical. Wahyuni (2012) suggested using data triangulation to collect data samples using various strategies or sources. Yin (2014) argued that data triangulation enhances the case study by allowing checking of data for consistency and robust findings. Accordingly, I conducted data triangulation using three sources of data: interviews, focus groups, and documentation. To ensure saturation in the study, I continued to draw participants from the candidate pool until achieving repetition with no new information resulting from the interviews. Once saturation occurred, the interviews stopped.

Transition and Summary

In section 2, I presented a detailed description of the study, participants, and the participant recruitment process, protection of personal and confidential information, data collection, organization, and analysis. In Section 3, I will provide a thorough description of the data collection experience including research findings, themes, conclusions, and recommendations. The conceptual framework guided the interpretation of the findings in Section 3.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Section 3 begins with the purpose of the study, the research question, and a brief summary of the findings. Section 3 continues with a detailed presentation of findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and (g) a conclusion.

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single descriptive case study was to explore the strategies that sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. Insurance sales leaders encounter a loss of knowledge and a decrease in competitive advantage because of attrition (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Employee attrition averages 26% for the U.S. insurance industry (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2014) and 71% for insurance sales personnel in the first 2 years of employment (Honan, 2013). Insurance sales leaders are unable to reduce high attrition rates, and some insurance sales leaders lack strategies to reduce attrition.

I conducted semistructured interviews with 6 insurance sales leaders and focus groups with 6 insurance sales personnel in Nebraska. According to Wahyuni (2012), semistructured interviews allow participants to expand on perspectives and offer richer understanding. Participant information remained confidential throughout the study process. Once saturation occurred, I entered all data sources into Nvivo10[®], under password protection, and performed data analysis. Data triangulation of data sources included the comparison of sales leader interviews, sales personnel focus groups, and organizational website and brochure documentation. Continuing with my data analysis

process, I identified themes and synthesized findings of the themes. Based on my analysis and data triangulation, the following themes emerged: (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates.

Presentation of the Findings

The following central research question guided the study: What strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition? The following five main themes emerged from the analysis: (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates. The first emergent theme reported by participants involved the insurance sales leader's use of leadership to motivate insurance sales personnel and reduce attrition. The second theme from the findings was an organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement. The third emergent theme involved the use of compensation and rewards as motivators to encourage sales personnel to retain employment. The fourth emergent theme involved improvements to the selection process for new candidates to fill insurance sales personnel positions. The emergent themes identified through the study are strategies that sales

leaders within the insurance industry may use to reduce attrition. The findings align with ET, the conceptual framework for the study.

Emergent Theme 1: Leadership

The first emergent theme involved the insurance sales leader's use of leadership to motivate sales personnel and reduce attrition. Leaders who understand sales are key to sales success (P1). Mulki, Caemmerer, and Heggde (2015) revealed that a sales leader's style of leadership affects the attitude and behavior of sales personnel. Gangwar et al. (2013) argued that leaders can affect employee motivation by establishing a leaderfollower relationship. Evans et al. (2012) asserted that leaders affect attrition by increasing employee motivation. One hundred percent of sales leader interview participants (6/6) considered leadership instrumental in reducing insurance sales personnel attrition. Insurance sales leaders noted the use of motivation to reduce sales personnel attrition. When trying to motivate sales personnel or reduce attrition, organizations need leaders who understand what sales personnel encounter (P1). In Table 1, I illustrate the number of times participants mentioned leadership in relation to reducing the attrition of sales personnel in the insurance industry.

Table 1

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 3 | 1 |
| P2 | 3 | 2 |
| P3 | 2,3,6,7 | 31 |
| P4 | 2,3,5,6,7 | 24 |
| P5 | 3,6 | 4 |
| P6 | 3,5,6,7 | 10 |

Leadership, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

Based on the data, I determined that insurance sales leaders have an important role in motivating sales personnel. Sales leaders should understand the importance of the sales force and roles of sales personnel to determine ways to increase motivation and engagement. Conrad (2013) stated that leaders must have facts, purpose, and rationale to advocate for a specific action plan. Insurance sales leaders need sales personnel buy-in on the leader's mission and vision, which requires aligning the values within the sales force (Mullins & Syam, 2014). Insurance sales leaders should also understand individual motivators and adjust guidance and leadership styles based on the individual needs of each salesperson.

Leaders can increase or decrease employee motivation using various motivational systems and workplace factors (Lunenburg, 2011; Romzek, 2012). While incentives are short-term motivators, long-term motivation stems from engaged leaders. Sales leaders

could solicit frequent feedback from sales personnel regarding the perceived leader priorities and values to increase employee motivation (Mullins & Syam, 2014). Results from 100% of sales leader interview participants (6/6) and focus group participants (6/6) indicate that motivation is a strategy leaders use to reduce sales personnel attrition (see Table 2).

Table 2

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 6 | 2 |
| P2 | 3,6,7 | 11 |
| P3 | 2,3,4,6,7 | 33 |
| P4 | 2,3,4 | 13 |
| P5 | 3,6,7 | 8 |
| P6 | 3,5,6,7 | 19 |

Motivation, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

I found that 100% of sales leader interview participants (6/6) reported that motivation is dependent on the person. Sales leaders must determine the individual motivators and not assume sales personnel find motivation the same way (P4 & P6). P2 disclosed that motivation is a significant factor in reducing attrition, and insurance sales leaders have to understand the proper motivation for each individual. P3 added that internal motivation is crucial to possess an entrepreneurial spirit; the insurance agent must possess internal motivation or face frustration and ultimately termination of employment. Insurance sales leaders should take the time to understand employee needs and individual motivators.

Leaders build trust and motivation by engaging with employees and ensuring employees engage with the organization (Chiang & Hsieh, 2012). When employees know the sales leader cares about the employee's welfare, both personally and professionally, salespeople realizes they are not a number on a leaderboard (P6). Insurance sales leaders may increase sales personnel's motivation by acknowledging employee achievements and understanding individual motivators. P3 disclosed that sales leaders should understand that rewarding the top sales personnel every time is not motivating; sales leaders need to acknowledge milestone successes. P3 also reported that insurance sales leaders have to determine how to help sales personnel succeed by understanding (a) past experiences, (b) results, (c) strengths, and (d) weaknesses.

According to the data, 100% of focus group participants (6/6) agreed that leadership should implement strategies that affect sales personnel and reduce attrition. FG4 disclosed that sales leaders need to adapt leadership styles to the individual salesperson to increase motivation. Sales leaders can increase motivation by maintaining communication with sales personnel, promoting teamwork, and providing guidance (FG3). FG6 stated the following:

The type of leadership you have affects attrition. There are leaders who are all about the numbers and some who are more handholding. Leadership needs to provide more than one type of leadership or direction for the people. It has to be tailored towards whatever the sales force requires. In Tables 3 and 4, I present the number of times focus group participants mentioned leadership and motivation as strategies to reduce attrition.

Table 3

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 3,5 | 2 |
| FG2 | 3,4,5 | 8 |
| FG3 | 1,3,7 | 15 |
| FG4 | 3,5 | 11 |
| FG5 | 1,2,3,6 | 10 |
| FG6 | 2,3,4,5,6 | 24 |

Leadership, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

Table 4

Motivation, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 2,5 | 5 |
| FG2 | 3,5,6 | 14 |
| FG3 | 5,6 | 5 |
| FG4 | 4,5 | 13 |
| FG5 | 2,5,6 | 9 |
| FG6 | 4,5 | 10 |

Individuals may find motivation externally and internally. According to the data, 100% of focus group participants (6/6) reported that internal motivation is vital to reducing insurance sales personnel attrition; however, focus group participants also disclosed that external motivation is equally important. According to Walumbwa et al. (2011), employees may exert self-efficacy and means-efficacy to strive for higher performance, while leaders may reinforce positive individual behaviors and attitudes through positive leadership and organizational factors. FG4 stated the following:

Within sales, there are peaks and valleys and motivation is the number one factor in my successful times and in getting out of the unsuccessful times. Motivation is key to a sales representative's success and not falling to the effects of attrition.

Data also indicated that 100% of focus group participants (6/6) agreed with the sales leader participant views that motivation is dependent on the person. FG5 noted that sales leaders need to energize insurance agents through change and positive energy. Lyus, Rogers, Simms (2011) disclosed that sales leaders are under pressure to adapt to organizational and marketplace changes while ensuring that sales personnel are implementing strategies around the changes. FG6 agreed and stated the following:

Leaders have to figure out what the individual is motivated by; is it cash, competition, being at the top, or helping as many people as they can. That is the biggest issue leadership has to figure out because everyone is different.

Conversely, FG2 reported that internal motivation lasts while external motivation is temporary. Insurance sales leaders have a role in creating motivation for sales personnel; however, the individual must have internal motivation to engage in the leaderfollower relationship (Nunkoo & Ramkissoon, 2012). FG6 stated that "individuals have to be motivated to succeed in this business; if you don't have the personal motivation to be in this business, you will fail long-term." FG2 agreed that insurance sales personnel must have a self-starter attitude and internal motivation. Motivation drives insurance sales and sales personnel (FG3). Internal motivation cannot be taught or trained; an individual has to have the motivation to succeed in the business or the person is not the right fit for the insurance sales position. FG3 stated the following:

If the sales force is motivated to succeed, then that translates to end results or progress. If the sales force is seeing results and success, then they are less likely to leave. When there is no motivation and things aren't going well, people start to look for a change.

Documentation from organizational websites supported findings from the study. In reviewing organizational websites, I observed that one company defined sales personnel as the critical link between the company and clients; as a result, sales leaders should understand the strategies that impact sales personnel attrition. Berry-Stolzle and Eckles (2011) argued that sales personnel are the revenue generators for organizations, and reducing attrition is vital to organizational efficiency. Mishra (2014) asserted that sales leaders must communicate with sales representatives and understand the value of the sales employees to increase engagement and motivation. While one company's website encouraged having sales directors act as coaches and advisors to agents, another organization's website demonstrated the role of the sales leader as a guide. Boyatzis et al. (2012) stated that sales leaders must coach sales personnel to increase sales performance. Each company's website listed the following benefits of being an agent: (a) financial rewards, (b) being in business for yourself, (c) helping people, and (d) flexible work hours. One organizational website included motivation as a link and provided agent testimonial videos that disclosed the individual motivators for each agent. The documentation review from organizational websites validated the importance of sales leadership in motivating sales personnel.

Emergent Theme 2: Organizational Commitment

Sales leaders who create a culture of engagement establish a norm of interaction between leadership and the sales force (P2). One-hundred percent of sales leader interview participants (6/6) discussed the importance of engagement and culture as strategies sales leaders use to reduce the attrition of sales personnel attrition within the insurance industry. P6 stated sales leaders create engagement by attending industry meetings, evaluating the competition, and staying abreast of the marketplace. Conversely, Lyus et al. (2011) ascertained the sales force has the insight to new developments in the marketplace and changing customer needs; therefore, insurance sales leaders should engage sales personnel in the strategic planning process. P4 disclosed an alternative by noting sales leaders increase engagement during the selection process by exposing candidates to organizational meetings. Whereas, P3 took a traditional approach and revealed that sales leaders use engagement surveys and associate engagements to help employees feel they add value. Buble et al. (2014) noted leaders who align with employee needs increase engagement. Fowers (2012) presented that leaders affect motivation when increasing employee engagement. Insurance sales leaders engage sales

personnel in various ways to create a culture of engagement; however, increasing interaction between sales leaders and the sales force might reduce attrition. Table 5 illustrates the frequency of which sales leaders discussed culture and engagement as strategies to reduce insurance sales personnel attrition.

Table 5

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 5 | 1 |
| P2 | 6 | 2 |
| P3 | 1,2,3,4,5,6,7 | 46 |
| P4 | 2,5,6,7 | 23 |
| P5 | 5 | 2 |
| P6 | 5,6 | 5 |

Culture and Engagement, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

I also found 100% of focus group participants (6/6) agreed that engagement and culture are strategies sales leaders use to reduce sales personnel attrition. I demonstrate in Table 6, the focus group participant references to culture and engagement as strategies insurance sales leaders use. FG6 disclosed creating engagement involves (a) company meetings, (b) offsite activities, (c) contests, and (d) recognition. Sales leaders who promote teamwork, communication, and open dialogue create a sense of togetherness, and a culture people want to stay in rather than leave (FG6). FG5 added that insurance

sales leaders should engage sales personnel in decision-making and planning processes to establish trust and gain buy-in, thereby creating a culture of engagement.

Table 6

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 1 | 2 |
| FG2 | 6 | 3 |
| FG3 | 4,6 | 10 |
| FG4 | 4 | 2 |
| FG5 | 6 | 5 |
| FG6 | 3,4,6 | 13 |

Culture and Engagement, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

Sales leaders use communication to encourage engagement within the organization (Mishra, 2014). I found 100% of sales leader interview participants (6/6) revealed communication between leadership and the sales force is essential in establishing a culture of engagement. P1 noted that communication establishes a way for sales personnel to create strategies and share ideas. Sales leaders hold responsibility for establishing and encouraging leader-follower and peer communications within the organization (Boyatzis et al., 2012). As presented in Table 7, all sales leader participants identified communication as a strategy sales leaders use to to increase engagement and reduce attrition.

Table 7

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 2,3,4,8,10,11 | 8 |
| P2 | 8,10,11 | 4 |
| Р3 | 4,8,10 | 3 |
| P4 | 3,8,10 | 4 |
| P5 | 3,4,8,10 | 6 |
| P6 | 8 | 2 |

Communication, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

Communication between insurance sales leaders and agents is critical. I determined 100% of the focus group (6/6) participants presented perspectives similar to insurance sales leaders stating that sales personnel require communication channels to form a culture of engagement (see Table 8). Raina and Roebuck (2016) noted leaders should use multiple forms of communication to increase employee engagement and increase leader-follower relations. Sales leaders must establish constant communication with the sales force to provide direction and leadership; otherwise employees start looking for other opportunities (FG2). Insurance sales leaders should understand the obstacles that sales personnel encounter and maintain open dialogue to resolve issues. FG1 stated the following:

Leadership needs a firm understanding of what is going on within the organization, what the sales force is encountering, what the sales force is hearing

on a daily, weekly, monthly basis and be able to relate, then adjust and adapt to what the sales force and market shows. When leadership is aware of what's going on and demonstrates that we are here to help and assist, that makes everyone successful.

Table 8

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 3 | 1 |
| FG2 | 3 | 2 |
| FG3 | 3,7 | 12 |
| FG4 | 7 | 2 |
| FG5 | 7 | 3 |
| FG6 | 3,6,7 | 8 |

Communication, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

I determined 50% of sales leader participants (3/6) promote an open door policy as a strategy to increase communication and engagement with the sales force. Schwepker (2015) presented that leaders can influence the organizational culture and employee engagement levels by practicing open communication with employees. Participant 2 ascertained an employee's understanding of the open door philosophy is critical to communication. P6 included that employees need to bring a proposal if presenting an issue, so the leader and agent can find a solution. P3 expanded on the ideology by stating the following: People like to know that they can talk to whoever they need to in their organization, whether it is the head of sales, underwriting, IT, or even the CEO. Then they don't feel like just a number; they feel they have accessibility regardless of how big the organization is. It creates a family environment rather than I'm just a number on a leaderboard. Attrition comes back to the people factor. People want to be a part of something.

Insurance sales personnel need to know there is an avenue for complaints, suggested changes, and ideas. FG1 disclosed that to gain buy-in, sales leaders must take the salespeople's input into account and integrate insurance agents into the decisionmaking process. Malik (2012) found an increase in employee engagement in organizations that hold a perception of open communication between team members and leadership.

P2 identified an agency council as a way for insurance sales personnel to voice opinions and sales leaders to gain buy-in from the sales force. Three sales leaders and two focus group member discussed an agency council in which agents act as sales force representatives on a committee to bring forth suggestions. The agency council committee addresses concerns and ideas to decide what the committee can and cannot do and provides information back to the sales force (P6). An agency council (a) increases communication within the organization, (b) encourages innovation, (c) allows agents to be a part of the decision-making process, (d) establishes buy-in from the sales force, and (e) fosters accountability.

In reviewing documentation, all three organizational websites provided information on the company's culture and employee engagement. One company's website stated, "Partnerships help build stronger, safer, better-educated communities and an industry leader that becomes a powerhouse corporate citizen." The documentation review of brochures and websites demonstrated all organizations promote engagement through the values of (a) partnership, (b) teamwork, and (c) recognition. Raina and Roebuck (2016) revealed employees who share organizational values experience increased engagement. I found the majority of company's websites and brochures collected for my study discussed engagement in the form of organizational support rather than the leader to follower relations. Conversely, one organization's website promoted "Approachable and experienced, our leaders spend a lot of time throughout the year interacting with our agents and making sure front line perspectives are always reflected in home office decisions." Gangwar et al. (2013) disclosed leaders affect motivation using various leadership styles. Whereas, Arbak and Villeval (2013) ascertained that leaders who empower followers see a decrease in attrition. The documentation review collaborated the sales leader interview and focus group perspectives that sales leaders use a culture of engagement as a strategy to reduce attrition within the insurance industry.

Emergent Theme 3: Compensation and Rewards

The second theme that emerged revealed that insurance sales leaders use compensation and rewards to motivate sales personnel and decrease attrition. Employees receive financial and non-financial compensation and rewards in return for the employee's level of contribution, efforts, and performance (Yean & Yahya, 2013). Kishore, Singh Rao, Narasimhan, and John (2013) suggested that compensation plans include bonuses based on quotas and commissions. A bonus plan may provide incentive for sales personnel to achieve sales quotas, yet the bonus structure does not provide for increased performance once the sales representative achieves quota (Kishore et al., 2013). Whereas, commission plans may incent sales personnel to continue performing past reaching the required quota.

Leaders can increase employee satisfaction by evaluating the wages, salaries, and other benefits in comparison to market trends (Kishore et al., 2013). In an insurance sales environment, incentives and competition are part of the culture (FG5). I found that insurance sales leaders use the following to comprise compensation and rewards programs (a) salary and commissions, (b) incentives, and (c) benefits. As I illustrate in Tables 9 and 10, 100% of the sales leader interview participants (6/6) and 100% of the focus group participants (6/6) agreed that compensation and rewards motivate sales personnel and may reduce attrition.

Table 9

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 1,7 | 2 |
| P2 | 3,4,7 | 8 |
| P3 | 3,6,7 | 22 |
| P4 | 4,6,7 | 15 |
| P5 | 6,7 | 6 |
| P6 | 2,3,5,6 | 26 |

Compensation and Rewards, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

Table 10

Compensation and Rewards, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 3 | 5 |
| FG2 | 2,3,4 | 13 |
| FG3 | 3,4,6 | 9 |
| FG4 | 4,5 | 12 |
| FG5 | 2,3,4,6 | 28 |
| FG6 | 1,2,3,4,5,6 | 28 |

Insurance sales leaders may use salary, commissions, or a combination of salary and commissions to compensate sales personnel. I found 100% of sales leader interview participants (6/6) presented compensation as a strategy leaders use to attract, retain, and motivate sales personnel. I demonstrate in Table 11 the frequency in which sales leader participants discussed salary and commissions.

Table 11

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 1,7 | 3 |
| P2 | 7 | 2 |
| P3 | 3,7 | 13 |
| P4 | 3,4,7 | 6 |
| P5 | 6,7 | 3 |
| P6 | 2,3,6 | 23 |

Salary and Commissions, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

My findings determined sales leaders administer compensation plans differently depending on the insurance organization and sales leader philosophy. Kuster and Canales (2011) noted the compensation model insurance sales leaders implement for sales personnel effects performance and effectiveness. Sales leaders design compensation plans to increase sales performance (Kishore et al., 2013). Sales leader participants disclosed an issue exists with retaining new insurance sales personnel due to income issues encountered within the first few years of business, so insurance sales leaders have implemented strategies to mitigate the problem. P6 stated the following:

The first 5 years there is a revolving door, so we've looked at the factors. We've integrated compensation packages for new agents to counter attrition, because once an agent hits the 5-year mark, we don't usually see high attrition rates.

I found other sales leaders use various compensation strategies to reduce attrition. Kishore et al. (2013) ascertained compensation plans involve a variable component which begins when a sales representative achieves a threshold which is set above the required performance level, otherwise known as a *quota* in sales. P6 disclosed a strategy that provides upfront costs, licensing, a base salary, and commissions. The base salary reduces as the insurance agent gains traction in the business and commissions increase. Correspondingly, P1 stated the company provides agents salary, base pay, and a car allowance. P3 agreed with providing new insurance sales personnel with financing; however, only on a 9 to 12-month guarantee. P3 emphasized, "As the agent sees a reduction in financing, the variable increases, so the agent does not lose money and is motivated to sell more." Conversely, P5 offered that the company reimburses the agent for licensing and does not combine salary and commissions, because an agent with a base salary lacks the incentive to sell insurance contracts. Kishore et al. (2013) determined the use of bonuses and commissions as variable pay structures widely used variable pay structures that sales leaders combine with quotas. Bonuses are lump-sum payments which occur when a salesperson reaches a quota; whereas, commissions are paid on sales that the salesperson makes beyond the quota (Kishore et al., 2013). While insurance sales leaders offered various means to compensate sales personnel, the general finding was leaders use agent incentives to increase agent compensation and reduce attrition.

As I illustrate in Table 12, 100% of focus group participants (6/6) agreed insurance sales leaders use compensation to attract and retain sales personnel. FG5 noted insurance agents who receive a higher level of compensation award on an annual basis may prove more successful and remain with the organization. FG6 stated leaders use financing options as a fund to help the new insurance agent with finances for the first six months or year. According to FG3:

Compensation is an issue at the onset of an agent's career because the agent does not receive a base salary and works for 100% commission, so new hires are led to believe agents may make large sums of money, and it doesn't happen that way.

Table 12

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 3 | 2 |
| FG2 | 2,3 | 5 |
| FG3 | 3,4 | 2 |
| FG4 | 4,5 | 4 |
| FG5 | 2 | 1 |
| FG6 | 2,4,5 | 5 |

Salary and Commissions, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

A common motivator leaders use to compensate and motivate sales personnel is incentives. Incentives are a main component of compensation and rewards (Kuster & Canales, 2011). Conversely, Khanna (2014) determined compensation can lead to

attrition when an employee feels unfairly compensated. Sales leaders use incentives such as contests, rewards, and goals. In Tables 13 and 14, I demonstrate the frequencies in which sales leader interview and focus group participants referred to incentives as a strategy leaders use to reduce to attrition within the insurance industry.

Table 13

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 1 | 2 |
| P2 | 3,7 | 4 |
| P3 | 2,3,7 | 6 |
| P4 | 4 | 4 |
| P5 | 6,7 | 5 |
| P6 | 2,3,6,7 | 25 |

Incentives, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

Table 14

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 3 | 6 |
| FG2 | 3 | 9 |
| FG3 | 4,6 | 5 |
| FG4 | 4,5 | 6 |
| FG5 | 2,6 | 10 |
| FG6 | 3,5,6 | 13 |

Incentives, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

One-hundred percent of sales leaders interviewed (6/6) revealed incentives as a compensation and rewards strategy that insurance sales leaders use to achieve higher agent production and reduce attrition. Madhani (2013) presented compensation as a means to increase sales personnel motivation. P4 disclosed the company holds contests throughout the year to recognize and incent insurance sales personnel because winning is a motivator. P4 also posed that agents receive positive motivation from incentives such as (a) sales contests, (b) rewards, (c) trips, (d) clubs, and (e) realistic goals. Similarly, P6 shared that understanding what motivates each salesperson impacts production and the attrition rates.

I found 100% of focus group participants (6/6) agreed compensation and reward programs include incentives which motivate insurance personnel and reduce attrition. According to Larkin, Pierce, and Gino (2012), "Compensation is a critical component of organizational strategy, influencing firm performance by motivatin employee effort and by attracting and retaining high ability employees." Sales leaders in the insurance industry use contests and provide various incentives throughout the year to drive activity (FG6). Notable rewards may include gift cards, trips, and other prizes. Focus group participants disclosed contests led by the salespeople or involving senior insurance agents as representatives prove most successful. FG1 stated, "Our company asks the people what kind of contest would be good to motivate you because we are all motivated by different things. So when they include salespeople's input, it motivates people." FG2 agreed involving senior insurance agents is helpful because experienced sales personnel are knowledgeable about sales personnel motivators. Contests are a form of competition, which is at the heart of a sales person's motivation (FG1). Alternatively, FG5 suggested insurance sales leaders use surveys to determine individual motivators and change sales promotions to fit the sales force. Larkin et al. (2012) offered that leaders use time-proven compensation strategies more often to increase employee motivation. While Madhani (2013) determined compensation and incentive strategies receive influence from the business life cycle as the sales strategy, structure, and size may change throughout the life span of an organization. Focus group participants recognized and confirmed the success of the sales incentives that insurance sales leaders use as a strategy to motivate sales personnel and reduce attrition.

Participants also discussed employee benefits as a part of compensation and rewards. Sales leader interview participants provided information contradictory to that of the focus group participants, which demonstrated employee benefits remains an area that researchers may want to explore further. I discovered 33% of sales leader interview participants (2/6) and 50% of the focus group participants (3/6) mentioned employee benefits as an incentive. Sohoni et al. (2011) posed that sales leaders should design compensation programs to induce increased employee effort, while Kuster and Canales (2011) added that compensation programs often include employee benefits. Two insurance sales leaders mentioned the flexibility of work schedules and creating work life balance as employee benefits (P5 & P6); however, focus group participants did not mention this aspect of benefits (FG2, FG5, & FG6). In Tables 15 and 16, I present the frequencies in which sales leader interview and focus group participants discussed employee benefits.

Table 15

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | - | - |
| P2 | - | - |
| P3 | - | - |
| P4 | - | - |
| P5 | 6 | 2 |
| P6 | 3 | 1 |

Employee Benefits, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

Table 16

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | - | - |
| FG2 | 3 | 2 |
| FG3 | - | - |
| FG4 | - | - |
| FG5 | 2,5 | 2 |
| FG6 | 3 | 2 |

Employee Benefits, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

Focus group participants discussed employee benefits in terms of retirement plans. Many insurance agents are independent employees or I-9 employees, and insurance agents do not always receive employee benefits as part of compensation and rewards. Khanna (2014) determined compensation can lead to attrition when an employee feels unfairly compensated. FG6 stated, "Companies have to provide better benefits to retain agents nowadays. Agents are not just about making cash." FG5 disclosed agents want retirement matching as a part of compensation packages. Likewise, FG2 discussed one company provides a retirement plan for self-employed agents after a year of employment and achieving a minimum production level. Insurance agents want sales leaders to re-evaluate the employee benefits provided to agents and consider including retirement plans as a strategy to reduce attrition.

A review of the study documentation collaborates the findings from the discussions brought forth by the majority of participants, noting available financing programs, paid internships, incentives, and benefits. Sales leaders use salary based compensation for behavior control and commissions for increasing motivation and controlling outcomes (Kuster & Canales, 2011). While insurance sales leaders implement various compensation models, most suggested that to reduce the attrition of new hire sales personnel, sales leaders must provide a combination of salary and commissions. Each of the organizational websites provided information on base incentives which leaders base on the insurance sales person's level of achievement and various compensation structures. Each company's website promoted the financial rewards and incentives associated with being an insurance agent. The brochures and websites collected also disclosed information on the insurance agent's potential to receive bonuses, rewards, and recognition dependent upon performance. Larkin et al. (2012) noted that sales leaders implement pay-for-performance commission programs, which increase sales personnel motivation but lack in employee benefits. Furthermore, in reviewing documentation, each organizational website provided information on employee benefits. Website documentation for two companies promoted employee benefits for agents, which included retirement plans such as 401(k) and retirement matching benefits. One organizational website presented an annual investment program for active insurance agents. While a review of the study documentation demonstrated that the companies reviewed provide employee benefits that insurance agents seek, the finding may not transcend to all insurance organizations.

Emergent Theme 4: Training and Development

Training and development programs are the formal activities organizational leaders provide, which help employees obtain the skills and knowledge needed to perform job duties (Shepherd et al., 2011). Insurance sales leaders referred to two distinct types of training: knowledge (e.g., product knowledge) and skills (e.g., sales interactions) (P3 & P4). Additionally, insurance sales leaders revealed delivering training in two forms; onboarding and continuing education. The onboarding period is the initial training period in which employees receive training required to perform the essential job functions associated with an insurance sales position (Harward, Taylor, & Hall, 2014). Continuing education training takes place post-onboarding and may continue for several years (Harward et al., 2014). Lassak, Ingram, Kraus, and Di Mascio (2012) disclosed sales leaders must commit to continuous training throughout the agent's tenure and expand sales training to focus on the full range of sales compentencies rather than limiting training programs to knowledge, skills, and abilities. Findings determined sales leaders vary the lengths of the training programs from twelve weeks to 1 year, yet all insurance sales leaders provide skill and knowledge-based training to sales representatives to ensure agent success. In Table 17, I present the frequency in which sales leader interview participants referred to training and development as a strategy to reduce the attrition of sales personnel within the insurance industry.

Table 17

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | - | - |
| P2 | 2,3 | 5 |
| P3 | 1,2,3,4,5,6 | 27 |
| P4 | 2,3 | 10 |
| P5 | 2,5 | 11 |
| P6 | 2,3 | 8 |

Training and Development, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

I found 83% of the sales leader interview participants (5/6) emphasized training and development programs as vital factors in an insurance sales representative's career and ultimately reduce the number of agents who choose to leave the organization or industry. Insurance sales leaders need to ensure new hires receive proper training and onboarding as one of the strategies for reducing attrition (P2 & P3). P4 reiterates this point by stating the following:

We've observed over a number of years that how an agent starts in the business is typically how they finish. So, we place a great deal of energy and attention on helping form the habits that are going to assist the agent long-term.

While insurance sales leaders focus on skill-based training during the onboarding process, most agreed knowledge-based learning is a large part of the continuing education process. P4 describes the company's training as an extensive development

program that includes coaching and accountability, where the first 3-4 months of the program focuses on sales skills rather than knowledge development. P6 shared that the company educates on product and sales skills to ensure the new insurance agent can mimic the behaviors of a successful agent. Sales skill development includes (a) client development, (b) conversion systems, (c) pipeline, and (d) prospecting. P3 added a successful insurance sales agent training program also includes milestones and tracking the leading indicators to understand the agent's progress. Yean and Yahya (2013) discerned that formal insurance training and development programs increase sales performance; therefore, affecting the sales person's motivation.

As presented in Table 18, I also established that 100% of focus group members (6/6) disclosed training and development is significant in reducing sales personnel attrition. FG6 noted insurance agent training is one of the most important parts in determining the individual sales person's weak spots and devising a successful development plan. Focus group participants discussed that knowledge-based learning includes product training and focuses on product value presentations (FG2, FG4, & FG6). FG2 discussed that during the first year and a half of employment with the company, agents attend weekly insurance product training and monthly training with other insurance agents. Conversely, FG4 revealed continuing education provides insurance agents training on (a) best practices of sales personnel, (b) competition, (c) laws, (d) healthcare reform, and (e) staying relevant and contributing in the current marketplace. Focus group personnel provided similar responses as sales leaders that insurance agent training and development is a strategy leaders may use to reduce the attrition of sales personnel.

Table 18

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 2 | 2 |
| FG2 | 4 | 5 |
| FG3 | 3 | 5 |
| FG4 | 2,3 | 10 |
| FG5 | 4 | 3 |
| FG6 | 2,3,4 | 14 |

Training and Development, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

Participants identified mentorship as part of the training and development strategy insurance sales leaders use to increase motivation and decrease attrition. Shepherd et al. (2011) determined mentoring is the second most effective form of training, with on-thejob training being first. Whereas, Jantan and Honeycutt (2013) found mentoring is the third most popular method that leaders should incorporate into sales training; after flexible online training and no change. Sager, Dubinsky, Wilson, and Shao (2014) presented that sales personnel who learn from mentors, learn at a faster rate as the mentor establishes best practices and eases the transition. As I illustrate in Tables 19 and 20, one-half of the sales leader interview participants and one-half of the focus group participants disclosed sales leaders include mentorship in the training and development process.

Table 19

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 7 | 1 |
| P2 | - | - |
| Р3 | 3,4,5 | 9 |
| P4 | 2 | 7 |
| P5 | - | - |
| P6 | - | - |

Mentorship, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

Table 20

Mentorship, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | - | - |
| FG2 | 3 | 4 |
| FG3 | - | - |
| FG4 | 3 | 2 |
| FG5 | - | - |
| FG6 | 3 | 1 |

Insurance sales leader participants who disclosed the company provides a formalized mentorship program; report having greater success in reducing attrition (P3 &

P4). P3 revealed structured mentorship is important to ensure someone invests in the insurance agent's success. P4 stated, "One of our biggest successes that results in new agents achieving production, success, and staying with us long-term is a formal mentor/mentee program." FG2 agreed by stating mentorship helps new agents build relationships and fosters teamwork. Sales leaders and focus group participants disclosed mentorship is a component within the training and development process, which helps increase motivation and reduce attrition.

My review of documentation collected for the study determined that companies have extensive training for new and tenured agents. Each of the company's websites provided information on insurance agent training programs. Brochures from one organization revealed extensive information on the sales development training program. I supported the interview and focus group findings that sales leaders use knowledge-based and skills training to increase motivation and performance with reviews of company's websites and brochure documentation. Jantan and Honeycutt (2013) posed that large organizations normally establish formal sales training programs which include knowledge and skill-based training. Sales skills are notablely the most critical training a salesperson receives during onboarding (Jantan and Honeycutt, 2013). The documentation found only one company's website supports the finding that leaders offer peer mentorship during training and that mentors might be sales leaders, sales trainers, or even peers. The study findings offered mentorship as an element of new agent training and development and insurance sales leaders may implement formal mentoring programs to help reduce attrition.

Emergent Theme 5: Candidate Selection Process

The fifth emergent theme presented necessary improvements to the selection process that involves finding candidates to fill insurance sales personnel positions. Boles et al. (2012) established that sales leaders who ignore attrition issues may cause organizational issues for recruiting high-level talent as recruits remove organizations with persistenly high attrition rates from the application list. Khanna (2014) noted leaders can improve the recruitment and selection process by conducting competency mapping prior to starting the selection process, which allows leaders to identify the knowledge, skills, and attitude for the desired position. Competency mapping may help leaders in the selection decision-making process and aligns core compentencies with: (a) recruitment and selection, (b) training and development, (c) career planning and growth, and (d) rewards and recognition (Khanna, 2014). Participants identified candidate selection as one of the main causes within the organization that leads to attrition (P3 & P4). I found 100% of the sales leader interview participants (6/6) discussed candidate selection as a strategy sales leaders can use to reduce attrition in the insurance industry (see Table 21). Insurance sales leaders use the selection process to assess candidates; however, sales leaders understand a comprehensive selection process extends beyond interviews and assessments. Participants agreed candidate selection involves interviewing individuals, finding individuals who are the right fit, and ensuring the candidate's understanding of roles and responsibilities in association with accepting an insurance sales position (P3, P4, & P6). Insurance sales leaders presented that the candidate selection process may reduce sales personnel attrition and are starting to integrate

strategies to ensure candidate understanding and fit, yet leaders still require further development in this area.

Table 21

| Candidate S | Selection, | Sales | Leaders | (Frequency) |
|-------------|------------|-------|---------|-------------|
|-------------|------------|-------|---------|-------------|

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | 1 | 2 |
| P2 | 1,2 | 4 |
| P3 | 1,2,3,4,7 | 37 |
| P4 | 1,2,3,6,7 | 24 |
| P5 | 1,2,6,7 | 15 |
| P6 | 1,4 | 8 |

As I demonstrate in Table 22, 100% of the focus group participants (6/6) agreed candidate selection is a strategy insurance sales leaders use to reduce attrition. FG5 revealed her company has low attrition due to a company strategy, which awards insurance agent candidates a temporary contract. Insurance agent candidates who fail to meet standards within the first year, do not receive a permanent contract (FG5). If a candidate receives a temporary contract, the insurance sales leader establishes a performance expectation for the agent's first year of employment; the agent must commit to performing to standard or the contract ends.

Table 22

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 2 | 3 |
| FG2 | 2,4 | 9 |
| FG3 | 2 | 2 |
| FG4 | 1,4,6 | 8 |
| FG5 | 1,3,4,5 | 16 |
| FG6 | 2,4 | 3 |

Candidate Selection, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

I revealed 83% of sales leader interview participants (5/6) discussed interviews as a leadership strategy used within the selection process to reduce insurance sales personnel attrition. Interviewing is a process insurance sales leaders use to determine culture fit, internal drive, and understand what motivates the candidate (P3). Shashikala and Sushma (2013) ascertained leaders can increase employee loyalty and establish a leader-follower relationship by (a) promoting the employee's value, (b) fostering teamwork, and (c) encouraging employee input. Whereas, Reed (2014) presented that leaders need to understand that employees have different motivators based on work styles, abilities, and career status. Additionally, Reed (2014) disclosed that sales leaders can determine culture fit by understanding the candidate's behavioral style. Understanding the behaviors and motivators of sales personnel may assist sales leaders in the candidate selection process. In Table 23, I illustrate the frequency in which sales leader interview participants related the candidate interviewing process to reducing attrition.

Table 23

| Interviewing, | Sal | es Leade | lers (Frequency) |) |
|---------------|-----|----------|------------------|---|
|---------------|-----|----------|------------------|---|

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | - | - |
| P2 | 2 | 3 |
| P3 | 1 | 2 |
| P4 | 1,2 | 7 |
| P5 | 3 | 5 |
| P6 | 2 | 3 |
| | | |

A common statement made throughout the study process was the need for insurance sales personnel to possess an inner drive and motivation. Sixty-seven percent of sales leader interview participants (4/6) agreed inner drive and internal motivation as the hardest attributes to assess during the selection process. Assessing internal motivation and drive remain areas that require further exploration.

Insurance sales leaders use various strategies to determine candidate fit with the organization and insurance sales position. P4 revealed that engaging others within the organization for the interview process mitigates the issue of basing selection on one person's perception of the candidate. Only 33% of the sales leader interview participants (2/6) disclosed using an interview strategy of including other company personnel in the

interview process to provide insight on the agent candidate to reduce bias. Some sales leaders suggested using other strategies to assess the fit of the candidate.

Sales leader interview participants disclosed using employment assessment tools by Life Insurance and Market Research Association[®] and Gallup[®] during the selection process, which measure the personality traits and attributes of potential candidates (P2 & P4). In fact, 50% of sales leader interview participants (3/6), and 33% of focus group participants (2/6) mentioned using employment assessments tools in the hiring of insurance sales personnel. P3 shared perspectives on several employment assessment tools that formalize profiles, by pass the standard resume, and provide understanding on how an individual sells. Relatedly, P4 ascertained the company uses a strength assessment, which compares the candidate's performance and mindset profile to that of successful sales personnel. Conversely, P6 stated, the sales leader should trust the gut instinct during the hiring process because an agent candidate rarely fits 100% of the desired job requirements. Insurance sales leaders should select an individual with the core qualities required for the position and provide training development programs to resolve knowledge and skill based gaps (P5). Consequently, leaders might make hiring decisions use interviews, assessment data, gut instinct, resumes, and feedback from others within the company.

I discovered 67% of focus group participants (4/6) presented insurance sales leaders use the interview process as a strategy to reduce attrition (see Table 24). A participant in Focus Group 1 stated, "If sales leaders want to reduce attrition, more work needs to occur upfront to eliminate candidates who are not focused and disciplined to handle the position." Robson et al. (2014) discerned sales representative recruitment should focus on the candidate's understanding of the role to establish long-term, mutually beneficial relationships rather than generating sales activity. FG6 suggested insurance sales leaders may need to integrate more exercises and activities to understand the participant's skill level. Verbeke et al. (2011) posed sales leaders should understand a salesperson's ability to (a) resolve conflict, (b) make a presentation, (c) comprehend product features and benefits. Focus group participants agreed with the insurance sales leaders statements to use of interviews as a strategy to reduce attrition; however, the participants disclosed areas where sales leaders could improve the process.

Table 24

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | - | - |
| FG2 | 2 | 1 |
| FG3 | 2 | 1 |
| FG4 | - | - |
| FG5 | 3,4 | 4 |
| FG6 | 3 | 7 |

Interviewing, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

Determining the necessary qualities of an insurance sales representative candidate is complex. I determined 83% of sales leader interview participants (5/6) focus on organizational and positional fit when selecting candidates for an insurance sales personnel role. Raina and Roebuck (2016) posed a significant relationship exists between attrition and (a) downward communication, (b) employee satisfaction, and (c) organizational commitment. Sales leaders may reduce attrition by ensuring organizational and positional fit during candidate selection and providing a culture that inspires commitment, satisfaction, and communication. In Table 25, I illustrate the frequency in which interview participants discussed the the right fit of a candidate in relation to reducing the attrition of sales personnel within the insurance industry.

Table 25

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | - | - |
| P2 | 1,2 | 3 |
| P3 | 1,2,3 | 20 |
| P4 | 2 | 8 |
| P5 | 2,3,6 | 15 |
| P6 | 1,2,4 | 7 |

Right Fit, Sales Leaders (Frequency)

Placing an individual in the wrong position leads to frustration and ultimately attrition (Raina & Roebuck, 2016). Mulki et al. (2015) determined that sales leaders can motivate employees by setting clear tasks and making rewards contingent upon achieving goals. P3 stated sales personnel possess an entrepreneurial spirit and internal motivation. Similarly, P5 disclosed the average closing ratio in insurance sales is 10%, so sales personnel must remain self-motivated. Insurance sales leaders who find sales personnel with an internal drive may experience reduced attrition rates.

One-hundred percent of sales leader interview participants agreed that internal motivation is an essential attribute of being a successful insurance salesperson. P3 disclosed you can teach a new hire product, market, and building relationships; yet, the sales leader faces challenges instilling and measuring motivation. P3 stated the selection process goes beyond a candidate's talent, context, and experience; insurance sales leaders must use the selection process to determine culture fit and uncover the individual's motivators. Schwepker (2015) noted sales personnel who experience a mis-alignment with organizational values experience (a) poor work attitudes and feelings, (b) interpersonal role conflict, (c) negative impact to organizational commitment, (d) lack of job satisfaction, and (e) intent to terminate employment. Raina and Roebuck (2016) determined sales leaders could increase employee motivation through communicating the organization goals and strategic vision. Raina and Roebuck (2016) also stated communication can assist sales leaders with determining sales personnel motivators by building trust, engagement, and leader-follower relations. Sales leaders understand that internal motivation is a characteristic of a successful sales person, yet challenges exist in determining the right fit and understanding the individual motivators.

Insurance sales personnel handle running a business, whether an employee of a company, owner of an agency, or a captive agent. P4 suggested new insurance agents become successful if the agent is willing to make internal changes; individuals do not change mindsets or situations by entering a new organization. Successful insurance

103

salespeople get up every day motivated to sell, whether the sales leader is watching them or not (P3). Insurance sales personnel may face the challenge of finding time to focus on (a) understanding the market, (b) staying abreast of regulations, (c) learning current products, (d) building company relationships, (e) catering to existing clients, (f) finding new clients, (g) selling business, (h) consulting clients, and (i) leveraging relationships to build new relationships. P4 disclosed a strategy used in the selection process to determine a good fit, which involves inviting candidates to company meetings and engagements. Insurance sales leaders who integrate the agent candidate into the company's culture early on may better understand the fit between the candidate and the organization.

As demonstrated in Table 26, 100% of focus group (6/6) participants disclosed that sales leaders need to hire candidates who are the right fit for an insurance sales position as a strategy to reduce attrition. A focus group participant mentioned insurance sales leaders need to recruit and hire individuals who (a) thrive on competition, (b) like recognition, (c) strive to be at the top, (d) are *Type A* personalities, (e) optimistic, and (e) are extroverted (FG5). Conversely, another focus group participant presented that candidates must possess the following: (a) social skills, (b) general likeability, (c) adaptability to change, and (d) understand how to maintain individual value in the marketplace (FG4). Focus group participants agreed that finding candidates who are the right fit for an insurance sales position is crucial in reducing attrition; however, sales leaders also need to explore further the attributes of a success insurance sales person.

Table 26

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 2 | 3 |
| FG2 | 2 | 2 |
| FG3 | 2 | 4 |
| FG4 | 1,4 | 11 |
| FG5 | 1,3,4,5 | 14 |
| FG6 | 1,2 | 3 |

Right Fit, Sales Representatives (Frequency)

Insurance sales leaders should communicate with candidates throughout the selection process to ensure a firm understanding of job expectations and establish organizational commitment. Raina and Roebuck (2016) established that leaders do not provide enough communication regarding job expectations which leads to a lack of organizational commitment on behalf of the employee. I found 67% of sales leader interview participants (4/6) addressed candidate understanding and full disclosure of roles and responsibilities, while 100% of focus group participants (6/6) stressed a lack of the candidate's understanding and expectations. My analysis found a gap in insurance sales leader and sales representative viewpoints on the information insurance sales leaders provide to candidates during the selection process. I illustrate the gap in sales leader and sales representative viewpoints in Tables 27 and 28, which demonstrates the frequency

that each group referred to candidate understanding as a strategy to reduce the attrition of sales personnel within the insurance industry.

Table 27

| Candidate | Understanding, | Sales Leaders | (Frequency) |
|-----------|----------------|---------------|-------------|
|-----------|----------------|---------------|-------------|

| Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|-------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| P1 | - | - |
| P2 | - | - |
| P3 | 2,3,4,7 | 9 |
| P4 | 2 | 3 |
| P5 | 2,3 | 4 |
| P6 | 1,2 | 8 |

Table 28

| Focus Group Participant | Interview questions | Total number of references |
|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|
| FG1 | 2 | 9 |
| FG2 | 2,4 | 7 |
| FG3 | 2 | 6 |
| FG4 | 4,6 | 4 |
| FG5 | 3,4,5 | 6 |
| FG6 | 1,2 | 16 |

Sales leader interview participants mentioned issues with candidate understanding and strategies to mitigate misunderstandings that occur during selection. P5 stated, "Candidates fail to see the 80-90 hours a veteran agent worked the first 5 years and only see the nice home, car, and income." Insurance sales leaders build a picture that presents a high-income career instead of showing the realistic work effort an agent endures to accomplish to achieve a high level of success (P6). P3 disclosed insurance sales leaders face difficulty in disclosing the challenges of the business as opposed to promoting the positive aspects of the business; full disclosure benefits the candidate, leader, and organization. Whereas, P4 revealed the following strategy to improve candidate understanding and the overall selection process:

Leaders inform candidates that the business is challenging and spend more time on the difficulties rather than the good parts of the business, and this has been done throughout the material covered, questions asked, and activities and exercises.

Focus group participants shared a need for candidates to understand the challenges in an insurance sales position, the reality of compensation at the onset of a sales person's career, and what a candidate should expect when entering the business. FG2 proposed that if insurance sales leaders disclose the expectations to potential new agents, some candidates may self-eliminate. FG3 agreed that insurance sales leaders fail to set expectations, so new hires perceive insurance sales is simple and fail to realize tenured agents spent years building a successful business. FG6 stated, "Candidates don't hear the pitfalls of the business or the hard work it takes to get to the top level, some sales

leaders embellish on the ease of obtaining a monetary figure or bonus by over-selling the opportunity." Focus group participants noted other items insurance sales leaders fail to disclose include (a) the time required to establish a new business, (b) intensity of work ethic and discipline, and (c) organizational challenges. Insurance sales leaders fail to set expectations when hiring new agents, which causes new hires to experience frustration from failing to meet goals and leads to attrition (FG1).

I reviewed organizational websites and brochures provided by participants as documentation for the study. Through the documentation review, I determined that all three companies use a process to select candidates for an insurance sales personnel position. One organizational website demonstrated a requirement that candidates to complete employment assessments prior to proceeding in the selection process and outlines the selection process from beginning to end. The other two organizational websites provided information on the interview process and outlined the selection process. In reviewing study related brochures and websites, I determined company practices for selection varied by organization, yet each organization had a selection process in place. Boles et al. (2012) disclosed that sales leaders assess sales representative candidates for attitudes and behaviors relative to those identified in past high performing sales personnel. One organizational website stated the insurance agent candidate must achieve an acceptable rating on the assessment to move forward in the selection process. The remaining companies did not provide extensive detail on the assessment process; however, the organizations outlined the selection process.

My analysis of the documentation supported the perception of participants that sales leaders should seek candidates who fit the profile of an insurance sales representative. Statements on websites included (a) build your clientele, (b) set your income, (c) build a business, (d) energized by a challenge and willing to accept a risk, (e) financial commitment, and (f) embrace complex challenges. I reviewed insurance sales personnel job descriptions posted on the internet and postings failed to include the sales personnel attributes discussed by focus groups members. Robson et al. (2014) conducted a review of job descriptions for sales personnel in financial services and found the descriptions lacked themes around (a) trust, (b) responsibility, (c) culture, (d) value, and (e) customer loyalty. Reviewing job descriptions was not an objective of this study; as a result, the information presented is limited. However, participant information is important to note as the findings determined a gap in the attraction process and presented an opportunity for a future study.

I found one company's website disclosed everyone is not a fit for the insurance agent role; the position requires financial commitment, time, and hard work to build a business. Another organizational website expanded on the ideology and required completion of web-based modules to ensure candidates understand the opportunity and commitment. Conversely, another company's website stated the benefits of being a salesperson without disclosing the challenges. While one company provided disclosure on the challenges agents face in insurance sales, the documentation review collaborates the perspectives of sales leaders and focus group participants that insurance sales leaders can improve the information provided to candidates during the selection process. Raina and Roebuck (2016) identified that leader-follower communications can increase productivity and reduce attrition; leaders set a standard of performance when openly relaying expectations to followers.

Findings Related to Expectancy Theory

My study findings on how sales leaders reduce attrition within the insurance industry align with Vroom (1964) ET motivational systems which include (a) participative management, (b) self-managed teams, (c) just-in-time training, and (d) pay contingent on performance. The first motivational system involves participative management. Insurance sales leaders take a participative role in management to increase the motivation of sales teams and select candidates who fit the insurance sales personnel role. Sales leaders and focus group participants identified motivation as an attribute that candidates must possess to qualify for a new agent position. The second motivational system aligns with the strategies sales leaders apply for self-managed team and that insurance sales personnel may self-manage. The third motivational system includes justin-time training. Sales leaders and focus group participants agreed the use of onboarding and development plans as strategies to reduce attrition. The fourth motivational system, pay contingent on performance applies to my findings in compensation and rewards. Insurance sales leaders disclosed that compensation and rewards provide motivation for increase sales performance. I determined motivation is the underlying factor of the strategies sales leaders use to reduce the attrition of sales personnel within the insurance industry. The following five themes emerged from my study that align with ET (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates.

In the first theme that emerged, I found insurance sales leaders use motivation as a strategy to reduce the attrition of sales personnel. Furthermore, sales leaders use motivation to select candidates, increase performance, and retain employees. Insurance sales leader participants disclosed that internal motivation and external motivation are equally important in reducing personnel attrition within the insurance industry. Consequently, sales leaders must ensure strategies focus on selecting candidates with internal motivation, while implementing strategies to increase external motivation.

According to ET, employees establish motivation through engagement with the organization (Hunter, 2012). Motivation is intrinsic or extrinsic and emotions affect an individual's level of motivation; therefore, determining satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the outcomes (Dysvik & Kuvaas, 2010; Hunter, 2012; Rizwan & Mukhtar, 2014). My findings from the interviews and focus groups align with ET as participants presented that individuals may find motivation internally or externally. Individuals experience intrinsic factors through achievement of work, recognition, and advancement (Houkes et al., 2014). Alternatively, individuals encounter extrinsic motivational factors from work conditions, supervisor relations, salary, and company policies (Houkes et al., 2014). I determined that insurance sales leaders may influence both intrinsic and extrinsic motivational factors; however, sales leaders cannot create motivation within an individual who does not possess internal motivation.

With the emergence of the second theme, I found ET relates to the leadership's use of motivation and creating a culture of engagement; as insurance sales leaders are the center influence within the sales force for motivating sales personnel and establishing a culture of engagement. Leaders use motivational systems to manipulate the employee's work environment and performance (Hunter, 2012). Kuster and Canales (2011) discerned a large portion of a sales leader's role revolves around motivation, a tool used in sales to achieve success. Employee engagement is the relationship between the employee and the organization in which employees connect with others and perform work at a satisfactory level (Gruman & Saks, 2011). Magnusson, Peterson, and Westjohn (2013) defined culture as the written and unwritten rules of conduct within the organization. Employees find engagement with the organization through (a) psychological contracts, (b) perceived organizational support, (c) trust, and (d) leader-member exchange (Tekleab & Chiaburu, 2011). Insurance sales leaders promote a culture of engagement through motivational systems and creating conduct that encourages employee relations.

The third theme, compensation and rewards as sales motivators, align with pay contingent on performance, which is a motivational system in ET. Bhadra (2015) stated, "One of the most crucial factors influencing sales force motivation and performance is sales force compensation." The main components of compensation and rewards are salary, commissions, and incentives (Kuster & Canales, 2011). Insurance sales leaders may use compensation and rewards as a motivator to increase performance and reduce attrition. I found that the necessity for training and development as a theme relates to ET as the programs that insurance sales leaders implement to support sales personnel may increase performance and motivation and in turn reduce insurance sales personnel attrition. Training and development is an organizational support program (Boles et al., 2015). Kraimer et al. (2011) represented organizational support programs such as training development relate to reducing attrition, while Gilbert and Davies (2011) ascertained the importance of ongoing organizational support programs to engage and motivate sales personnel.

The last theme to emerge involved the need to improve the selection process. Hunter (2012) determined ET involves (a) force, (b) valence, and (c) expectancy. Selection relates to ET as the insurance agent candidate applies effort with the expectation of achieving a particular outcome. Robson, Beninger, and Hall (2014) discerned the recruitment process involves attraction, recruitment, and selection. Attraction is the process of drawing individuals into a pool of potential candidates while recruitment reduces the pool of potential candidates by eliminating individuals who do not meet the basic criteria for the position (Robson et al., 2014). Selection is the final stage of the process and involves selecting candidates from the remaining pool (Robson et al., 2014).

Findings Related to Business Practices

My study findings may improve business practices within the insurance industry. Sales leaders and sales representatives presented perspectives resulting in the following themes: (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates. Insurance sales leaders who implement the strategies defined within this study, may decrease the attrition of sales personnel.

The first theme, leadership's responsibility in motivating sales personnel may improve business practices by providing leaders strategies on internal and external motivation. Sales leaders can influence internal and external motivators (Rizwan & Mukhtar, 2014). Leaders need to understand the individual motivators for followers (Hunter, 2012). Leaders who build leader-follower relations and seek to understand follower needs, may increase motivation.

My findings in the second theme, organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement may require leaders to establish trust and interaction in leader-follower relationships which might increase employee engagement. Mullins and Syam (2014) disclosed trust and communication are essential to increasing salesperson engagement; whereas, Lyus et al. (2011) stated communication is a critical component of interaction and collaboration. As a result, insurance sales leaders who establish trust and communication may create a culture of engagement. Malik (2012) identified organizations that improve engagement see the benefits of increased productivity and reduced attrition.

In the third theme, I determined sales leaders and focus group participants present compensation and rewards as a strategy insurance sales leaders use to reduce attrition. Shashikala and Sushma (2013) ascertained that solely providing fair compensation will not decrease attrition, but providing below average market compensation will ensure employees seek employment elsewhere. My study findings on compensation and rewards revealed that insurance sales leaders use incentives to motivate sales personnel which may further contribute to reducing attrition. Insurance sales leaders may use various incentives such as sales contests and trips to increase performance and decrease attrition (P2, P3, & P6). Kishore et al. (2013) discussed that sales leaders must evaluate employee benefits and ensure compensation and rewards remain competitive to retain sales personnel. While sales leaders did not note retirement plans as a current strategy, insurance sales leaders might consider reviewing employee benefits as a future initiative to reduce attrition.

The fourth theme, the necessity for training and development, provides insight into the need for organizations to establish sales training and development programs. Tekleab and Chiaburu (2011) introduced training as important for increasing employee engagement and motivation. Leaders who provide training and development programs increase performance (Chiang & Hsieh, 2012). Bhadra (2015) revealed leaders must make sales force motivation part of the organizational strategy, wherein, the organization must create systems and processes that enable sales force motivation and the accomplishment of goals. Insurance sales leaders may consider including training and development in strategic plans. Yean and Yahya (2013) determined insurance training programs should add value to the insurance agent's knowledge base and provide training on (a) business management, (b) entrepreneurial development, (c) leadership and team building, (d) customer relationship management, (e) e-marketing, and (f) advanced financial training. The finding by Yean and Yahya (2013) coincides with participants' statements regarding the need for sales personnel to possess an entrepreneurial spirit and act like business owners. Whereas, Lahey and Quist-Newins (2011) suggested leaders may reduce agent attrition by providing continuing education, mentorship, and goal setting. Insurance sales leaders may provide insurance agent training to reduce attrition and increase performance; however, sales leaders might consider incorporating entrepreneurial aspects into continuing education curriculums.

The fifth theme uncovered a need to improve the selection process. P4 described selection as an attribute in reducing attrition; therefore, the industry as a whole can continue to improve the selection process for hiring insurance sales personnel. I determined insurance sales leaders use interviews to eliminate agent candidates who do not fit organizational and positional needs, which reduces attrition. Leaders should implement thorough hiring practices for critical employees (Choudhury, 2012). A thorough selection process includes sound hiring decisions and finding candidates who fit the organization and position. While I found insurance sales leaders could improve strategies in the area of candidate understanding, some leader strategies provide candidates a realistic picture of insurance sales. Focus group participants provided insight on strategies insurance sales leaders might implement to assist candidates in making informed decisions regarding an insurance sales position. Leaders who practice a high level of exchange with followers see lower levels of attrition (Han & Jekel, 2011).

and expectations to prevent role ambiguity and role conflict. Verbeke, Dietz, and Verwaal (2011) posed that role ambiguity occurs when sales personnel receive insufficient information on job expectations and role conflict is a misunderstanding of job expectations. Insurance sales leaders who fail to disclose the hardships of the role during the selection process, miss the opportunity for the candidate to make a true assessment of the role. In contrast, sales leaders who ensure a candidate's understanding of roles and responsibilities may increase candidate engagement and reduce insurance sales personnel attrition.

Applications to Professional Practice

Identifying the strategies sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition is vital to the success of leaders, sales representatives, and customers. The majority of participants indicated strategies to reduce insurance sales personnel attrition includes (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates. Through sales leader interviews, focus groups, and documentation reviews, I identified factors that contribute to the attrition of sales personnel. As a result, participants would receive a summary as a resource to integrate the findings into organizational strategies.

The study findings may apply to sales leaders in the insurance industry by providing insight into (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates. By conducting this research, I contribute to the gap in business practice on insurance sales personnel attrition. A critical emerging theme from the study involved the sales leader's role in motivating sales personnel. Motivation is the desired amount of effort applied to a task or job (Verbeke et al., 2011). Sales leaders use motivation to influence over the attitude and behavior of sales personnel (Evans et al., 2012; Mulki et al., 2015). Leaders can affect personnel motivation through the leader-follower relationship (Gangwar et al., 2013). This research may fill knowledge gaps regarding the strategies sales leaders use to reduce attrition within the insurance industry. Additionally, the study may help insurance leaders identify ways to improve organizational strategy and engagement. Insurance leaders could incorporate organizational support strategies from the study to improve company programs and employee welfare. The knowledge gained from this study could provide sales leaders with strategies for engaging with potential candidates and guidance on improving the candidate selection process. Strategies shared by insurance sales leaders and sales personnel may increase communication and engagement within the insurance organizations; leaders and agents might find mutual understanding of each other's needs. Leaders who align with employee needs increase engagement (Buble et al., 2014) and leaders affect motivation when increasing employee engagement (Fowers, 2012). My study findings may lead to improved culture, employee development, knowledge management, organizational effectiveness and efficiency, productivity, and sustainment.

Implications for Social Change

The study findings create implications for positive social change for sales personnel, customers, the community, and the economy. Participant 6 stated, "Whenever we lose an agent, there's an impact on the sales leader and the company, but also the customer. The huge challenges we endure is the customer impact and the service issues that ensue when they have a new agent." Insurance sales leaders may apply strategies to reduce attrition in the insurance industry to mitigate issues involving: (a) employees, (b) candidates, (c) customers, (d) communities, and (e) the economy.

The first implication for positive social change that results from reducing attrition affects sales personnel. When sales leaders apply strategies to reduce attrition, insurance sales personnel may remain with the organization; resulting in sustained career paths. Employees who engage with leaders and organizations have a lower intention to quit and demonstrate higher performance (Sturman, Shao, & Katz, 2012). Sales personnel who experience organizational fit and satisfaction also experience stable personal lives, which enables providing for self and families (Schwepker & Good, 2012).

The second implication affects candidates for insurance sales personnel positions. Insurance sales leaders may implement strategies to improve the candidate selection process and provide full disclosure on the insurance sales position. Insurance sales leaders may prevent the selection of candidates who are not the right fit, which results in finding candidates who may be successful and experience job satisfaction. Informed candidates might make effective career decisions that may (a) reduce personal debt, (b) frustration, and (c) provide an opportunity to find a position and organization that offers fulfillment (Sturman et al., 2012). Sales leaders who hire candidates who understand the roles and responsibilities of an insurance sales position and have organizational fit may increase customer and community satisfaction.

The third positive social change resulting from reduced attrition involves insurance customers. When sales leaders reduce attrition, customers experience consistency in service, continuous coverage, and a higher level of satisfaction. Sales leaders can improve benefits, service, and customer issues by implementing strategies to reduce sales personnel attrition. Customers depend on insurance companies to provide protection for homes, families, and health (Potter, 2013). Providing sales representative consistency leads to dependability for customers and improves customer service (Schwepker & Good, 2012). The customer benefits from continuous coverage from the same insurance carrier, which results in fewer claims issues and time spent on new coverage enrollment (Schwepker & Good, 2012).

The fourth social change factor affected by sales leader strategies to reduce attrition is the community. Insurance sales leaders who retain the right insurance sales personnel create stability for the organization and customers which increases community relations. Insurance personnel actively engage with the community. Increasing insurance sales personal tenure ensures consistency and stability within the community and establishes partnerships. Leaders who mitigate attrition issues also experience customer and community loyalty (Raina & Roebuck, 2016). Customers are loyal to customerfacing representatives of the organization, so the loss of sales personnel causes disruption. Sales personnel who leave the organization cause negative customer and community views of the organizational brand such as inconsistency, unreliability, and untrustworthiness (Subramony & Holtom, 2012).

The fifth positive social change implication involves economical benefits. The economical benefits of reducing the attrition of sales personnel include reducing the unemployment of individuals who voluntarily terminate employment and preventing candidates from accepting employment under false conditions (Negi, 2013). When sales leaders reduce attrition, the economy might see a decrease in the unemployment rate and the number of individuals filing for unemployment. Leaders experience economical benefits in increased profitability when reducing attrition (Boles et al, 2012).

Insurance sales leaders who implement strategies to reduce sales personnel attrition might provide opportunities to improve the welfare of sales personnel, customers, the community, and the economy. Through increasing communication and engagement, leaders have an opportunity to improve organizational commitment and job satisfaction, which may lead to increased performance and decreased attrition (Raina & Roebuck, 2016). As a result, insurance sales leaders may make an impact on existing and future employees and customers.

Recommendations for Action

Synthesizing sales leader interviews, focus groups with sales personnel, and documentation resulted in five recommended actions for sales leaders within the insurance industry to consider for reducing attrition. Sales leaders are crucial to reducing sales personnel attrition (Campbell, 2012). Insurance sales leaders who implement the following recommendations may reduce sales personnel attrition.

First, insurance sales leaders should review the hiring practices to ensure attraction and recruitment processes provide a generous pool of potential candidates. Robson et al. (2014) determined the initial hiring processes involve attraction and recruitment, which supply leaders with candidates who meet the basic criteria for the position. Sales leaders should ensure attraction and recruitment align with the candidate selection process. I recommend insurance sales leaders implement a rigorous candidate selection process to identify and retain individuals who are the right fit. A rigorous candidate selection process should include the following: (a) sales personality assessment, (b) resume review, (c) interviews with sales leaders and others within the organizations, and (d) exercises and activities. A significant factor in reducing attrition is for sales leaders to allow candidates to self-eliminate; therefore, increasing the talent pool of viable candidates and reducing time spent to find replacements. Insurance sales leaders must ensure candidates possess organizational and positional fit and understand the roles and responsibilities of pursuing an insurance sales position. I recommend insurance sales leaders fully disclose the challenges of the business and expectations of the sales role to increase the likelihood of finding candidates who can commit to the position long-term.

Second, insurance sales leaders should recognize the value of organizational commitment and support as a strategy to reduce attrition. I recommend insurance sales leaders provide agents with the appropriate programs and processes required to succeed in today's marketplace. Gilbert and Davies (2011) disclosed sales tools as easy and inexpensive to implement; yet, the return on investment is insurmountable. Also,

leadership should promote teamwork and continue promoting collaboration within organizations.

Third, insurance sales leaders need to review compensation and rewards programs and seize opportunities to provide new agents a solid foundation when starting in the business. Insurance sales leaders who implement financing programs for new hires may see success in reducing attrition. I recommend insurance sales leaders explore retirement plans as an incentive. Kuster and Canales (2011) stated a sales leader's compensation model directly affects performance and effectiveness.

Fourth, insurance sales leaders need to invest in training and development to ensure sales representative readiness and success. To ensure agent success, I suggest insurance sales leaders provide (a) knowledge and skills training, (b) best practices, (c) continuing education, and (d) a formalized mentoring program. Insurance sales leaders should extend continuing education to include business owner and entrepreneurial training courses. Yean and Yahya (2013) stated agents need to receive training that coincides with the entrepreneurial spirit and business ownership. Lahey and Quist-Newins (2011) presented mentoring and continuing education as factors in reducing agent attrition.

Fifth, insurance sales leaders should recognize that one leadership style does not fit all followers. Motivation is fundamental in leading sales teams (Kuster & Canales, 2011). I recommend insurance sales leaders determine the motivators for individual sales personnel. Hunter (2012) stated employees find motivation through engagement within the organization. Insurance sales leaders need to create a culture of engagement by (a) establishing communication channels, (b) promoting idea sharing, (c) incorporating sales force ideas and input into organizational strategy, and (d) having a system of accountability. Malik (2012) ascertained that organizational leaders who improve engagement, benefit through increasing productivity and decreasing attrition.

The findings support the recommendations outlined above as participants noted the significance of (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates. Insurance sales leaders who establish strategies for reducing sales personnel attrition might also improve productivity and efficiency. The audience for the doctoral study should include insurance sales leaders, insurance sales representatives, stakeholders, business consultants, academic practitioners, and researchers who may build upon study findings and add to the body of knowledge. I may present the findings through (a) articles, (b) training seminars, (c) conferences, and (d) integrating into organizational training and development programs.

Recommendations for Further Research

Based on the findings of the research, I recommend further research on business practices and limitations to the existing research to provide knowledge on strategies sales leaders can use to reduce attrition. The first recommendation is to conduct future research with a broader population. An opportunity exists to expand the research to other geographical areas. As I conducted the study in Nebraska, researchers may seek to broaden the population to include other states or countries.

The second recommendation is to conduct a quantitative study of strategies sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. A quantitative study method would allow for a broader participant base and might provide additional insight into leadership strategies. Researchers may seek a deeper exploration into the topic by conducting mixed-methods. The mixed-methods approach would allow the researcher to combine the quantitative and qualitative approaches; therefore, providing a greater amount of data.

The third recommendation is to duplicate the study on a sales population other than the insurance industry. Conducting research on another industry might provide a diverse perspective on sales leadership strategies to reduce attrition. Researchers may identify additional strategies to reduce attrition of sales representatives.

The fourth recommendation is to conduct an in-depth exploration of sales personnel hiring practices. The findings determined that insurance sales leaders use candidate selection as a strategy to reduce attrition, yet I found gaps in the process that require further exploration. For example, participants listed required skills and characteristics that were not present in the insurance sales personnel job descriptions, and participants agreed that assessments do not measure the basic characteristics that sales leaders seek when interviewing candidates. Researchers could conduct studies on the attraction, recruitment, and selection process to ensure alignment and define an aligned process, which could assist sales leaders in further reducing attrition. The fifth recommendation for improving business practices is to research sales manager attrition. Sales managers have a vital role within the organization and face unique challenges. A focus group participant mentioned the high attrition rate of sales managers within the insurance industry. Researchers might conduct a study to explore sales manager attrition and the effect on the organization and sales force.

During the research process, sales leader interview participants and focus group members revealed other issues within the insurance industry that researchers may want to explore which include (a) understanding how to work across generations, (b) motivating tenured agents, (c) increasing diversity in the insurance industry, and (d) building best practices for insurance agents. Based on the study findings, recommendations for further research regarding sales leader strategies to reduce attrition within the insurance industry would add to the limited literature on sales force attrition. The recommendations mentioned above may afford researchers with an opportunity to provide knowledge to a limited field of research. The recommendations might also present sales leaders with new strategies for increasing organizational effectiveness, motivation, and performance. The findings of this study may offer sales leaders strategies to reduce the attrition of sales personnel in the insurance industry.

Reflections

The findings of this study established a qualitative single descriptive case study is a practical approach to exploring what strategies sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. I underestimated the difficulty in obtaining study participants. I sent a multitude of e-mails to potential participants and did not receive a response from the majority; however, I was able to obtain enough participants to conduct the study and reach saturation. I followed each step of my interview protocol, and participants answered each interview question. I recorded each session and took detailed notes. After the transcription of all recordings, I then compared transcriptions to the recordings for accuracy.

I found the interview process exhilarating and insightful. I have been in the insurance industry and worked with insurance sales leaders and sales personnel for over 11 years. My first-hand knowledge of the subject and witnessing the negative results of attrition led to my pursuit of the study. Hence, I had to remain objective and seek to understand participant's perspectives through sales leader interviews, focus groups, and documentation reviews. Participants were excited to have a study conducted on the insurance industry and expressed that the study provoked thoughtfulness on a subject not often discussed, yet it is known as an issue. As I met with sales leaders and sales representatives, I began to see themes emerge that I had not anticipated. Throughout the study process, the importance of the study became even more prominent. Participants were forthcoming with information and provided detailed insight into strategies used and challenges faced by the insurance industry. I quickly realized that motivation is the driving force of sales. I learned that leaders may influence an individual's motivation; however, a successful salesperson must possess the internal motivation and drive to succeed. Participants were excited about seeing the results of the study and the potential opportunities for the insurance industry. I am beyond grateful to the sales leaders and

sales representatives who took the time to meet with me and share perspectives on what strategies sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition.

Summary and Study Conclusions

The purpose of this qualitative single descriptive case study was to explore the strategies that sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. The study took place in Nebraska. Insurance sales leaders encounter a loss of knowledge and a decrease in competitive advantage because of attrition (Messah & Kubai, 2011). Employee attrition is an average of 26% for the insurance industry (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2014), and 71% for insurance sales personnel in the first 2 years of employment (Honan, 2013). Insurance sales leaders are unable to reduce high attrition rates, and some insurance sales leaders lack strategies to reduce attrition. Sales leaders within the insurance industry need to evaluate organizational strategies to incorporate processes and programs that motivate sales personnel and reduce sales force attrition.

The five themes that evolved from the study are (a) leadership's responsibility for motivating sales personnel, (b) organizational commitment to creating a culture of engagement, (c) the use of compensation and rewards as sales motivators, (d) the necessity for training and development, and (e) a need to improve the selection process for new candidates. Sales leaders may partner with sales representatives and other organizational leaders to implement organizational strategies. The implications for social change resulting from the findings of the doctoral study include the effects on insurance sales personnel, customers, the community, and the economy. Sales leaders who implement strategies to reduce attrition may affect the welfare of insurance sales personnel and potential candidates. Sales representatives and potential candidates may experience sustainable careers, lives, and individual fulfillment. Customers may also experience increased levels of satisfaction as a result of attrition strategies. Tenured sales representatives provide customers with consistency, continuous coverage, and improved benefits. Additionally, sales leaders impact the community when addressing attrition issues. Sales representatives actively engage in community events and create long-term partnerships; thus, retaining agents builds stability and trust in the community. An implication of social, economic change exists in reducing unemployment of tenured agents and candidates who accept positions under false pretenses.

I deduced from the study that candidate selection, organizational support, and leadership are vital strategies sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. Insurance sales leaders need to understand sales representative motivation and involve sales representative views in organizational strategies to ensure rigorous candidate selection processes, implement successful organizational support programs, increase motivation, and create a culture of engagement. Integrating the sales leadership strategies defined in the study may help sales leaders within the insurance industry decrease attrition.

References

- Alao, D., & Adeyemo, A. B. (2013). Analyzing employee attrition using decision tree algorithms. *Computing, Information Systems & Development Informatics, 4*(1), 17-28. Retrieved from www.iiste.org
- Ali, A., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalizability. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, 5, 25-64.
 Retrieved from www.iiste.org
- Allio, R. J. (2013). Leaders and leadership many theories, but what advice is reliable? *Strategy & Leadership*, *41*(1), 4-14. doi:10/1108/10878571311290016
- Amine, M. E. A., Chakor, A., & Alaoui, A. M. (2012). Ethics, relationship marketing and corporate performance: Theoretical analysis through the mediating variables.
 International Business Research, 5(8), 68-84. doi:10.5539/ibr.v5n8p68
- Andert, D., Platt, A., & Alexakis, G. (2011). Alternative, grassroots, and rogue
 leadership: A case for alternating leaders in organizations. *Journal of Applied Business Research*, 27, 53-61. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com
- Arbak, E., & Villeval, M. (2013). Voluntary leadership: Motivation and influence. Social Choice and Welfare, 40, 635-662. doi:10.1007/s00355-011-0626-2
- Arokiasamy, A. R. A. (2013). A qualitative study on causes and effects of employee turnover in the private sector in Malaysia. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research*, 16, 1532-1541. doi:10.5829/idosi.mejsr.2013.16.11.12044
- Avolio, B. J., Bass, B. M., & Jung, D. I. (2010). Reexamining the components of transformational and transactional leadership using the Multifactor Leadership

Questionnaire. *Journal of Organizational and Occupational Psychology*, 72, 441-462. doi:10.1348/096317999166789

- Aydogdu, S., & Asikgil, B. (2011). An empirical study of the relationship among job satisfaction, organizational commitment and turnover intention. *International Review of Management and Marketing*, 1(3), 43-53. Retrieved from www.econjournals.com
- Bakker, A. B. (2013). Advances in positive organizational psychology, (Vol. 1). Bingley,UK: Emerald Publishing.
- Banks, J., Patel, C. J., & Moola, M. A. (2012). Perceptions of inequity in the workplace:
 Exploring the link with unauthorized absenteeism. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, 10(1), 1-8. doi:10.4102/sajhrm.v10i1.402
- Barratt, M., Choi, T. Y., & Li, M. (2011). Qualitative case studies in operations management: Trends, research outcomes, and future research implications. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29, 329-342. doi:10.1016/j.jom.2010.06.002
- Bass, B. & Avolio, B. (2010). Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire: The benchmark measure of transformational leadership. Retrieved from http://www.mindgarden.com

Berber, A., & Rofcanin, Y. (2012). Investigation of organization citizenship behavior construct a framework for antecedents and consequences. *International Journal of Business and Social Research*, 2, 195-210. Retrieved from http://www.thejournalofbusiness.org

- Bernard, H. R., & Bernard, H. R. (2013). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Berry-Stolzle, T. R., & Eckles, D. L. (2011). Incentives of insurance salespersons from future renewal commissions. *Fox School of Business and Management*, 1-44 Retrieved from www.fox.temple.edu
- Bhadra, A. (2015). A study of approaches to make sales compensation a powerful tool for driving sales performance. Asia Pacific Journal of Management & Entrepreneurship Research, 4(1), 19-31. Retrieved from www.apjmer.org/
- Bhatnagar, J. (2013). Mediator analysis in the management of innovation in Indian knowledge workers: The role of perceived supervisor support, psychological contract, reward, and recognition and turnover intention. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 1(1), 1-24. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.870312.
- Bitektine, A. (2011). Toward a theory of social judgments of organizations: The case of legitimacy, reputation, and status. *Academy of Management Review*, *36*, 151-179. doi:10.5465/AMR.2011.55662572
- Bloomberg, L., & Volpe, M. (2012). *Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Boles, J. S., Dudley, G. W., Onyemah, V., Rouziès, D., & Weeks, W. A. (2012). Sales force turnover and retention: A research agenda. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 32, 131-140. doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320111

- Bosse, J. (2011). Preventing employee turnover. *Journal of Financial Planning*, 27(1). Retrieved from www.fpa.net
- Boyatzis, R. E., Good, D., & Massa, R. (2012). Emotional, social, and cognitive intelligence and personality as predictors of sales leadership performance. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 19, 191-201
 doi:10.1177/1548051811435793
- Bratianu, C. (2011). The role of transformational leadership in mergers and acquisitions in emergent economies. *Management & Marketing Challenges for the Knowledge Society.* 6, 319-326. Retrieved from http://www.managementmarketing.com
- Bryson, A., & MacKeron, G. (2013). Are you happy while you work? *Centre for Economic Performance*. Retrieved from http://cep.lse.ac.uk
- Buble, M., Juras, A., & Matic, I. (2014). The relationship between managers' leadership styles and motivation. *Management: Journal of Contemporary Management Issues, 19*, 161-193. Retrieved from http://hrcak.srce.hr
- Bushra, F., Usman, A., & Naveed, A. (2011). Effect of transformational leadership on employees' job satisfaction and organizational commitment in banking sector of Lahore (Pakistan). *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2, 261-267. Retrieved from www.ijbssnet.com
- Butvilas, T., & Zygmantas, J. (2011). An ethnographic case study in educational research. *Vilnius University*. Retrieved from http://www.academia.edu
- Campbell, J. (2012, June 21). Looming agent retirements: Carriers face major turnover. *Insurance Journal*. Retrieved from www.insurancejournal.com

- Carlson, M. A., Shanock, L. R., Heggestad, E. D., Andrew, A. M., Pugh, S. D., & Walter, M. (2012). The relationship between dysfunctional interpersonal tendencies, derailment potential behavior, and turnover. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 27, 291-304. doi:10.1007/510869-011-9239-0
- Carpenter, M. A. (2011). *The handbook of research on top management teams*. Northhampton, MA: Edward Elgar Publishing, Inc.
- Chaffin, D. B., (2012). Facing the field: The role of the regional vice president in agencybuilding companies. *Life Insurance and Market Research Association (LIMRA)*.
 Retrieved from https://limra.com
- Chaudhry, A. Q., & Javed, H. (2012). Impact of transactional and laissez faire leadership style on motivation. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 258-264. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com
- Chen, M., Lin, C., & Lien, G. (2014). Modelling job stress as a mediating role in predicting turnover intention. *The Service Industries Journal*, 31, 1327-1345. doi:101080/02642060903437543
- Chen, G., Ployhart, R. E., Thomas, H., Anderson, N., & Bliese, P. D. (2011). The power of momentum: A new model of dynamic relationships between job satisfaction change and turnover intentions. *Academy of Management Journal*, 54, 159-181. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2011.59215089
- Chenail, R. J. (2011). Ten steps for conceptualizing and conducting qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 16*, 1713-1730. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR

- Chiaburu, D. S., Oh, I. S., Berry, C. M., Li, N., & Gardner, R. G. (2011). The five-factor model of personality traits and organizational citizenship behaviors: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96, 1140-1166. doi:10.1037/a0024004
- Chiang, C. F., & Hsieh, T. S. (2012). The impacts of perceived organizational support and psychological empowerment on job performance: The mediating effects of organizational citizenship behavior. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 31*, 180-190. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2011.04.011
- Close, S., Smaldone, A., Fennoy, I., Reame, N., and Grey, M. (2013). Using information technology and social networking for recruitment of research participants:
 Experience from an exploratory study of pediatric Klinefelter Syndrome. *Journal of Medical Research*, 15, 48. doi:10.2196/jmir.2286
- Cozby, P. C., & Bates, S. C. (2011). *Methods in behavioral research*, (11th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Crowhurst, I. (2015). The fallacy of the instrumental gate? Contextualising the process of gaining access through gatekeepers. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 16, 463-475. doi:10.1080/13645579.2013.823282
- Cuyper, N. D., Mauno, S., Kinnunen, U., & Makikangan, A. (2011). The role of job resources in the relation between perceived employability and turnover intention:
 A prospective two-sample study. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 78, 253-263. doi:10.1016/j.jvb2010.09.008

- Davidson, J., & Jacobs, C., (2008). The implications of qualitative research software for doctoral work: Considering the individual and institutional context. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 8(2), 72-80. doi:10.3316/QRJ0802072
- Davieson, A. (2011). Salespeople's voluntary turnover in the automobile retail industry:
 A phenomenological research study (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from
 Proquest Dissertations and Theses. (UMI:3507057)
- Dawley, D., Houghton, J. D., & Buckley, N. S. (2010). Perceived organizational support and turnover intention: The mediating effects of personal sacrifice and job fit. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 150, 238–257. doi:10.1080/00224540903365463
- Deconinck, J. B., & Bachmann, D. P. (2011). Organizational commitment and turnover intentions of marketing managers. *Journal of Applied Business Research*, 10(3), 87-95. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com
- Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation 2.0.. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 6(1), 80-88. doi:10.1177/1558689812437186
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). *The SAGE handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Dewettinck, K., & van Ameijde, M. (2011). Linking leadership empowerment behaviour to employee attitudes and behavioural intentions: Testing the mediating role of psychological empowerment. *Personnel Review*, 402, 284-305. doi:10.1108/00483481111118621

- Dike, D. W. (2012). Changes in the role of supervisors in managerial leadership theories:
 A historical perspective. *International Journal of Management*, 29, 189-194.
 Retrieved from www.internationaljournalofmanagement.co.uk
- Dimaculangan, Jr., E. D., & Aguiling, H. M. (2012). The effects of transformational leadership on salesperson's turnover intention. *International Journal of Business* and Social Science, 3, 197-210. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com
- Doan, Q.M., Rosenthal-Sabroux, C., & Grundstein, M. (2013). A reference model for knowledge retention within small and medium-sized enterprises. *Lamsade-CNRS*, *1*(1), 1-87. Retrieved from www.lamsade.dauphine.fr
- Du Plooy, J., & Roodt, G. (2013). Biographical and demographical variables as moderators in the prediction of turnover intentions. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology/SA, 39, 1070-1082. doi:104102/sajip.v39i1/1070
- Dysvik, A., & Kuvaas, B. (2010). Exploring the relative and combined influence of mastery-approach goals and work intrinsic motivation on employee turnover intention. *Personnel Review*, 39, 622-638. doi:10.1108/00483481011064172
- Evans, K. R., McFarland, R. G., Dietz, B., & Jaramillo, F. (2012). Advancing sales performance research: A focus on five underresearched topic areas. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, *32*(1), 89-105. doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320108
- Farahani, M., Taghadosi, M., & Behboudi, M. (2011). An exploration of the relationship between transformational leadership and organizational commitment: The

moderating effect of emotional intelligence. *International Business Research*, *4*, 211-217. doi:10.5539/ibr.v4n4p211

- Farndale, E., Van Ruiten, Kelliher, C., & Hope-Hailey, V. (2011). The influence of perceived employee voice on organizational commitment: An exchange perspective. *Human Resource Management*, 50(1), 113-129. doi:10.1002/hrm.20404
- Fiske, S. T., & Hauser, R. M. (2014). Protecting human research participants in the age of big data. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111, 13675–13676. doi:10.1073/pnas.1414626111

Fowers, B. J. (2012). Placing virtue and the human good in psychology. *Journal of Theoretical and Philosophical Psychology*, *32*(1), 1-9. doi:10.1037/a0025819

- Galletta, A. (2013). *Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond: From research design to analysis and publication*. New York, NY: New York University Press.
- Gangwar, S., Padmaja, K. V., & Bhar, S. (2013). Impact of behavioral style, self orientation and task orientation of leaders on employees' motivation. *International Journal on Global Business Management & Research*, 1(2), 57-66. Retrieved from www.gbmr.ioksp.com

Gardner, T. M., Wright, P. M., & Moynihan, L. M. (2011). The impact of motivation, empowerment, and skill-enhancing practices on aggregate voluntary turnover:
The mediating effect of collective affective commitment. *Personnel Psychology*, 64, 315-350. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2011.01212.x

Ghadi, M. Y., Fernando, M., & Caputi, P. (2013) Transformational leadership and work engagement: The mediating effect of meaning in work. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 34, 532 - 550. doi:10.1108/LODJ-10-2011-0110

Gillet, N., Gagné, M., Sauvagère, S., & Fouquereau, E. (2013). The role of supervisor autonomy support, organizational support, and autonomous and controlled motivation in predicting employees' satisfaction and turnover intentions. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 22, 450. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2012.665228

Glogowska, M., Young, P., & Lockyer, L. (2011). Propriety, process and purpose:
Considerations of the use of the telephone interview method in an educational research study. *Higher Education*, 62(1), 17-26. doi:10.1007/510734-0109362-2

Goldblatt, H., Karnieli-Miller, O., & Neumann, M. (2011). Sharing qualitative research findings with participants: Study experiences of methodological and ethical dilemmas. *Patient Education & Counseling*, 82, 389-395.
doi:10.1016/jpec.2012.12.016

- Gregory, B. T., Moates, K. N., & Gregory, S. T. (2011). An exploration of perspective taking as an antecedent of transformational leadership behavior. *Emerald Group Publishing Limited*, 32. doi:10.1108/01437731111183748
- Griffeth, R. W., & Hom, P. W. (1988). A comparison of different conceptualizations of perceived alternatives in turnover research. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 9(2), 103-111. doi:10.1002/job.4030090202

Groves, K., & Larocca, M. (2011). An empirical study of leader ethical values, transformational and transactional leadership, and follower attitudes toward corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 103, 511-528. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0877-y

Gruman, J. A., & Saks, A. M. (2011). Performance management and employee engagement. *Human Resource Management Review*, 21, 123-136. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2010.09.004

- Han, G., & Jekel, M. (2011). The mediating role of job satisfaction between leadermember exchange and turnover intentions. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 19(1), 41-49. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01184.x
- Hao, L., & Yusoff, Y. M. (2013). A longitudinal study of turnover satisfaction: The Sabah, Malaysia case. *The Macrotheme*, 2(1), 43-55. Retrieved from http://macrotheme.com
- Hargis, M., Watt, J., & Piotrowski, C. (2011). Developing leaders: Examining the role of transactional and transformational leadership across business contexts. *Organization Development Journal, 29*(3), 51-66. Retrieved from http://theisod.org
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy? *The Qualitative Report*, 17, 510-517. Retrieved from www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/

- Harper, D., Thompson, A. R., & Joffe, H. (2011). Thematic analysis, in qualitative research methods in mental health and psychotherapy: A guide for students and practitioners. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Harward, D., Taylor, K., & Hall, R. (2014). *What makes a great training organization?: A handbook of best practices.* Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Hassan, R., Fuwad, B., & Rauf, A. (2010). Pre-training motivation and the effectiveness of transformational leadership training: An experiment. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 9(2), 1-8. Retrieved from http://alliedacademies.org
- Hausknecht, J. P., & Holwerda, J. A. (2012). When does employee turnover matter?
 Dynamic member configurations, productive capacity, and collective performance. *Organization Science*, *24*, 210-225. doi:10.1287/orsc.1110.0720
- Hernes, H., & Braenden, L. K. (2012). Employees' reactions to imperfect managerial behaviors. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *3*, 181-189.
 Retrieved from www.ijbssnet.com
- Hetland, H., Hetland, J., Andreassen, C. S., Pallesen, S., & Notelaers, G. (2011).
 Leadership and fulfillment of the three basic psychological needs at work. *Career Development Journal*, *16*, 507-523. doi:10.1108/13020431111168903
- Honan, M. S. (2013). 2012 agent production and retention. *Life Insurance and Market Research Association (LIMRA)*. Retrieved from http://limra.com
- Hoon, C. (2013). Meta-synthesis of qualitative case studies: An approach to theory building. *Organizational Research Methods*, *16*, 522-556.
 doi:10.1177/1094428113484969

- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-17.
 doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Houkes, I., Janssen, de Jonge, J., & Bakker, A. B. (2014). Specific determinants of intrinsic work motivation, emotional exhaustion and turnover intention: A multisample longitudinal study. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 76, 427–450. doi:10.1348/096317903322591578
- Hunter, M. (2012). How motivation really works: Towards an emoto-motivation paradigm. *Economics, Management and Financial Markets*, 7, 138-196.
 Retrieved from www.addletonacademicpublishers.com
- International Risk Management Institute. (2014). *Glossary of insurance and risk management terms*. Retrieved from http://www.irmi.com
- Inyang, B. J. (2013). Exploring the concept of leadership derailment: Defining new research agenda. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 78-85. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n.16p78
- Jackson, T. A., Meyer, J. P., & Wang, X. H. (2012). Leadership, commitment, and culture: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 20(1), 84-106. doi:10.1177/154851812466919
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(1), 1-10. Retrieved from www.nova.edu

- Jacobs, E. (2012). Examining the relationship between turnover, average tenure, HR Investments. *Society for Human Resource Management (SHRM)*. Retrieved from www.shrm.org
- Jantan, M. A., & Honeycutt, E. D. (2013). Current sales training practices in the commercial retail banking industry in Malaysia. *Services Marketing Quarterly*, 34(1). doi:10.1080/15332969.2013.739876
- Joffe, H. (2011) Thematic Analysis, in Qualitative Research Methods in Mental Health and Psychotherapy: A Guide for Students and Practitioners. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. doi:10.1002/9781119973249.ch15
- Kazi, G. M., Aziz, S. A., & Zadeh, Z. F. (2012). The contribution of organizational variables and its impact on job turnover and job satisfaction of employees. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business, 3*, 1067-1073.
 Retrieved from http://ijcrb.webs.com

Khanna, P. (2014). Recruitment & selection: A need of the hour for organizational success. IRACST-International Journal of Research in Management & Technology (IJRMT), 4(3). Retrieved from www.iracst.org/ijrmt/papers/vol4no32014/2vol4no3.pdf

Kisely, S., & Kendall, E. (2011). Critically appraising qualitative research: A guide for clinicians more familiar with quantitative techniques. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 19, 364–367. doi:10.3109/10398562.2011.562508

- Kishore, S., Singh Rao, R., Narasimhan, O., & John, G. (2013). Bonuses versus commissions: A field study. *American Marketing Association*, 50, 317-333. doi:10.1509/jmr.11.0485
- Knoblauch, H. (2013). Qualitative methods at the crossroads: Recent developments in the interpretive social research. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 14*. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net
- Kottke, J. L., & Pelletier, K. L. (2013). Measuring and differentiating perceptions of supervisor and top leader ethics. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *113*, 415-428. doi:10.1108/LODJ-07-201-0062
- Küster, I., & Canales, P. (2011). Compensation and control sales policies, and sales performance: The field sales manager's points of view. *The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 26, 273-285. doi:10.1108/08858621111127018
- Kraimer, M. L., Seibert, S. E., Wayne, S. J., Liden, R. C., & Bravo, J. (2011).
 Antecedents and outcomes of organizational support for development: The critical role of career opportunities. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *96*, 485-500.
 doi:10.1037/a0021452
- Laddha, A., Singh, R., Gabbad, H., & Gidwani, G. D. (2012). Employee retention: An art to reduce turnover. *International Journal of Management Research and Reviews*, 2, 453-458. Retrieved from www.ijmrr.com
- Lahey, K. E., & Quist-Newins, M. (2011). Do commissions level the playing field for female producers in the financial services industry? *Financial Services Review*, 20(3), 217-236. Retrieved from gozips.uakron.edu

- Larkin, I. Pierce, L., & Gino, F. (2012). The psychological costs of pay-for-performance: Implications for the strategic compensation of employees. *Strategic Management Journal*, 33: 1194-1214. doi:10.1002/smj.1974
- Lassak, F. G., Ingram, T. N., Kraus, F., & Di Mascio, R. (2012). The future of sales training: Challenges and related research questions. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 32(1). doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320112
- Lee, P., Cheng, E., Yeung, A., & Lai, K. (2011). An empirical study of transformational leadership, team performance and service quality in retail banks. *Omego*, *39*, 690-701. doi:10.1016/j.omega.2011.02.001
- Liang, T., Chan, L., Lin, C., & Huang, W. (2011). Relationship between leadership behaviors and task performance: The mediation role of job satisfaction and the moderation role of social distance. *African Journal of Business Management, 5*, 5920-5928. Retrieved from http://www.academicjournals.org/ajbm
- Lobburi, P. (2012). The influence of organizational and social support on turnover intention in collective contexts. *The Journal of Applied Business Research*, 28(1), 93-104. Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com
- Long, C. S., Ajagbe, M. A., Nor, K. M., & Suleiman, E. S. (2012). The approaches to increase employees' loyalty: A review on employees' turnover models. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, 6, 282-291. Retrieved from eprints.covenantuniversity.edu

- Long, C. S., Yusof, W. M. M., Kowang, T. O., & Heng, L. H. (2014). The impact of transformational leadership style on job satisfaction. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 29, 117-124. doi:10.5829/idosi.wasj.2014.29.01.1521
- Lugonja, D. (2011). Selection of candidates as a function of human resources management in the company. Munich, Germany: GRIN Publishing.
- Lunenburg, F. C. (2011). Motivating by enriching jobs to make them more interesting and challenging. *International Journal of Management, Business, and Administration, 15*(1), 1-11. Retrieved from http://ijmas.org
- Lyus, D., Rogers, B., & Simms, C. (2011). The role of sales and marketing integration in improving strategic responsiveness to market change. *Journal of Database Marketing & Customer Strategy Management, 18*(1), 39-49. doi:10.1057/dbm.2011.5
- Mackey, A., & Gass, S. M. (2011). *Research methods in second language acquisition: A practical guide*. West Sussex, UK: John Wiley and Sons.
- Madhani, P. M. (2013). Managing sales compensation: A sales force configuration approach. *Compensation & Benefits Review*, 45(2), 105-114.
 doi:10.1177/0886368713490639
- Magnusson, P., Peterson, R., & Westjohn, S. A. (2014). The influence of national cultural values on the use of rewards alignment to improve sales collaboration.
 International Marketing Review, *31*(1), 30-50. doi:10.1108/IMR-09-2012-0151

- Malik, T. (2013). Positive effects of opinion-count on job satisfaction of team members in business enterprises. *Journal of Communication Management*, *17*(1), 56-74. doi:10.1108/13632541311300151
- Mancheno-Smoak, L., Endres, G. M., Potak, R., & Athansaw, Y. (2009). The individual cultural values and job satisfaction of the transformational leader. *Organization Development Journal*, 27(3), 9-22. Retrieved from www.isodc.org
- March, J. G., & Simon, H. A. (1958). *Organizations*. West Sussex, UK: John Wiley and Sons.
- Marschke, E., Preziosi, R., & Harrington, W. J. (2011). How sales personnel view the relationship between job satisfaction and spirituality in the workplace. *Journal of Organizational Culture*, 15(2), 71-110. doi:10.1177/097168581001600203
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2011). *Designing qualitative research* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Martin, C. E., & Meyer, W. J. H. (2012). Organizational and behavioral factors that influence knowledge retention. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 16, 77-96. doi:10.1108/13673271211198954
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach*. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications.
- Mayer, K. (2013). Nearly half of brokers ready to exit. *BenefitsPro*. Retrieved from www.benefitspro.com

- Mendes, F., & Stander, M. (2011). Positive organisation: The role of leader behaviour in work engagement and retention. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, North America, 37(1), 1-13. doi:10.4102/sajip.v37i1.900doi:
- Messah, O. B., & Kubai, P. K. (2011). Factors influencing agents retention in insurance industry: A survey of selected insurance companies in Nairobi (Kenya). *Journal* of Economics and Sustainable Development, 2(3), 94-110. Retrieved from http://iiste.org
- Miao, C. F., Evans, K. R., and Shaoming, Z (2009). The role of salesperson motivation in sales control systems: Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation revisited. *Journal of Business Research*, 60, 417-425. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.12.005
- Mishra, M. K. (2014). Managing your sales force: A motivational approach. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 21(2), 171-174. Retrieved from http://sajm-amdisa.org
- Moberg, C. R., & Leasher, M. (2011). Examining the differences in salesperson motivation among different cultures. *American Journal of Business*, 26, 145-160. doi:10.1108/19355181111174525
- Mobley, W. H. (1977). Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62, 237-240. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.62.2.237
- Mosley, D., & Patrick, D. (2011). Leadership and followership: The dynamic process of building high performance cultures. *Organization Development Journal*, 29(2), 85-100. Retrieved from www.isodc.org

- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publishing.
- Mulki, J. P., Caemmerer, B., & Heggde, G. S. (2015). Leadership style, salesperson's work effort and job performance: The influence of power distance. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 35(1), 3-22.
 doi:10.1080/08853134.2014.958157
- Mullins, R., & Syam, N. (2014). Manager-salesperson congruence in customer orientation and job outcomes: The bright and dark sides of leadership in aligning values. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 34*, 188-205. doi:10.1080/08853134.2014.890905
- Munir, R. I. S., Rahman, R. A., Malik, A. M. A., & Ma'Amor, H. (2012). Relationship between transformational leadership and employees' job satisfaction among the academic staff. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 65, 885-890. doi:10.1016.j.sbspro.2012.11.215
- Murphy, M. H., & Li, N. (2012). A multi-nation study of sales manager effectiveness with global implications. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 1, 1-12. doi:10.1016.indmarman.2012.06.012
- Mushtaq, N. (2012). Selecting a problem and preparing a research proposal: A process.
 Elixir Educational Technology, 51, 10892-10896. Retrieved from www.elixirpublishers.com

- Negi, G. (2013). Employee attrition: Inevitable yet manageable. *International Monthly Refereed Journal of Research in Management & Technology*, 2(1). Retrieved from www.abhinavjournal.com
- Nelson, J. A., & Daniels, M. K. (2014). Leadership, perceptions, and turnover intentions:
 Why stay? *Electronic Journal of Business Ethics and Organization Studies*, 19(1), 1-15. Retrieved from http://ejbo.jyu.fi
- Nunkoo, R., & Ramkissoon, H. (2012). Power, trust, social exchange and community support. *Annals of Tourism Research*, *39*, 997-1023.
 doi:10.1016/jannals.2011.11.017
- Oluwatayo, J. A. (2012). Validity and reliability issues in educational research. *Journal* of Educational and Social Research, 2, 391-400. doi:10.5901/jesr.2012.v2n2.391
- Palrecha, R, Spangler, W. D., & Yammarino, F. J. (2012). A comparative study of three leadership approaches in India. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 23, 146-163. Retrieved from www.theleadershipcircle.com
- Pathak, S., & Tripathi, V. (2010). Sales force turnover: An exploratory study of the Indian insurance sector. *Management*, 5(1), 3-19. Retrieved from www.fmkp.si/zalozba/ISSN/1854-4231/5_003-019.pdf
- Patton, C. L. (2011). Induction, deduction and cyclical movement: A review of qualitative research methods. *The Qualitative Report*, 16, 1421-1424. Retrieved from www.nova.edu/ssss/QR

- Paulsen, N., Maldonado, D., Callan, V. J., & Ayoko, O. (2009). Charismatic leadership, change and innovation in an R & D organization. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 22, 511-523. doi:10.1108/09534810910983479
- Pepe, M. (2010). The impact of extrinsic motivational dissatisfiers on employee level of job satisfaction and commitment resulting in the intent to turnover. *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, 8(9), 99-107. Retrieved from www.cluteinstitute.com
- Phani, T. A. (2010). Causes and consequences of high turnover by sales professionals. Journal of American Academy of Business: Cambridge, 10(1), 137-141. Retrieved from www.jaabc.com
- Plummer, D., & Simpson, J. E. (2014). *SAGE Research Methods Cases*. London, UK: SAGE Publications.
- Poloski Vokic, N. (2011). *The relationship between the level and modality of HRM metrics, quality of HRM practice and organizational performance* [Conference notes]. Retrieved from http://web.efzg.hr
- Potter, A. (2013). U.S. Group Disability Insurance Survey. *Life Insurance and Market Research Association (LIMRA)*. Retrieved from http://limra.com

Pradeep, D. D., & Prabhu, N. R. V., (2011). The relationship between effective leadership and employee performance. *International Conference on Advancements in Information Technology*, 20, 198-207. Retrieved from www.ipcsit.com

- Pryor, M. G., Humphreys, J. H., Taneja, S., & Toombs, L. A. (2011). Where are the new organization theories? Evolution, development and theoretical debate. *International Journal of Management*, 28, 959-978. Retrieved from www.internationaljournalofmanagement.co.uk
- Raina, R. & Roebuck, D. B. (2016). Exploring cultural influence on managerial communication in relationship to job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and the employees' propensity to leave in the insurance sector of India. *International Journal of Business Communication*, *53*(1), 97-130. doi:10.1177/2329488414525453
- Reed, M. (2014). Using psychometric assessments over the lifespan of an employee. *Strategic HR Review*, *13*(2). doi:10.1108/SHR-10-2013-0095
- Rizwan, M., & Mukhtar, A. (2014). Preceding to employee satisfaction and turnover intention. *International Journal of Human Resource Studies*, 4(3), 87-106. doi:10.5296/ijhrs.v4i3.5876
- Romzek, B. S. (2012). Employee investment and commitment: The ties that bind. *Science*, *335*, 634–634. doi:10.1126/science.335.6069.634-b
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35, 260-271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154
- Sadri, G., Weber, T. J., & Gentry, W. A. (2011). Empathetic emotion and leadership performance: An empirical analysis across 38 countries. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 22, 818-830. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.07.005

- Saeed, R., Nayyab, H. H., Lodhi, R. N., Baquir, R., Rehman, M. A., & Mussawar, S. (2013). Impact of retention factors on organizational commitment in general education division of Pakistan. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research*, 17, 539-545. doi:10.5829/idosi/mejsr.2013.17.04.12204
- Sager, J. K., Dubinsky, A. J., Wilson, P. H., & Shao, C. (2014). Factors influencing the impact of sales training: Test of a model. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 6(1). doi:10.5539/ijms.v6n1p1
- Sajjad, A., Ghazanfar, H., & Ramzan, M. (2013). Impact of motivation on employee turnover in telecom sector of Pakistan. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 5(1). Retrieved from http://jbsq.org
- Schneider, A., & Schroder, T. (2012). Ideal types of leadership as patterns of affective meaning: A cross cultural and over-time perspective. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 75, 268-287. doi:10.1177/0190272512446755
- Schwepker, C. H. (2015). Influencing the salesforce through perceived ethical leadership: the role of salesforce socialization and person-organization fit on salesperson ethics and performance. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 35*, 292-313. doi:10.1080/08853134.2015.1106769

Schwepker, C. H., & Good, D. J. (2012). Sales quotas: Unintended consequences on trust in organization, customer-oriented selling, and sales performance. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 20, 437-452.
 doi:10.2753.MTP1069-6679200406

- Seidman, I. (2013). Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Shah, T. A., Nisar, M., Rehman, K., & Rehman, I. (2011). Influence of transformational leadership on employees outcomes: Mediating role of empowerment. *African Journal of Business Management*, 5, 8558-8566. doi:10.5897/AJBM11.1022
- Shashikala, S., & Sushma, R. (2013). A study on causes & control techniques for attrition rate in Indian industry. *Asia Pacific Journal of Research*, 2(4). Retrieved from apjor.com
- Shaw, J. D. (2012). Turnover rates and organizational performance: Review, critique, and research agenda. Organizational Psychology Review, 1, 187-213. doi:10.1177/2041386610382152
- Shepherd, C. D., Gordon, G. L., Ridnour, R. E., Weilbaker, D. C., & Lambert, B. (2011). Sales manager training practices in small and large firms. *American Journal of Business*, 26(2), 92-117. doi:10.1108/19355181111174499
- Skipton Leonard, H., Lewis, R., Freedman, A. M., & Passmore, J. (2013). The Wiley-Blackwell handbook of the psychology of leadership, change and organizational development. West Sussex, UK: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Sinkovics, R. R., & Alfoldi, E. A. (2012). Progressive focusing and trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Management International Review*, 52, 817-845. doi:10.1007/s11575-012-0140-5

- Smith, B. (2011). Who shall lead us? How cultural values and ethical ideologies guide young marketers' evaluations of the transformational manager-leader. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 100, 633-645. doi:10.1007/s10551-010-0701-0
- Sohoni, M. G., Chopra, S., Mohan, U., & Sendil, N. (2011). Threshold incentives and sales variance. *Production and Operations Management*, 20, 571-586. doi:10.1111/J.1937-5956.2010.01164.x
- Stake, R. E. (2013). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Stangor, C. (2014). *Research methods for the behavioral sciences*. Mason, OH: Cengage Learning.
- Stanley, S. A. (2011). A correlational study examining the relationship between social responsibility and financial performance (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI:3453666)
- Street, C. T., & Ward, K. W. (2012). Improving validity and reliability in longitudinal case study timelines. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 21, 160-175. doi:10/1075/ejis.2011.53
- Sturman, M. C., Shao, L., & Katz, J. H. (2012). The effect of culture on the curvilinear relationship between performance and turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97(1), 46-62. doi:10.1037/a0024868
- Subramony, M., & Holtom, B. C. (2012). The long-term influence of service employee attrition on customer outcomes and profits. *Journal of Service Research*, 1-14. doi:10.1177/1094670512452792

- Swider, B. W., Boswell, W. R., & Zimmerman, R. D. (2011). Examining the job searchturnover relationship: The role of embeddedness, job satisfaction, and available alternatives. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96, 432-441. doi:1.1037/a0021676
- Symon, G., & Cassell, C. (2012). Qualitative organizational research: Core methods and current challenges. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Tekleab, A. G., & Chiaburu, D. S. (2011). Social exchange: Empirical examination of form and focus. *Journal of Business Research*, 64, 460-466. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2010.03.005

Tharmin, H. M. (2012). The influence of transformational leadership and organizational commitment on job satisfaction and employee performance. *International Journal of Innovation Management and Technology*, *3*, 566-572. doi:;10.7763.IJIMT.2012.V3.299

- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, 16, 151-155. doi:10.111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x.
- Torrance, H. (2013). Research in assessment: A response to Caroline Gipps. *British Educational Research Journal, 18*, 343-349. doi:10.1080/0141192920180402
- Trese, H. (2011, January 01). Where have all the agents gone? *Life Health Pro*. Retrieved from www.lifehealthpro.com
- Trotter II, R. T. (2012). Qualitative research sample design and sample size: Resolving and unresolved issues and inferential imperatives. *Preventive Medicine*, 55, 398– 400. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.07.003

- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work, 11*(1), 80-96. doi:10.1177/1473325010368316
- Tuna, M., Ghazzawi, I., Tuna, A. A., & Catir, O. (2011). Transformational leadership and organizational commitment: The case of Turkey's hospitality industry. SAM Advanced Management Journal, 76, 10. Retrieved from http://cob.tamucc.edu
- Turner, J. H. (2012). Theoretical principles of sociology, Volume 3: Mesodynamics. New York, NY: Springer.
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2014). *Labor Force Statistics*. Retrieved from www.bls.gov
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979, April). Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. *Human Subjects Research (45 CFR 46). The Belmont Report.* Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 15, 398-405. doi:10.1111/nhs.12048
- Valentine, S., Godkin, L., Fleischman, G. M., & Kidwell, R. (2011). Corporate ethical values, group creativity, job satisfaction and turnover intention: The impact of work context on work response. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *98*, 353-372. doi:10.1007/s10551-010-0554-6
- Verbeke, W., Dietz, B., & Verwaal, E. (2011). Drivers of sales performance: A contemporary meta-analysis. Have salespeople become knowledge brokers?

Academy of Marketing Science Journal, 39, 407-428.

doi:10.1007/s1174701002118

Von Hagel, Jr., W. J., & Miller, L. A. (2011). Precipitating events leading to voluntary employee turnover among information technology professionals. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 5(2), 14-33. doi:10/1002/jls.20215

Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and motivation. Oxford, England: Wiley.

- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10(2), 69-80. Retrieved from cmawebline.org
- Waldman, D. A., Carter, M. Z., & Hom, P. (2012). A multi-level investigation of leadership and turnover behavior. *Journal of Management*, 1, 1-21. Retrieved from http://jom.sagepub.com
- Walumbwa, F. O., Cropanzano, R., & Goldman, B. M. (2011). How leader-member exchange influences effective work behaviors: Social exchange and internalexternal efficacy perspectives. *Personnel Psychology*, 64, 739-770. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2011.01224.x
- WeiBo, Z., Kaur, S., & Zhi, T. (2010). A critical review of employee turnover model
 (1938 2009) and development in perspective of performance. *African Journal of Business Management*, 4, 4146-4158. Retrieved from
 http://academicjournals.org/ajbm

Williams, M. J. (2014). Serving the self from the seat of power goals and threats predict leaders' self-interested behavior. *Journal of Management*, 40, 1365-1395. doi:10.1177/0149206314525203

Yean, T. F., & Yahya, K. K. (2013). The influence of human resource management practices and career strategy on career satisfaction of insurance agents. *International Journal of Business and Society*, 14, 193-206. Retrieved from http://www.ijbs.unimas.my

- Yin, R. K. (5th ed.). (2014). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Yücel, I. (2012). Examining the relationships among job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and turnover intention: An empirical study. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 7(20), 44-58. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v7n20p44
- Yung, C. T., & Tsai, K. C. (2013). Followership: An important partner of leadership.Business and Management Horizons, 1(2), 47-55. doi:10.5296/bmh.v1i2.4233
- Zacher, H., & Jimmieson, N. L. (2012). Leader-follower interactions: Relations with
 OCB and sales productivity. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 28(1), 92-106.
 doi:10.1108/02683941311298887
- Zhang, M., Fried, D. D., & Griffeth, R. W. (2012). A review of job embeddedness: Conceptual, measurement issues, and directions for future research. *Human Resource Management Review*, 22, 220-231. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2012.02.004
- Zhu, W., Sosik, J. J., Riggio, R. E., & Yang, B. (2012). Relationships between transformational and active transactional leadership and followers' organizational

identification: The role of psychological empowerment. *Institute of Behavioral* and Applied Management, 13, 186-212. Retrieved from www.ibam.com

Appendix A: Interview Questions

I will use the following focused interview questions in the interview process:

Insurance Sales Leader Participant Interview Questions

- 1. What is the state of sales personnel attrition within your organization?
- 2. What attributes affect attrition of sales personnel within your organization?
- 3. What strategies do you employ to reduce attrition?
- 4. What is your perspective on the strategies applied in your company to reduce attrition?
- 5. What strategies do you employ to increase employee engagement?
- 6. What is your perspective on the effect motivation has on sales personnel attrition in your organization?
- 7. What strategies do you employ to increase the motivation of sales personnel within your organization?

Appendix B: Letter of Cooperation

Letter of Cooperation from a Research Partner

Research Partner Name Contact Information

Date

Dear Nicole L. Hawkins,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled <u>Leader Strategies to Reduce Sales Personnel Attrition</u> within the <u>Insert</u> <u>Name of Community Partner</u>. As part of this study, I authorize you to contact sales leaders and sales representatives for participation in the study. Additionally, you are authorized to collect participant viewpoints through the described interview process. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion. You are authorized to collect relevant documentation that may benefit the study such as: brochures, weblinks, and/or memos.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: allowing access to personnel willing to participate in the interview process and providing a room for interviews if needed. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Sincerely, <u>Authorization Official</u> <u>Contact Information</u>

If ink signatures are obtained, the signed letters can be e-mailed as attachments to irb@waldenu.edu or faxed to 626-605-0472. Electronic signatures are also acceptable, however if used it is required that the signer of the form either e-mail it directly to irb@waldenu.edu or be cc-ed upon the submission so the e-signature can be verified.

Walden University policy on electronic signatures: An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically. Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions

Act. Electronic signatures are only valid when the signer is either (a) the sender of the e-mail, or (b) copied on the e-mail containing the signed document. Legally an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their e-mail address, or any other identifying marker. Walden University staff verify any electronic signatures that do not originate from a password-protected source (i.e., an e-mail address officially on file with Walden).

Appendix C: Consent Form – Sales Leaders

Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study to explore what strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. The researcher is inviting sales leaders employed in the insurance industry and who have experience with this phenomena to be in the study. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part. Sales leaders must meet the following criteria to participate in the proposed study: (a) manage an insurance sales office or organization or (b) held an insurance sales leadership position for at least 1 year and (c) are actively employed in the insurance industry. This study is being conducted by a researcher named Nicole L. Hawkins, who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to understand your experiences with sales personnel attrition and strategies to reduce attrition of sales personnel.

Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

- Participate in a 45 minute interview of 7 questions regarding your experiences.
- Consent to a recording of the session for transcription purposes only.
- Share any relevant documentation that may benefit the researcher with this study such as: brochures, weblinks, and/or memos.

164

• Review the interview summary for accuracy and report back any discrepancies.

Here are some sample questions:

- 1. What is your perspective on the strategies applied in your company to reduce attrition?
- 2. What is your perspective on the effect motivation has on sales personnel attrition in your organization?
- 3. What strategies do you employ to increase the motivation of sales personnel within your organization?

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you choose to be in the study. No one will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind during or after the study. You may stop at any time.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts can be encountered in daily life, such as stress or becoming angry. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

Being a participant in the study greatly contributes to the understanding of sales leadership within the insurance industry and the strategies applied to reduce the attrition of sales personnel. Your participation can help determine causes of attrition as well as potential remedies to attrition issues of sales personnel in the insurance industry.

Payment:

There is no payment for this study.

Privacy:

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. Data will be kept secure by maintaining study information in a locked cabinet and in a secured password protected software program until the point of expiration. At the point of expiration, the data will be destroyed with a confidential shredder. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university. If at any point in the study, you disclose to any illegal activity, I have a legal obligation to report this illegal activity to the organization and proper authorities.

Contacts and Questions:

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via 402-802-5706 or Nicole.lea.hawkins@gmail.com. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University representative who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 1-800-925-3368, extension 3121210. Walden University's approval number for this study is IRB Approval # 05-21-15-0177883 and it expires on May 20, 2016. Please print or save this consent form for your records.

Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information and I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement. By <u>replying to this e-mail with the words, "I Consent"</u>, I understand I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Appendix D: Consent Form – Sales Representative

Consent Form

You are invited to take part in a research study to explore what strategies can sales leaders within the insurance industry use to reduce attrition. The researcher is inviting sales representatives employed in the insurance industry and who have experience with this phenomena to be in the study. This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding whether to take part. Sales representatives must meet the following criteria to participate: (a) actively sell insurance, (b) have at least 1 year of experience in the insurance industry, and (c) are employed by an insurance organization.

This study is being conducted by a researcher named Nicole L. Hawkins, who is a doctoral student at Walden University.

Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to understand your experiences with sales personnel attrition and strategies to reduce attrition of sales personnel.

Procedures:

If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to:

- Participate in a 45 minute focus group of 7 questions regarding your experiences.
- Consent to a recording of the session for transcription purposes only.
- Share any relevant documentation that may benefit the researcher with this study such as: brochures, weblinks, and/or memos.
- Review the interview summary for accuracy and report back any discrepancies.

Here are some sample questions:

- 1. What attributes affect attrition of sales personnel?
- 2. What strategies do leaders employ to reduce attrition?
- 3. What is your perspective on the strategies leadership applies in your company to reduce attrition?

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

This study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you choose to be in the study. No one will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. If you decide to join the study now, you can still change your mind during or after the study. You may stop at any time.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts can be encountered in daily life, such as stress or becoming angry. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

Being a participant in the study greatly contributes to the understanding of sales leadership within the insurance industry and the strategies applied to reduce the attrition of sales personnel. Your participation can help determine causes of attrition as well as potential remedies to attrition issues of sales personnel in the insurance industry.

Payment:

There is no payment for this study.

Privacy:

Any information you provide will be kept confidential. The researcher will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. As this is a focus group, you will be participating with other members and your discretion is required. Participant names will not be used during the focus group and I request you maintain confidentiality of the information discussed within the focus group. Also, the researcher will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. Data will be kept secure by maintaining study information in a locked cabinet and in a secured password protected software program until the point of expiration. At the point of expiration, the data will be destroyed with a confidential shredder. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university. If at any point in the study, you disclose to any illegal activity, I have a legal obligation to report this illegal activity to the organization and proper authorities.

Contacts and Questions:

You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact the researcher via 402-802-5706 or Nicole.lea.hawkins@gmail.com. If you want to talk privately about your rights as a participant, you can call Dr. Leilani Endicott. She is the Walden University representative who can discuss this with you. Her phone number is 1-800-925-3368, extension 3121210. Walden University's approval number for this study is IRB Approval # 05-21-15-0177883 and it expires on May 20, 2016. Please print or save this consent form for your records.

Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information and I feel I understand the study well enough to make a decision about my involvement. By <u>replying to this e-mail with the words, "I Consent"</u>, I understand I am agreeing to the terms described above.

Appendix E: Confidentiality Agreement

Confidentiality Agreement

Name of Signer:

During the course of my activity in collecting data for this research: Leader Strategies to Reduce Sales Personnel Attrition. I will have access to information that is confidential and should not be disclosed. I acknowledge the information is to remain confidential, and improper disclosure of confidential information can be damaging to the participant. By signing this Confidentiality Agreement I acknowledge and agree:

- I will not disclose or discuss any confidential information with others, including friends or family.
- 2. I will not in any way divulge, copy, release, sell, loan, alter or destroy any confidential information except as properly authorized.
- I will not discuss confidential information where others can overhear the conversation. I understand it is not acceptable to discuss confidential information even if the participant's name is not used.
- 4. I will not make any unauthorized transmissions, inquiries, modification or purging of confidential information.
- 5. I agree my obligations under this agreement will continue after termination of the job I will perform.
- 6. I understand violation of this agreement will have legal implications.

 I will only access or use systems or devices I'm officially authorized to access and I will not demonstrate the operation or function of systems or devices to unauthorized individuals.

Signing this document, I acknowledge I have read the agreement and I agree to comply with the terms and conditions stated above.

Signature:

Date:

Appendix F: Focus Group Questions

I will use the following focused interview questions in the focus group with insurance sales personnel:

Insurance Sales Representative Focus Group Questions

- 4. What is your perspective on attrition of sales personnel in the industry?
- 5. What attributes affect attrition of sales personnel?
- 6. What strategies do leaders employ to reduce attrition?
- 7. What is your perspective on the strategies leadership applies in your company to reduce attrition?
- 8. What is your perspective on the effect motivation has on sales personnel attrition?
- 9. What strategies do leaders employ to increase sales personnel motivation?
- 10. What else regarding sales representative attrition can you add to this study?